

Haining, Hayley (2004) *Studies of the pathogenesis of feline immunodeficiency virus.* PhD thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/5512/

Copyright and moral rights for this thesis are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the Author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the Author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Glasgow Theses Service http://theses.gla.ac.uk/ theses@gla.ac.uk

STUDIES OF THE PATHOGENESIS OF FELINE IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS

HAYLEY HAINING, BVMS, MVM

For the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW

Department of Veterinary Pathology

June 2004

© Hayley Haining, 2004

Abstract

Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) is a significant worldwide pathogen of the domestic cat. The disease is characterised by early acute phase pyrexia 6-8 weeks post infection, followed by an indefinite period of asymptomatic infection, which in many infected cats is followed by progression to the immunodeficiency phase. The primary target of FIV is the CD4⁺ T lymphocyte with depletion of this population characterising progression to the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome like (AIDS-like) stage. To date, only limited success has been achieved in the development of an effective vaccine, most success occurring with laboratory-adapted isolates such as FIV-Petaluma (FIV-PET), whereas primary isolates such as FIV-Glasgow8 (FIV-GL8) resist vaccine-induced protection. Indeed, due to their ability to induce higher proviral DNA loads, higher viral RNA loads, inversion of the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio and this resistance to vaccine protection has led to the hypothesis that these isolates are more pathogenic. FIV, like HIV-1, uses the chemokine CXCR4 as a coreceptor for infection of cells in vitro and studies using the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 have demonstrated that laboratory-adapted isolates have a greater affinity for CXCR4 than primary isolates. However, it is unknown whether FIV, like HIV-1, changes phenotype and undergoes receptor switching as disease progresses.

These findings call into question the relevance of these laboratory-adapted isolates to vaccine development. The virulence and phenotype of field isolates is poorly documented and it is unclear whether isolates fall into two specific groups typified by the prototype viruses FIV-GL8 and FIV-PET or whether a range of biological phenotypes exist. Furthermore, it was unknown whether receptor usage and cell tropism *in vitro* could be correlated with virulence *in vivo*.

The project had three aims, namely-

- (i) to investigate the *in vitro* cell tropism of a range of field isolates from cats at different stages of disease and compare their phenotype with the well-characterised prototype viruses FIV-PET and FIV-GL8.
- (ii) to study the pathogenicity of these viruses *in vivo* in order to examine any correlation between virulence *in vivo* and tropism *in vitro*.
- (iii) to look at the role of the *env* gene in the pathogenicity of FIV.

In vitro studies of cell tropism revealed that isolates from cats in the terminal stage of disease had a greater ability to utilise CXCR4 than isolates from cats displaying no clinical signs. *In vivo*, these symptomatic isolates, with greater CXCR4-tropism *in vitro*, displayed less virulence when compared with isolates from asymptomatic cats.

Chimaeras were made by inserting the *env* genes of an isolate from the asymptomatic or terminal disease stages into a FIV-G8Mya backbone, allowing comparison of the cell tropism and receptor usage of these genes and the study of their phenotype with regard to virulence *in vivo*. The *env* genes from FIV-PET and the symptomatic isolate (F0827H_s) had a greater affinity to utilise CXCR4 for cell entry *in vitro* and this correlated with reduced virulence *in vivo* when compared to the asymptomatic isolate *env* and FIV-G8Mya.

These studies highlight a trend where tropism *in vitro* can be correlated with virulence *in vivo*. Furthermore, the study indicated that viruses from asymptomatic cats (with a lesser ability to utilise CXCR4) have increased virulence. As these are the agents most likely to be transmitted in the field by the apparently healthy cat, vaccine development should focus on this population of viruses.

Table of Contents

Abstracti
Table of Contents ii
List of Tables vi
List of Figuresvii
Acknowledgements ix
Author's Declarationx
Dedicationxi
Definitionsxii
Chapter One1
INTRODUCTION1
1.1. The discovery of feline immunodeficiency virus
1.2. The retroviruses1
1.3. Evolution and the phylogenetic analysis of FIV4
1.4. Natural infection4
1.5. Immunodeficiency5
1.6. Clinical signs of FIV in experimental infection5
1.7. The clinical staging for FIV6
1.8. Tropism <i>in vivo</i> 7
1.9. Tropism <i>in vitro</i>
1.10. FIV infection of human cell lines9
1.11. Cell Receptors
1.11.1. The CD4 molecule
1.11.2. The chemokine receptor CXCR413
1.11.3. Involvement of another (co)receptor
1.12. Immunopathogenesis15
1.12.1. The lymphocyte subpopulations15
1.12.2. The cell mediated immune response
1.12.3. The humoral immune response16
1.13. Vaccination
1.13.1. Early vaccines17
1.13.2. Subunit vaccines 17
1.13.3. DNA vaccines
1.13.4. The future of vaccines19

1.14. Does tropism in vitro correlate with pathogenicity in vivo?	19
1.15. Relevance of receptor usage for vaccine studies	20
Chapter Two	23
MATERIALS AND METHODS	23
2.1. Animals	23
2.2. Blood samples	23
2.3. Collection of samples at post-mortem examination	23
2.4. Cell lines and culture media	24
2.5. Viruses	25
2.5.1. Viral stocks	25
2.5.2. Viral titration	26
2.5.3. Virus isolation	26
2.5.4. Quantitative viral isolation	26
2.6. Preparation of virus for inoculation	27
2.7. Preparation of DNA	27
2.8. Preparation of RNA	27
2.9. Statistical analysis	27
Chapter Three	28
IN VITRO TROPISM OF PRIMARY ISOLATES OF FIV	28
3.1. Introduction	28
3.2. Materials and Methods	30
3.2.1. Cell lines and culture conditions	30
3.2.2. Assays	30
3.3. Statistical Analysis	32
3.4. Results	
3.4.1. A proportion of FIV isolates can infect CrFK cells.	32
3.4.2. Cell-free infection of the CrFK cell line CrFK(HO6T1) cells wa	S
observed with only 2/17 isolates tested	32
3.4.3. Increased use of CXCR4 by symptomatic isolates	
3.4.4. Inhibition of infection by AMD 3100 varied between the isolate	es 38
3.5. Discussion	
Chapter Four	46
STUDIES ON THE PATHOGENESIS OF FIELD ISOLATES OF FIV	46
4.1. Introduction	46
4.2. Materials and Methods	

iii

4.2.1. Inoculation of cats	47
4.2.2. Collection of samples	47
4.2.3. Real time RT-PCR and PCR	49
4.3. Results	51
4.3.1. Proviral loads	51
4.3.2. Viral RNA loads in the peripheral circulation	57
4.3.3. Quantitative viral isolation	58
4.3.4. Correlation between proviral load and viral loads	58
4.3.5. Confirmation of viral loads using 1416p system	58
4.4. Discussion	61
Chapter Five	65
THE ROLE OF THE env GENE IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF FIV	65
5.1. Introduction	65
5.2. Materials and methods	66
5.2.1. Production of chimaeras	66
5.2.2. In vitro tropism of the clones	69
5.2.3. Infection of kittens	69
5.2.4. Viral RNA and proviral DNA	70
5.2.5. Virus isolation and quantitative virus isolation	70
5.3. Results	70
5.3.1. <i>In vitro</i> tropism	70
5.3.2. <i>In vivo</i> studies of the <i>env</i> chimaeras	72
5.3.2.4. Proviral DNA loads from PBMCs and tissues	78
5.4. Discussion	78
Chapter Six	80
ANALYSIS OF LYMPHOCYTE POPULATIONS	80
6.1. Introduction	80
6.2. Materials and methods	81
6.2.1. Antibodies	81
6.3. Results	83
6.3.1. The field isolates	83
6.3.2. The role of Env in CD8 ⁺ T lymphocyte activation	87
6.4. Discussion	88
Chapter Seven	96

THE ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN OF FIV IN ISOLATES FROM
ASYMPTOMATIC AND SYMPTOMATIC CATS96
7.1. Introduction
7.2. Materials and Methods98
7.2.1. Preparation of DNA98
7.2.2. Sequencing the <i>env</i> genes98
7.3. Field isolate sequences
7.3.1. Results
7.3.2. Discussion
7.4. Sequences changes that permit growth in CrFK(HO6T1) cells
7.4.1. Results
7.4.2. Discussion114
Chapter Eight
GENERAL DISCUSSION
8.1. Introduction
8.2. Isolates from the terminal stage of disease are more CXCR4-tropic 116
8.3. CXCR4-tropism correlated with reduced virulence in vivo
8.4. The use of proviral DNA loads as a measurement of pathogenicity 118
8.5. Could route of infection affect viral RNA load in plasma?
8.6. Expansion of the CD8 $\alpha^*\beta^{low}$ population by asymptomatic isolates 119
8.7. Are terminal isolates the cause or the consequence of disease? 121
Appendices
Appendix A.1. Haematology results for cats A701 to A704 at 0, 6, 12 and 15
weeks p.i
Appendix A.2. Haematology results for cats A741, A742 and A754 at 0, 3, 6,
12 and 15 weeks p.i
Appendix A.3. Media used in cloning experiments 132
References

List of Tables

Table 3.a. Cell-free infection of HO6T1 cells	33
Table 3.b. Cocultivation of HO6T1 cells with infected Mya-1 cells	34
Table 3.c. AMD blocking assays for isolates from cats in terminal stage o	f
disease	
Table 3.d. AMD blocking assays for isolates from cats with recurrence of	clinical
signs after treatment	37
Table 3.e. AMD blocking assays for isolates from cats free of clinical sigr	ns after
treatment	
Table 4.a. Cat numbers and viral isolate received	48
Table 5.a. Restriction sites and fragment sizes within the FIV genomes F	·IV-
PET _{F14} and FIV-GL8 _{Mya} with Af/II.	68
Table 5.b. Virus isolation in Mya-1 cells	74
Table 5.c. 15 week QVI assays (PBMCs)	76
Table 7.a. Field isolate nucleotide sequence comparison against the pro	totype
viruses FIV-GL8 and FIV-PET	101
Table 7.b. Amino acid differences in the variable loops of the env gene.	104
Table 7.c. Mutations recorded in the env gene sequence allowing infecti	on of
(CrFK)HO6T1 cells	111
Appendix A.1. Haematology results for cats A701 to A704 at 0, 6, 12 an	d 15
weeks p.i	
Appendix A.2. Haematology results for cats A741, A742 and A754 at 0,	3, 6, 12
and 15 weeks p.i.	127

List of Figures

Figure 1.a. Schematic representation of the virion and genome organisation	2
Figure 1.b. Schematic representation of the SU of the Env protein	. 10
Figure 1.c. Schematic representation of the TM of the Env protein	. 11
Figure 3.a. Cell-free infection of CrFK(HO6T1) cells.	.35
Figure 3.b. Cocultivation of CrFK(HO6T1) cells with infected Mya-1 cells	. 36
Figure 3.c. Cell-free infection of AH927 FX4E cells.	. 39
Figure 3.d. AH927 FX4E entry assay	.40
Figure 3.e. AMD blocking assays for prototype viruses.	.41
Figure 3.f. AMD blocking assays for field isolates	.43
Figure 4.a. Primer mismatches	. 52
Figure 4.b. Peak proviral loads in PBMCs	. 53
Figure 4.c. PBMC proviral loads 0-15 weeks post infection.	. 54
Figure 4.d. Tissue proviral burdens.	. 56
Figure 4.e. Plasma viral RNA load measured by real time RT-PCR	.59
Figure 4.f. Quantitative viral isolation at 6 weeks post infection	.60
Figure 5.a. Tropism on CrFK(HO6T1) cells.	.71
Figure 5.b. Infection of the cell line AH927 transfected with feline CXCR4	.73
Figure 5.c. The infectious viral burden within the PBMCs 15 weeks p.i	.75
Figure 5.d. Mean viral RNA load measurements in the plasma of each group at	t 0-
15 weeks p.i	.77
Figure 6.a. Schematic representation of primary isolates used in the study and	the
provenance of chimaeras used in study 2	. 82
Figure 6.b. Lymphocyte dynamics throughout the course of the study	. 84
Figure 6.c. CD4 ⁺ :CD8 ⁺ lymphocyte ratios in PBMCs throughout the study	. 86
Figure 6.d. CD8 population ratios.	. 89
Figure 6.e. CD8 $\alpha\beta$ and CD8 $\alpha^*\beta^{\text{low}}$ absolute numbers	. 90
Figure 6.f. CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio.	. 91
Figure 6.g. CD8 $\alpha\beta$ T lymphocyte populations	. 92
Figure 7.a. Primer map on the envelope gene of FIV.	. 99
Figure 7.b. The amino acid sequence of the envelope glycoproteins	102

Figure 7.c.	The envelope glycoprotein sequences of the parental virus $F0795H_s$	
	and viruses from cell-free infection and cocultivation of CrFK(HO6T1)	
	cells respectively10	9
Figure 7.d.	The envelope glycoprotein sequences of $F0827H_s$ and viruses from	
	cell-free infection and cocultivation with CrFK(HO6T1) cells	
	respectively11	2

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank The Wellcome Charitable Trust for funding this project.

I have received a great deal of assistance and advice from many people within the department during the course of the project and the task of putting this thesis together and I am very grateful for all their help. However, there are a few people who have been central to the completion of the work.

Maureen Lawson catalogued all the viruses that were collected through the Feline Virus unit and investigated the outcomes of each of the cats. Everyone in the Retrovirus Research Laboratory was very kind and patient when teaching me all the basics of tissue culture and molecular biology. Celia Cannon and Tom Dunsford both spent a great deal of time showing me the ropes, rescuing disasters and providing much of the entertainment within the lab. I thank Karen Adema and Linda McMonagle who both gave advice on cloning and sequencing. Graham Law, Davina Graham and Paul Taylor were responsible for feline husbandry at the isolation unit. I have enjoyed their banter for the last four years and learned much about the behaviour and environmental enrichment of felines. I am constantly inspired by their enthusiasm and their care.

I thank Dieter Klein and Elsbeita Knapp for instruction on the real-time PCR assay and for processing many of my samples. They were very kind and welcoming during my time in Austria.

Ronnie Barron and Kenny Williamson from Veterinary Diagnostic Services analysed all the haematology samples taken during the study.

Prof. Os. Jarrett kindly helped and advised me during the production of this thesis and I greatly appreciated his 'difficult' questions. Willie Weir helped format the thesis and advised, consoled or inspired whenever the occasion required!

I thank Dr. Brian Willett who did all the FACS analysis and advised me on the production of the chimaeras and sequencing the *env* genes.

Finally, I am indebted to Dr. Margaret Hosie (my supervisor) for her support, considerable input and encouragement over the last four years.

Author's Declaration

This presentation is entirely the product of my own efforts except where specifically stated in the text and in the acknowledgements section. This thesis has not been previously submitted for the award of a degree to any university. The following publication contains work included in this thesis:

Shimojima, M., Miyazawa, T., Ikeda, Y., McMonagle, E. L., Haining, H., Akashi, H., Takeuchi, Y., Hosie, M. J., & Willett, B. J. 2004, "Use of CD134 as a primary receptor by the feline immunodeficiency virus", *Science*, vol. 303, no. 5661, pp. 1192-1195.

Hayley Haining

June 2004

abo...

Dedication

To Willie

and to Seb.

With all my love

Hayley

Definitions

AIDS	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
AMD3100	CXCR4 antagonist
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAEV	Caprine encephalitis virus
CA	Capsid
CD	Cluster determinant
ConA	Concanavalin A
CrFK	Crandell feline kidney cells
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetra-acetic acid
EIAV	Equine infectious anaemia virus
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
FACS	Fluorescent antibody cell sorting
FIV	Feline immunodeficiency virus
FTLV	Feline T-lymphotropic virus
FVU	Feline virus unit
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HSPG	Heparan sulphate proteoglycans
IIC	Inactivated infected cell
IL-2	Interleukin-2
IN	Integrase
kD	kiloDaltons
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LTR	Long terminal repeat
MA	Matrix
NC	Nucleocapsid
NDCL	Nondomestic cat lentivirus
NSI	Nonsyncytium inducing
PBA	Phosphate buffered saline with azide
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction

PR	Protease
PWM	Pokeweed mitogen
QVI	Quantitative virus isolation
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT	Reverse transcriptase
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
SDF-1a	Stromal cell derived factor 1α
SE	Standard error
SHIV	Simian-human immunodeficiency virus (chimaeric)
SI	Syncytium inducing
SIV	Simian immunodeficiency virus
SU	Surface glycoprotein
ТМ	Transmembrane protein
VI	Virus isolation
V-MV	Visna-Maedi virus
WIV	Whole inactivated virus

- Star

Chapter One

INTRODUCTION

1.1. The discovery of feline immunodeficiency virus

Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV), previously known as feline T-lymphotropic lentivirus (FTLV), was first isolated in 1986 from a specific pathogen free cat that had been inoculated with either blood or plasma of a cat from a rescue colony in California which was showing clinical signs of an illness that resembled acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) (Pedersen et al. 1987). This virus had the characteristics of a lentivirus. FIV causes a lifelong infection in domestic cats which, after an indefinite period of asymptomatic disease, may progress to an AIDS-like phase, similar to that seen with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV).

Serological studies have been conducted by many groups and have shown FIV to be distributed worldwide with the prevalence of infection varying from 1-15% in healthy cats and 3-44% in sick cats, reviewed by Miyazawa and Mikami (Miyazawa and Mikami 1993). Differences in population density and varying husbandry conditions may contribute to the large variations recorded amongst different studies. Although the virus was first isolated in 1986 (Pedersen et al. 1987), examination of archival samples found evidence of the virus as early as 1968 (Gruffyd-Jones et al. 1988) and phylogenetic studies indicate that the virus is very ancient (Talbott et al. 1989; Shelton et al. 1990a; Olmsted et al. 1992).

1.2. The retroviruses

Lentiviruses are single stranded RNA viruses with a diploid genome, which is organised in a way characteristic of all retroviruses with the *gag*, *pol* and *env* genes always occurring in that order (see Figure 1.a.). The *gag* gene encodes the internal structural proteins, nucleocapsid (NC), capsid (CA or p24), the major core protein p24 and matrix (MA) proteins (Yamamoto et al. 1988; Talbott et al. 1989). The *pol* gene encodes proteins with enzymatic functions: protease (PR), reverse transcriptase (RT), integrase (IN) and dUTPase. The RT is a DNA polymerase that has several functions including synthesis of DNA from a mRNA template, synthesis of DNA from a DNA template and ribonuclease activity. Like other lentiviruses, FIV RT depends on Mg²⁺ and operates at identical molar concentrations to primate lentiviruses (Yamamoto et al. 1988). The IN is responsible for **Figure 1.a.** Schematic representation of the virion and genome organisation.



The *gag* gene encodes the following proteins, MA=matrix protein, CA=capsid, NC=nuclear capsid. The *pol* gene, IN=integrase, DU=dUTPase, RT=reverse transcriptase, PR=protease. *Env* encodes SU=surface glycoprotein, TM=transmembrane protein

integrating the viral DNA at any point in the host genome (Madigan et al. 2000). Both the *gag* and *pol* genes of FIV are highly conserved areas of the genome (Talbott et al. 1989).

The *env* gene encodes the envelope glycoprotein (Env), gp120, which comprises two parts, the surface glycoprotein (SU) and the transmembrane (TM) protein. The two proteins have masses of 95kD and 40kD respectively (Stephens et al. 1991). The *env* gene has several variable regions and viral isolates can be classified into subtypes on the basis of the nucleotide sequence of this region (Sodora et al. 1994). The sequence diversity of the *env* gene is organised in clusters and nine hypervariable regions (V1-V9) have been defined (Pancino et al. 1993b). The first two, V1 and V2, are found in the leader sequence and do not encode the mature Env protein due to proteolytic processing (Verschoor et al. 1993), V3 to V6 are in the SU and V7 to V9 are in the TM. The Env protein has been shown to be a principal determinant for virus/cell interactions, fusogenicity and cell tropism as well as containing a major immunodominant domain (Lombardi et al. 1993; de Ronde et al. 1994; Pancino et al. 1995).

The FIV genome in its proviral form is flanked by long terminal repeats (LTR) of approximately 350bp (Talbott et al. 1989; Olmsted et al. 1989b) that control and direct DNA and RNA synthesis via two TATA boxes, which are promoter sites for transcription. One of these is similar to that of HIV and the other identical to that of caprine encephalitis virus (CAEV), visna-maedi virus (V-MV) and equine infectious anaemia virus (EIAV) (Sparger et al. 1992). Enhancer/promoter binding sites are also present, namely AP-1, AP-4, ATF-1 and EBP20. AP-1 has been shown to be required for T cell activation responses mediated by protein kinase C and the ATF site is the target for c-AMP induced responses by protein kinase A (Sparger et al. 1992).

Lentiviruses are more complex than the simple retroviruses like feline leukaemia virus since they have accessory genes. The accessory genes of FIV are *vif*, which controls cell-free infectivity (Tomanaga et al. 1992), and *rev*, which participates in the stabilisation and transport of incompletely spliced viral RNA (Kiyomasu et al. 1991). Furthermore, *rev* has been shown to be essential for productive infection of the virus (Phillips et al. 1992). A further gene called *OrfA* or *Orf2* which lies between *vif* and *env* is required for the productive infection of T lymphocytes (Waters et al. 1996) and facilitates the transactivation of FIV (de Parseval and Elder 1999).

1.3. Evolution and the phylogenetic analysis of FIV

Phylogenetic analysis of the *env* genes revealed five subtypes (Sodora et al. 1994; Kakinuma et al. 1995; Pecoraro et al. 1996) and with evidence of recombination in the FIV *env* gene occurring in natural infection there is the opportunity for great genetic diversity (Carpenter et al. 1998).

FIV diverged early in the evolution of lentiviruses, shortly after the divergence of primate and non-primate lentiviruses (Talbott et al. 1989), but is most closely related to the ungulate lentiviruses EIAV, CAEV and particularly V-MV (Olmsted et al. 1989b). As well as in domestic cats, FIV strains can be found in many other wild felid species (nondomestic cat lentiviruses, NDCL) such as the puma (Puma concolor; FIV-Pco) and the lion (Panthera leo; FIV-Ple) (Olmsted et al. 1992; Brown et al. 1993; Carpenter and O'Brien 1995; Carpenter et al. 1996). Similar to simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV), infection of the natural host of NDCL in nondomestic felids with their natural strains of NDCL does not appear to cause disease and seropositivity has not been correlated with the occurrence of disease (Olmsted et al. 1992). The degree of pol sequence diversity between FIV-Pco, FIV-Ple and FIV is 20-30%, which suggests that these viruses have coexisted with their respective feline hosts since the divergence of the felid species, allowing attenuation of the virus due to immunological adaptation and host selection (Olmsted et al. 1992; Carpenter and O'Brien 1995; Carpenter et al. 1996). Evidence of interspecies transmission has been found in African lions and in Tsushima cats in Japan (Spencer et al. 1992; Nishimura et al. 1999; Bull et al. 2002). Previous studies have shown NDCLs to be infectious for domestic cats (Olmsted et al. 1992; Carpenter et al. 1996; Vandewoude et al. 1997).

1.4. Natural infection

The source of FIV is the persistently viraemic cat. Epidemiological studies have shown that in-contact animals have an infection rate of 21-48% (Pedersen et al. 1987; Ishida et al. 1988; Hosie et al. 1989; Hopper et al. 1991). Since FIV is most prevalent in male, free roaming cats and can be isolated from the saliva of FIV-infected cats (Yamamoto et al. 1989) it seems that biting is the most likely mode of transmission

FIV-infected cats reaching the later stages of infection can present with multiple infections, both chronic and opportunistic. The commonest problems are vague signs of malaise

including, lethargy, inappetance, weight loss, pyrexia and lymphadenopathy, and more specifically gingivitis, diarrhoea, rhinitis, upper respiratory tract infections, ocular discharge and neurological signs (Yamamoto et al. 1989). Opportunistic infections and multiple simultaneous infections may occur. Haematological abnormalities also occur with cats often having cytopenias (the most common being anaemia, neutropenia, lymphopenia) and monocytosis although some cats may have lymphocytosis (Hopper 1989; Shelton et al. 1990b). Concurrent chronic infections are major factors in the haematological disorders, summarised by Callanan (Callanan 1995).

1.5. Immunodeficiency

Immune system dysfunction occurs as the disease progresses, with a steady reduction in $CD4^+$ T lymphocytes and changes in the $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T lymphocyte ratios. Reduction of the CD4:CD8 ratio or inversion of the ratio has been documented (Novotney et al. 1990; Hoffman-Fezer et al. 1992; Lawrence et al. 1992). Expansion of the $CD8\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ T lymphocyte subset post infection has been documented (Lehmann et al. 1992; Willett et al. 1993) and is thought to contribute to the lymphocyte inversion seen. While the role of these cells is still unclear they are thought to be activated T cells (Bucci et al. 1998b). There is reduced responsiveness of peripheral blood mononuclear cells to mitogens such as pokeweed mitogen (PWM), Concanavalin A (Con A), lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and to stimulation by interleukin-2 (IL-2) (Lin et al. 1990; Siebelink et al. 1990; Barlough et al. 1991).

1.6. Clinical signs of FIV in experimental infection

Experimental infection may be achieved by many routes of inoculation including: intraperitoneal (Pedersen et al. 1987; Yamamoto et al. 1988), intravenous (Yamamoto et al. 1988), intramuscular, subcutaneous (Siebelink et al. 1990) and intrathecal (Dow et al. 1990). In addition, cats can be infected by oral, nasal (Callanan 1995), vaginal and rectal administration (Bishop et al. 1992). Successful infection has been achieved using whole blood, plasma, cell-free virus and cell-associated virus (Pedersen 1993).

Within 6 weeks post infection (p.i.) generalised lymphadenopathy usually occurs, brought about by follicular hyperplasia, paracortical activation and expansion, accompanied by increased numbers of plasma cells due to initiation of the humoral response. Around this time mantle zone attenuation and invagination occurs, follicles become irregular and some become markedly enlarged due to fusion with neighbouring follicles (Callanan et al. 1993). There are also increased numbers of germinal centre CD8⁺ cells, sinus lymphocytosis and B cell reactions (Callanan et al. 1993; Parodi et al. 1994). By 8-12 months p.i. involution of the lymph nodes first becomes apparent, and hyalinised follicles appear (Callanan et al. 1993). Often coinciding with generalised lymphadenopathy are transient neutropenia, lymphopenia, pyrexia, dullness and anorexia (Pedersen et al. 1987; Yamamoto et al. 1988; Yamamoto et al. 1989; Moraillon et al. 1992; Mandell et al. 1992; Callanan et al. 1992b). This is termed the acute phase of infection and cats generally recover, becoming free of clinical signs but persistently viraemic. Healthy, persistently viraemic cats are said to be in the asymptomatic phase, which may last for variable periods. During this time haematological parameters are generally unremarkable but by eighteen months p.i. a gradual decline in CD4⁺ T lymphocytes occurs (Ackley et al. 1990; Barlough et al. 1991; Willett et al. 1993) sometimes with a concurrent increase in CD8⁺ T lymphocytes (Ackley et al. 1990).

1.7. The clinical staging for FIV

It has been proposed that the disease conditions associated with FIV infection can be classified into five recognisable clinical disease stages (Ishida and Tomoda 1990), analogous to the clinical stages found in HIV infection.

- The acute phase characterised by pyrexia and generalised lymphadenopathy 42-56 days post infection as reviewed by Pedersen (Pedersen 1993).
- 2. The asymptomatic phase (Yamamoto et al. 1988) which has been found to vary in duration with age at infection (George et al. 1993).
- Persistent generalised lymphadenopathy where cats are often presented to the veterinary surgeon for unthriftiness and vague nonspecific clinical signs, reviewed by Pedersen (Pedersen 1993).
- AIDS-related complex 50% of cats present with signs similar to HIV in humans (Ishida and Tomoda 1990).
- AIDS less than 10% of FIV-infected cats are presented in the terminal AIDS-like stage, as many are euthanased due to the very poor prognosis.

6. Sometimes a sixth group is included which comprises miscellaneous diseases associated with FIV (Pedersen 1993), e.g. neoplasia has been recorded in naturally infected (Alexander et al. 1989; Shelton et al. 1990a; Rosenberg et al. 1991; Hutson et al. 1991; Buracco et al. 1992; Barr et al. 1993) and experimentally infected FIV-positive cats (Callanan et al. 1992a; Poli et al. 1994). The mechanism whereby FIV initiates malignancy is still unclear but one report describes a monoclonally integrated FIV provirus within tumour DNA (Beatty et al. 1998). However, viral gene expression could not be detected which indicated that expression was not required in order to maintain the transformed phenotype (Beatty et al. 1998). There is no doubt, however, that cats with FIV have an increased risk of developing lymphoma (Hutson et al. 1991; Poli et al. 1994; English et al. 1994; Callanan et al. 1996).

1.8. Tropism in vivo

Upon infection, the principal target for FIV is the CD4⁺ T lymphocyte (English et al. 1993; Beebe et al. 1994; Dean et al. 1996) and this subpopulation decreases rapidly as the disease progresses to the immune deficiency stage (Ackley et al. 1990; Torten et al. 1991; Hoffman-Fezer et al. 1992). Infection of macrophages occurs (Brunner and Pedersen 1989) and macrophage-tropic variants are thought to predominate during the asymptomatic phase (Beebe et al. 1994). The prevalence of macrophage-tropic variants was shown to increase by 40-95% at the time of the early acute illness (Beebe et al. 1994), possibly due to the decreasing CD4⁺ T lymphocyte population forcing selection of macrophage-tropic variants. Macrophage-tropic strains are thought to be necessary for the persistence of the infection and also dissemination of the virus within the body. Macrophages may play an important role in viral dissemination since viral infection is less cytopathic in macrophages compared to CD4⁺ T cells (Beebe et al. 1994). Circulating macrophages were found not to express viral antigen until adherence occurred in vitro (Dow 1999), suggesting that monocyte infection in the peripheral blood might occur at a level higher than previously thought, since monocytes might express viral antigen only after maturation into tissue macrophages, which occurs on adhering to a substrate, e.g. extracellular matrix (Dow 1999).

FIV infects CD8⁺ T cells (Brown et al. 1991) and B cells (English et al. 1993) as well as CD4⁺ T cells. The virus is found increasingly in B cells during the progression from the

asymptomatic to chronic stage of infection (English et al. 1993; Dean et al. 1996). The $CD8^+$ T lymphocyte population is not depleted following infection and is sometimes expanded, contributing to a decrease in the $CD4^+$: $CD8^+$ T cell ratio (Torten et al. 1991; Hoffman-Fezer et al. 1992; Willett et al. 1993). The expanded $CD8^+$ population expressed lower amounts of the CD8 protein on its surface and was designated $CD8^{low}$ (Willett et al. 1993), later defined further as $CD8\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ (Shimojima et al. 1998a; Shimojima et al. 1998b).

Neuronal cells are also susceptible to FIV infection, with astrocytes being the most susceptible to infection and syncytium formation. Microglia are also susceptible and can remain persistently and productively infected (Dow et al. 1992).

1.9. Tropism in vitro

FIV isolates can be cultured *in vitro*, with isolates having different capacities for replication in different cell lines. Laboratory-adapted isolates are defined as having been passaged extensively *in vitro*, whereas primary isolates have been minimally passaged *in vitro*, infection being limited to PBMCs or highly susceptible IL-2 dependent cell lines, e.g. Mya-1 cells. Primary isolates can be grown in mitogen-activated PBMCs, macrophages, T-lymphoblastoid cell lines such as thymocytes, the IL-2-dependent cell line Mya-1, and the IL-2 independent cell line 3201 (Miyazawa et al. 1990; Tochikura et al. 1990). In these cells the virus causes cytopathic effects in the form of cell death and syncytium formation, with or without cell lysis. Some isolates have been shown to have a broader cell tropism, having the ability to infect also cells of the Crandell feline kidney (CrFK) cell line. Clones of the FIV-Petaluma (FIV-PET) isolate, namely FIV-14 and FIV-34TF10, can infect CrFK cells (Olmsted et al. 1989a) in which they can produce a persistent, noncytopathic infection (unpublished data, Retrovirus Research Laboratory, Glasgow University Veterinary School).

By inserting the *env* gene from variant clones into a FIV-PET backbone, the ability to infect CrFK cell lines was shown to be associated with an increase in charge of the hypervariable region 3 (V3) of SU (Verschoor et al. 1995). This difference in charge was considered to be the result of a glutamate to lysine (E to K) mutation at position 407 or 409. A concurrent glycine to arginine (G to R) mutation at position 397 was found to result in improved replication kinetics, similar to the original clone. Similarly, an increase in charge that was related to changes in tropism has been described in HIV isolates (de

Jong 1992). Several regions of the *env* gene other than V3 also contain determinants of tropism. CrFK-tropism was the result of a methionine to threonine (M to T) mutation in the TM of the envelope glycoprotein of FIV-UT113 (Vahlenkamp et al. 1997). Expanded host cell tropism of a clone of FIV-PPR after passage in IL-2 independent T cells (MCH5-4DL) was shown to be associated with 3 mutations; glutamine to proline in the second constant domain of SU, threonine to proline in the V4 hypervariable loop of SU, and a premature stop codon in the cytoplasmic tail of the transmembrane protein which was found to be responsible for syncytium formation (Lerner and Elder 2000) (see Figure 1.b. and 1.c.).

Other lentiviruses, such as SIV, HIV-1, HIV-2 and EIAV, have been found to expand host cell tropism by truncation of the cytoplasmic domain of SU by a premature stop codon (Lerner et al. 2000). These truncations have been shown to increase growth kinetics, envelope fusogenicity and cytopathogenicity *in vitro*. Similarly, the FIV *orf2* gene encodes a protein that allows infection of peripheral blood lymphocytes, as seen in the clone FIV-PPR (Phillips et al. 1990). In contrast, the Petaluma clone 34TF10, which has a premature stop codon in this region, was severely restricted to adherent monolayer cell lines and replicated poorly *in vivo*. Repair of the *orf2* allowed the 34TF10 clone to replicate in T lymphocytes (Waters et al. 1996). Hence the role of *orf2* in tropism remains unclear.

1.10. FIV infection of human cell lines

There is evidence that some FIV isolates may have the ability to infect human cells. For example, FIV chimaeras with the Env protein of FIV-PET infected the human lymphoblastoid cell line MOLT-4 and, although productive infection was not achieved, provirus was detectable within the cells (Ikeda et al. 1996). Infectious virus was also produced when an infectious molecular clone of the TM1 strain was transfected into the non-lymphoid human cell line HeLa (Miyazawa et al. 1992). More recently FIV isolates V1-CSF and FIV-PET were reported to infect human PBMCs productively by cell-free infection, although infection was inefficient (Johnston and Powers 1999). FIV has been proffered as a useful tool in human gene therapy as an efficient retroviral vector (Poeschla et al. 1998). Although no human has been reported as becoming infected with FIV (Pedersen 1993; Butera et al. 2000) or even seroconverting, great caution should be exercised in selecting vector strains owing to the great range in tropism and ability to adapt



Figure 1.b. Schematic representation of the SU of the Env protein.

Adapted from Pancino et al. 1993

Amino acids are represented by coloured circles (see key). Black arrows indicate sites where mutations occur, leading to expanded tropism. Roman numerals I - V indicate variable loops. CrFK-tropism can be brought about by mutations at sites 407 or 409 glutamate lysine mutation (E to K) or at site 751 within the TM by a methionine to threonine (M to T). Mutations at 224 (glutamine to proline, (E to P) and 470 threonine to proline, (T to P) were responsible for growth in the IL2 independent T cell line MCH5-4DL by FIV-PPR.



Figure 1.c. Schematic representation of the TM of the Env protein.

Adapted from Pancino et al. 1993

Amino acids are represented by coloured circles (see key). Black arrows indicate sites where mutations occur, leading to expanded tropism. CrFK-tropism can be brought about by mutations at sites 407 or 409 glutamate lysine mutation (E to K) or at site 751 within the TM by a methionine to threonine (M to T). Mutations at 224 (glutamine to proline, (E to P) and 470 threonine to proline, (T to P) were responsible for growth in the IL2 independent T cell line MCH5-4DL by FIV-PPR. Truncation of the cytoplasmic tail from residue 838 of this clone was responsible for syncytium formation.

displayed by FIV. From this evidence it can be seen that isolates of FIV have evolved many ways in which to broaden or improve their infective and replicative capacity within numerous cell lines. The poor proof reading capabilities of RT leads to this high rate of mutation and contributes to the virus having the ability to evade the immune system. Primary isolates of FIV have broad resistance to antibody-mediated neutralisation, which is thought to contribute to the persistence of these viruses and may cause failure of experimental vaccines. Reversion to broad neutralisation resistance arose in cats inoculated with a tissue culture-adapted strain (FIV-PET) and a lysine to asparagine or glutamine change at position 481 was found to be a key determinant in reversion (Bendinelli et al. 2001). Long-term viral revertants exhibited a serine to asparagine change at 557 in the fifth variable region (V5), a mutation which is thought to collaborate with other mutations in the maintenance of neutralisation resistance. However, neither of these mutations was reported to cause a change in cell tropism (Bendinelli et al. 2001).

1.11. Cell Receptors

1.11.1. The CD4 molecule

CD4 is the principal receptor for entry of primate lentiviruses (Dalgleish et al. 1984; Klatzmann et al. 1984) and CD4⁺ T lymphocytes are the principal target for FIV infection (English et al. 1993; Beebe et al. 1994; Dean et al. 1996). These findings initially suggested that CD4 might have an important role in entry of FIV. However, subsequently CD4⁻ cells were shown to become infected, e.g. CD8⁺ T lymphocytes (Brown et al. 1991), IgG⁺ B cells (English et al. 1993; Beebe et al. 1993; Beebe et al. 1994; Dean et al. 1994; Dean et al. 1996), monocyte/macrophages (Brunner and Pedersen 1989) and neuronal cells (Dow et al. 1992). In addition, monoclonal antibodies to various epitopes on feline CD4 did not inhibit infection with FIV (Hosie et al. 1993; Willett et al. 1997b). Furthermore, expression of feline CD4 on FIV resistant feline cells does not render them susceptible to infection with lymphotropic isolates of FIV (Norimine et al. 1993). The possibility of a non-CD4 receptor was further highlighted when the anti-feline CD9 monoclonal antibody vpg15, blocked infection of FIV susceptible cells (Hosie et al. 1993), implicating CD9 as a putative receptor for FIV entry. Subsequently, however, the blocking properties of vpg15 were found to act at a post-entry stage (de Parseval et al. 1997; Willett et al. 1997b).

1.11.2. The chemokine receptor CXCR4

The discovery of the seven transmembrane domain receptor "fusin" as a coreceptor for HIV-1 entry (Feng et al. 1996) led to the investigation of its use by FIV. Fusin, or CXCR4 as it is now known, is a G-protein coupled receptor. The name CXC comes from the positioning of the first two highly conserved cysteine residues of the amino acid sequence. The CXCR4 receptor is essential for mammals (Ma et al. 1998; Zou et al. 1998) as the deletion of this gene in embryos is lethal. CXCR4 is found on the surface of many cells such as endothelial and epithelial cells. It plays a major role in haematopoiesis, organogenesis, B cell maturation and T cell trafficking, and is also a potent lymphocyte/monocyte chemoattractant (Murdoch 2000). The ligand for CXCR4 is the chemokine, stromal cell derived factor-1 (SDF-1), a relationship that is thought to be monogamous (Ma et al. 1998).

Usage of CXCR4 by FIV, was indicated in a similar fashion to HIV-1, by inhibition assays against cell culture-adapted strains of FIV, conducted using the anti-human CXCR4 antibody 12G5 (Willett et al. 1997a). Antibody 12G5 led to a dose-dependent inhibition of fusion between the human cell line HeLa (expressing CXCR4) and persistently FIV-infected CrFK cells (viral envelope glycoproteins protrude from the infected cells and fuse with the CXCR4 of the HeLa cells). SDF-1 α , the natural ligand for CXCR4, was shown to block infection of CrFK cells by a cell culture-adapted strain of FIV, but not the infection of the IL-2 dependent T cell line Mya-1 (Hosie et al. 1998a), which suggested not only that CXCR4 mediated the entry of cell culture-adapted strains, but also that there might be an alternative mode of viral entry in cell lines such as Mya-1. As well as a dose-dependent inhibition, enhancement was observed in FIV infection of CrFK cells after prolonged incubation with SDF-1 α (Hosie et al. 1998a). This was considered to be due to upregulation of CXCR4 expression on the cell surface leading to increased viral uptake.

Further studies, using the bicyclam derivative AMD3100 that binds CXCR4, demonstrated that a dose-dependent inhibition of infection by laboratory-adapted strains of FIV could be achieved. Blocking was achieved in CrFK cells and feline thymocytes at AMD3100 concentrations of 14ng/ml and 62 ng/ml respectively (Egberink et al. 1999). The same studies demonstrated that primary isolates also used CXCR4, as infection of feline thymocytes was blocked in a dose-dependent manner at inhibitory concentrations ranging between 21 ng/ml to 68 ng/ml for the 6 primary isolates studied. Furthermore, it was

shown that the blocking effect of AMD3100 acted at an envelope-mediated stage since blocking of a pseudotyped virus expressing a primary isolate envelope glycoprotein was inhibited, whereas there was no inhibition of infection by pseudotypes expressing the Gprotein of vesicular stomatitis virus (Richardson et al. 1999).

Feline CXCR4 was cloned from the mRNA of cells of the T lymphoblastoid cell line Mya-1 (and of CrFK cells) and was shown to have 94.9% homology, at the amino acid level, with human CXCR4 (Willett et al. 1997c). Ectopic expression of feline CXCR4 on the human cell line U87 allowed fusion with CrFK cells infected with FIV-GL8. That neither CD4 nor CD9 were receptors for FIV was confirmed when U87 cells expressing CD4 or CD9 did not support fusion (Willett et al. 1997c). A further study using rat/human chimeras of CXCR4 demonstrated that the second extracellular loop (EC) loop of CXCR4 was the principle determinant for fusion, while the first and third loops were important for conformational presentation of the second EC loop or were directly involved themselves (Willett et al. 1998).

1.11.3. Involvement of another (co)receptor

HIV-1 isolates fall into two biological groups. They were first classified by their *in vitro* growth properties as 'rapid-high' or 'slow-low' depending on their replication rates (Åsjo et al. 1986) or as syncytium-inducing (SI) or nonsyncytium-inducing (NSI) (Åsjo et al. 1986; Tersmette et al. 1988) and also macrophage-tropic or T-lymphotropic (Gartner et al. 1986). Studies on the usage of the chemokine receptor CCR5 by macrophage-tropic isolates of FIV have provided no evidence of a role for CCR5. Incubation of CrFK or Mya-1 cells with the β -chemokines, MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β and RANTES did not block infection with FIV-PET (Hosie et al. 1998a). More recently, however, a study comparing the isolates FIV-PPR and FIV-PPR_{glial} demonstrated the possibility of CC chemokine receptor usage, as the β -chemokine RANTES inhibited infection of T cells by FIV-PPR by 20-40% (Lerner and Elder 2000). Therefore, FIV may use a CC chemokine as a method of entry.

Further evidence of non-CXCR4 receptor usage by FIV was highlighted by a study using a fusion protein consisting of the Fc domain of human immunoglobulin G1 with the variable domain being represented by the SU (gp95) of either FIV-PPR (primary isolate) or FIV-34TF10 (laboratory-adapted isolate). It was shown that the SU of the gp95 of FIV-PPR bound only to primary feline T lymphocyte cell lines whereas the SU of the gp95 of FIV-

34TF10 bound to all cell lines tested. SDF-1 α , RANTES, MIP-1 and heparin all failed to inhibit binding of gp95 to primary T cells, implicating a non-CXCR4 receptor (Richardson et al. 1999). Further studies to elucidate the receptor usage of FIV have found that a 43kD non-CXCR4 molecule, as well as heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG), is used but that the receptor used is dependent on cell type (de Parseval and Elder 2001; Elder and de Parseval 2002). For example, FIV-PPR infection is restricted to cells expressing the 43kD molecule, such as IL-2 dependent cells and PBMCs, whereas the FIV-PET clone 34TF10 can use CXCR4, the 43kD molecule and HSPGs. On primary T cells, 34TF10 was shown to use the 43kD molecule but on non-primary T cells e.g. 3201 cells, the virus was shown to bind directly to CXCR4. This strain was shown to have further diversity as it was able to infect adherent cell lines by binding to HSPGs and then CXCR4 (Elder and de Parseval 2002). Further studies in the same report showed that similar to HIV, DC-SIGN can transmit FIV to other cells, again highlighting the usefulness of FIV as a model for HIV infection and AIDS.

1.12. Immunopathogenesis

1.12.1. The lymphocyte subpopulations

Perturbation of the immune system is best examined in the experimentally infected cat, as the duration of infection and the dose and characteristics of the inoculum are known. CD4⁺ T cell cytopenia is common to both natural and experimental infection but is generally seen later in natural infection, concurrent with the AIDS-like stage, whereas it is recorded earlier in experimental infection (Walker et al. 1994; Diehl et al. 1996; Walker et al. 1996). However, this decrease in CD4⁺ T lymphocytes is not solely responsible for immunodeficiency (Pedersen 1993). Although CD4 levels and plasma virus load were thought to be inversely correlated (Diehl et al. 1995a), studies have shown that they may be affected by route of infection and viral strain (Diehl et al. 1995b; Burkhard et al. 2002). Indeed, studies of SIV infection have shown that receptor usage affects the CD4⁺ T cell population, as inoculation of CCR5- or CXCR4-type viruses have quite different effects (Harouse et al. 1999).

Early experimental infection is characterised by an expansion of the CD8⁺ T lymphocyte population which coincides with reduced viral replication (Willett et al. 1993). This population of cells expresses only low amounts of the CD8 β chain (CD8 β ^{low}) (Willett et

al. 1993; Shimojima et al. 1998a; Bucci et al. 1998b; Shimojima et al. 1998b; Gebhard et al. 1999; Orandle et al. 2000). These cells have been shown to be noncytolytic CD8⁺ T cells which produce soluble factors that suppress FIV replication (Jeng et al. 1996; Hohdatsu et al. 1998; Flynn et al. 1999; Choi et al. 2000) and, in some cases suppression or clearance of the virus occurs without seroconversion (Bucci et al. 1998a). The exact role of CD8 β^{low} lymphocytes is unclear as there is evidence that they are not solely responsible for the antiviral activity (Flynn et al. 1999; Crawford et al. 2001) and their numbers increase as virulent FIV variants emerge (Gebhard et al. 1999; Hosie et al. 2000; Hosie et al. 2002). This increase in CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ lymphocytes can be detected as early as one weck p.i. in the peripheral and mesenteric lymph nodes and the blood (Flynn et al. 2002) and has been correlated to a reduction in viral detection (Crawford et al. 2001).

1.12.2. The cell mediated immune response

The cell mediated immune response is detectable before the humoral response (Song et al. 1992; Beatty et al. 1996; Flynn et al. 1996). Cell mediated immunity is seen as early as 2 weeks p.i. (Beatty et al. 1996) in peripheral blood (Song et al. 1995). The level of cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity is lower in chronically infected cats (Li et al. 1995) than in acutely infected cats (Beatty et al. 1996). Also the distribution of CTL changes, activity being concentrated in the lymph nodes and spleen during the asymptomatic stages, i.e. the major sites for viral replication at this time (Beebe et al. 1994; Flynn et al. 1996). The CTL response in naturally infected cats tends to be directed towards Gag proteins of the virus (Flynn et al. 2002) whereas in cats vaccinated with whole inactivated virus (WIV) that were protected from infection the CTL response has been shown to be predominantly directed towards Env proteins (Flynn et al. 1996).

1.12.3. The humoral immune response

Seroconversion can be detected as early as 3-5 weeks p.i. (Yamamoto et al. 1988; Rimmelzwaan et al. 1994; Callanan et al. 1996; Burkhard et al. 2002) and antibodies are directed to both Gag and Env (Hosie and Jarrett 1990; Egberink et al. 1990). There are conflicting reports of which antibodies appear first, perhaps reflecting strain differences or the result of varying sensitivity of the assays used (Burkhard and Dean 2003). Virus neutralising antibodies arise 6 weeks p.i. (Yamamoto 1999) and levels continue to increase over the first 6-8 months (Inoshima et al. 1996). The third hypervariable region of the Env is the principal immunodominant domain for neutralising antibody (Lombardi et al. 1993; de Ronde et al. 1994) but the V4 and V5 regions have also been implicated (Siebelink et al. 1993).

The extent to which these immune responses participate in protection against infection with FIV is unknown, but it has been suggested that humoral immunity is less important than cell mediated immunity and the noncytolytic immune response (Flynn et al. 2000).

1.13. Vaccination

1.13.1. Early vaccines

Since the discovery of HIV in 1983 (Barré-Sinoussi et al. 1983), efforts have been directed toward the production of a vaccine. The discovery of FIV in 1987 (Pedersen et al. 1987), with its many similarities to HIV, has led to its employment as a vaccine model for HIV. The first successful vaccines against FIV were WIV or inactivated infected cell (IIC) vaccines made from the FL-4 cell line, with over 90% protection being achieved against homologous challenge with FIV-PET and the closely related FIV-DIXON (Yamamoto et al. 1991). Similarly, protection was achieved using the same vaccine but challenge inoculum was grown in an unrelated cell line. However, protection was not achieved against the heterologous virus FIV-GL8 (Hosie et al. 1995). The resistance to vaccine-induced protection demonstrated by the primary isolate FIV-GL8, along with induction of the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ T lymphocyte population (Willett et al. 1993) as well as higher proviral DNA loads and greater reduction of the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio (Hosie et al. 2002), led to the hypothesis that FIV-GL8 is a more virulent strain of FIV compared to FIV-PET.

1.13.2. Subunit vaccines

Due to the inherent risks involved with WIV vaccines, particularly for HIV, much research has been conducted in the field of subunit vaccines. Immunogens that have been tested include recombinant FIV proteins expressed in mammalian cells using vectors such as baculovirus, vaccinia virus, and *E.coli* in prokaryotic cell lines. The majority of subunit vaccines have been based on the Env protein (Lutz et al. 1995; Siebelink et al. 1995c; Hosie et al. 1996a). Smaller subunits using only the V3 region of the Env protein have also been tested (Lombardi et al. 1994; Flynn et al. 1995), as well as the p24 protein (Hosie et al. 1992), but little success has been achieved using these immunogens. At best, suppression of viral load was achieved with affinity purified Env, although all the vaccinates became infected (Hosie et al. 1996a). Furthermore, enhancement of infection,

where viral loads have been higher or the time to viral isolation shorter, has been reported following immunisation with several of these subunit vaccines (Hosie et al. 1992; Lombardi et al. 1994; Siebelink et al. 1995c).

1.13.3. DNA vaccines

The advent of DNA vaccination appeared promising as this system would allow the mass production of vaccines, which would be economical and affordable for third world countries where HIV is very prevalent. DNA vaccination presents further advantages: vaccines may be produced for pathogens which are problematic to grow in culture; they contain inherent immunostimulatory sequences, namely CpG motifs; they may induce both humoral and cell mediated immune responses; and there is no evidence for integration into the host genome (reviewed by Dunham (Dunham 2002)). DNA vaccination against FIV infection has given some promising results to date. Vaccines have included proviral DNA with various deletions within the genome, mostly in the integrase or reverse transcriptase genes (Hosie et al. 1998b; Hosie et al. 2000; Dunham et al. 2002), the vif gene (Lockridge et al. 2000) or the AP-1 binding site (Kohmoto et al. 1998). Also an Env construct in a minimalistic immunogenic defined gene expression (MIDGE) system has been tested (Borretti et al. 2000; Leutenegger et al. 2000). Partial protection was reported in two trials using the construct FIV-PPR- Δvif (Leutenegger et al. 2000) or the surface protein plus part of the transmembrane protein of FIV-Zurich2 (FIV-Z2) (Borretti et al. 2000) when cats were challenged with homologous virus strains. Similar to the subunit vaccines, enhancement of infection was documented when either wild type env or env genes with mutations in the principal immunodominant domain was used as vaccine immunogens (Richardson et al. 1997). In studies where cats were challenged with heterologous strains, no protection was Comparison of vaccine trials is difficult due to the great variation in vaccine seen. production, challenge strains, adjuvants employed and the routes of immunisation and challenge.

The most success has been achieved with WIV vaccines derived from either the subtype A FIV-PET (Yamamoto et al. 1991; Yamamoto et al. 1993; Hosie et al. 1995) or the subtype B FIV-M2 (Matteucci et al. 2000a) but again these vaccines were only successful against homologous challenge. A similar situation occurs in IIC vaccines where a degree of success has been reported in trials investigating mucosal transmission, which is pertinent to HIV infection (Stokes et al. 1999; Finerty et al. 2002).

1.13.4. The future of vaccines

A successful FIV vaccine should protect against homologous and heterologous challenge. To date, only a single vaccine has become commercially available (Fel-O-Vax FIV, Fort Dodge). This vaccine is a WIV vaccine using subtype A FIV-PET and subtype B FIV-Shizuoka (FIV-SHI) and was shown to protect 100% of vaccinates challenged with FIV-PET and 80% of vaccinates challenged with FIV-Bangston (FIV-BANG) (Pu et al. 2001). These results are highly promising but the vaccine has yet to be tested under field conditions where challenge will be in the form of virus populations or quasispecies that arise during natural infection. Only one trial has been conducted under natural conditions of challenge. Cats in a rescue shelter were vaccinated with an IIC vaccine based on the subtype B strain M2 (Matteucci et al. 2000b), and all 12/12 immunised cats were protected while 5/14 of control, unvaccinated cats became infected. Although these results were promising, the duration of vaccine immunity using the same vaccine was reported to be short (Matteucci et al. 1997), so that repeated immunisation may be necessary to conserve immunity. Whether this vaccine would protect against challenge with virulent subtype A viruses remains unknown. The vaccine was tested in Italy where subtype B viruses predominate and it has been suggested that these viruses are more ancient than subtype A strains and therefore more host adapted and less virulent (Bachmann et al. 1997; Pistello et al. 1997).

1.14. Does tropism in vitro correlate with pathogenicity in vivo?

Since the discovery that chemokine receptors are essential for HIV-1 entry into cells and may be involved in the evolution of disease, studies of receptor utilisation have led to a greater understanding of the pathogenesis of HIV and AIDS. The error-prone RT leads very quickly to the formation of a quasispecies population within the infected individual. The development of viruses with broad genetic variability can lead to differing phenotypes, of which cell tropism, replication rates and syncytium inducing (SI) capacities have been studied (Cheng-Mayer et al. 1988; Tersmette et al. 1988; Tersmette et al. 1989a; Connor et al. 1993a).

Tropism on MT-2 cells has been correlated with disease stage (Connor et al. 1993a) with asymptomatic individuals having mostly macrophage-tropic, slowly replicating NSI HIV-1 variants. During disease progression more T cell-tropic, rapidly replicating variants appear, although only 50% of patients with disease progression have viruses of the SI

phenotype. HIV-1 infection is established by macrophage-tropic isolates, most of which use the chemokine receptor CCR5. Some isolates may have dual tropism for both CXCR4 and CCR5 and small numbers may be restricted to CXCR4 alone. With disease progression, SI variants often emerge, which display broader coreceptor usage *in vitro* (using CCR2b, CCR3, CCR8, STRL33 and V28 (de Roda Husman and Schuitemaker 1998). The reason for this selection of NSI macrophage-tropic variants is unclear. However, the main receptors *in vivo* are still thought to be CXCR4 and CCR5 (Zhang and Moore 1999).

It is thought that CXCR4 viruses are rarely transmitted for several reasons. For example, CCR5 viruses predominate in most infected individuals, extensive SDF-1 expression on mucosal surfaces may act as a barrier (Agace et al. 2000) and there is down regulation of CXCR4 within the gut associated lymphoid tissue (Harouse et al. 1999). The finding that individuals homozygous for a 32bp deletion in the CCR5 gene ($\Delta 32/\Delta 32$ CCR5 homozygotes) which leads to a truncated CCR5 protein that fails to reach the cell surface, are highly resistant to HIV-1 infection via sexual, blood contact or mother to child transmission further support the hypothesis that CXCR4 viruses are rarely transmitted (Clapham and McKnight 2002). Contrary to these findings, inoculation of predominantly SI variants was reported to result in persistence of the SI virus population in the recipient and inoculation of a predominantly NSI population into another recipient resulted in amplification of SI viruses before seroconversion, followed by suppression at seroconversion (Cornelissen et al. 1995). This suggested that SI variants were suppressed by an immune mediated mechanism (Lathey et al. 1997).

The sequences associated with change in phenotype between SI and NSI viruses have been mapped to the V1/V2 and V3 regions of *env* (Groenik et al. 1993) and involve increases in charge in the V3 region and length and charge of the V2 region (Fouchier et al. 1992; Groenik et al. 1993; Fouchier et al. 1995). Similarly, the switch from CCR5 usage to CXCR4 usage is accompanied by an increased positive charge in the V3 loop (de Jong et al. 1992).

1.15. Relevance of receptor usage for vaccine studies

Most promising FIV vaccines tested to date have only been effective against homologous or laboratory-adapted viruses. The commercially available vaccine, Fel-O-Vax (Fort Dodge Animal Health) does not induce sterilising immunity against infection with the primary isolate FIV-GL8 (Dunham, S.P., personal communication) although viral burdens may be reduced following challenge. As yet, little is known about the potential impact of these vaccines as the characteristics and nature of the population of viruses in the field is not well defined.

Two prototypic FIV isolates have been extensively characterised in this laboratory; namely, the laboratory-adapted FIV-PET and the primary isolate FIV-GL8. Unlike FIV-PET, *in vivo* FIV-GL8 establishes high viral loads, inversion of the CD4:CD8 ratio and is resistant to vaccine-induced protection. *In vitro*, FIV-GL8 appears to require an additional component to CXCR4 in order to enter host cells. It is unknown whether FIV-PET and FIV-GL8 represent two distinct phenotypes of FIV or whether isolates display a range of biological behaviour. Furthermore, the relationship between tropism and chemokine receptor usage *in vitro* and biological behaviour *in vivo* is still unclear as is whether FIV, like HIV, undergoes a switch in phenotype and receptor usage which correlates with disease progression.

Most vaccines have to date targeted laboratory-adapted isolates like the CXCR4-tropic FIV-PET. If such viruses are mostly isolated from cats in the terminal stage of disease, then they are less likely to be transmitted, since terminally ill cats have a decreased tendency to roam or display normal territorial behaviour. Therefore, the first aim of this project was to establish the phenotype of primary FIV isolates made from field cats compared at different stages of infection and compare them with FIV-PET and FIV-GL8 to determine whether the phenotype was different from cats at different stages of infection. The human terminology "symptomatic" and "asymptomatic" was adopted for convenience and to aid comparison with HIV. The infected cats were classified as 1. terminally ill (symptomatic), 2. responders that had displayed clinical signs but responded to treatment, 3. asymptomatic cats that had remained disease free since diagnosis (asymptomatic). The isolates were examined in vitro to investigate the role of chemokine receptors and host cell tropism in the asymptomatic and terminal phases of the disease. After thorough characterisation in vitro, isolates were selected from groups 1 and 3 and were inoculated into specific pathogen free kittens to examine their pathogenicity in vivo. Pathogenicity was assessed by measuring plasma viral load and proviral loads in PBMCs and tissues. Lymphocyte subpopulation changes were examined by fluorescent antibody cell sorting (FACS). To elucidate the role of Env in the pathogenesis of FIV, chimaeric viruses were constructed using a FIV-GL8_{MYA} backbone into which a selection of field isolates and
prototypic virus *env* genes were inserted. The resultant clones were subjected to similar *in vitro* assays and *in vivo* study to determine whether different pathogenic behaviour could be attributed to *env*.

Chapter Two

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Animals

Specific pathogen free (SPF) kittens were obtained from Biolabs, Eire, at 10 weeks of age. A two-week acclimatisation period was allowed for all kittens before the commencement of each study. The cats were maintained in a facility that is exceptional in the provision of environmental enrichment to ensure animal welfare of the highest standard.

2.2. Blood samples

Blood samples at each time point were collected into EDTA. Whole blood was used for routine haematological analysis and fluorescent antibody cell sorting (FACS). Plasma was harvested by centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 10 minutes. The plasma was aliquoted and stored at -70°C. The blood cells were then resuspended in RPMI with no additives and suspended over 3ml Ficoll-paque Plus (Amersham Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, U.K.) in a 15ml Falcon tube (Becton and Dickinson, France), then centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 minutes with the centrifuge brake off. While erythrocytes and platelets sink below the Ficoll, the mononuclear cells collect at the interface from where they may be harvested. The harvested cells were washed twice in RPMI with no additives and counted using white cell counting fluid (1% glacial acetic acid plus crystal violet to colour).

2.3. Collection of samples at post-mortem examination

Cats were anaesthetised using a premedicant, xylazine 2% solution (Rompun, Bayer, Bury St. Edmonds, U.K.) at 1.1mg/kg followed by ketamine (Ketaset, Fort Dodge Animal Health, Southampton, U.K.) 20 minutes later at 22mg/kg. Both were administered by the i.m. route.

Blood was collected under full anaesthesia by intracardiac puncture into 50ml Falcon tubes (Becton and Dickinson, France) containing 25ml Alsever's solution (Scottish Diagnostics, Edinburgh, U.K.), and lithium heparin and EDTA blood tubes were used for the collection of plasma and whole blood for analysis by FACS. Mononuclear cells were harvested using Ficoll-paque Plus as described. Before collection of tissues, the cats were euthanased by

intracardiac injection of pentobarbitone sodium (Euthatal, Merial Animal Health Ltd., U.K.).

Lymph nodes, spleen, thymus and femur bones were colleted in 50ml Falcon tubes containing 25ml culture medium (RPMI supplemented with 100µg/ml streptomycin and 100 IU/ml penicillin).

Cells were harvested from lymph nodes, thymus and spleen by dissecting the tissue roughly in culture medium, using sterile scalpel blades. The medium was pipetted into a 50ml Falcon tube. This was repeated until the medium remained clear, indicating that most cells had been harvested from the tissue. The cells were then washed twice in culture medium. The cells were counted using white cell counting fluid, which lyses any remaining red cells. Cell pellets containing at least 10^6 cells were washed twice in PBS and then stored at -70°C until required.

2.4. Cell lines and culture media

The lymphoblastoid cell line Mya-1 (Miyazawa et al. 1989) was grown in RPMI 1640 medium (Gibco Life Technologies, Paisley, UK) supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 μ g/ml streptomycin, 100 IU/ml penicillin, 5 x 10⁻⁵ M 2-mercapto-ethanol, 2mM L-glutamine (complete RPMI medium) and 100 IU/ml human recombinant interleukin-2 (IL-2).

The CrFK(HO6T1) (clone CrFK ID10 cells transfected with the *ras* gene by Dr. D. Spandidos, National Hellenic Research Foundation, Athens, Greece) cells were grown in Dulbecco's modification of Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Gibco Life Technologies, Paisley, UK) supplemented with 10% FBS, 2mM L-glutamine, 100 µg/ml streptomycin and 100 IU/ml penicillin (complete DMEM medium).

The feline fibroblast cell line AH927, transduced with a retroviral vector expressing CXCR4 (AH927 FX4E) (Willett et al. 1998) was cultured in complete DMEM medium and selected with 400µg/ml Geneticin 418.

Peripheral blood monocyte/macrophages were isolated from blood from SPF cats into EDTA. The mononuclear cell population was separated by Ficoll-paque Plus centrifugation and then cultured in 48-well plates (Becton and Dickinson, France), precoated with feline affinity purified IgG (Sigma-Aldrich, U.K.) at 10⁶/well in 500µl of

DMEM containing 2mM glutamine, 10% FBS, 100 IU/ml penicillin, 100µg/ml streptomycin and 50µM 2-ME (complete macrophage medium) and supplemented with 1000 IU/ml recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage-colony stimulating factor (rhGM-CSF) (R and D systems Europe Ltd., Oxon, U.K.) and incubated at 37°C for 60 minutes. The plates were washed three times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) to remove nonadherent cells, fresh medium was added and the plates were incubated for 24-48 hours. The cells were then washed in PBS before being incubated with the virus overnight. The following day the virus was washed from the cells with PBS and fresh medium added and then the cultures were incubated for three days before being tested for viral replication using an RT activity assay (Cavidi Tech, Sweden).

All cell lines were incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ incubator.

2.5. Viruses

2.5.1. Viral stocks

Viruses were collected from samples submitted to the Feline Virus Unit at the University of Glasgow. Mononuclear cells were separated from EDTA anti-coagulated blood by Ficoll-paque Plus centrifugation. The cells were washed and then set up in cultures of 10⁶ PBMC and 2 x 10⁶ Mya-1 cells in 5ml of complete RPMI plus IL-2. Once a cytopathic effect was evident, cultures were expanded by adding 10⁷ Mya-1 cells and suspended in 20 ml complete RPMI plus IL-2. The cultures were tested for p24 production by FIV antigen ELISA (IDEXX, Portland ME) and once positive, supernatants were passed through a 0.45µm filter and cell pellets washed twice in PBS. Both were stored at -70°C until required.

The four viruses used extensively throughout the studies came from cats F0425H, F0556H, F0795H and F0827H. Cat F0425H was a 12 year old male presenting with anorexia, dullness and unilateral iritis and cat F0556H was a 10 year old female presenting with severe gingivitis and oral ulceration. Both cats responded well to treatment and continued to improve and remained free of clinical signs. Cat F0795H was a 15 year old male neuter presenting with dysphagia, retching, gingivitis and weight loss and cat F0827H was an 11 year old female presenting with anorexia, weight loss, jaundice and an abdominal mass. Both of these cats failed to respond to treatment and were euthanased due to their deteriorating condition. The viruses from cats F0425H and F0556H were classified as

asymptomatic isolates and the viruses from cats F0795H and F0827H were classified as symptomatic or terminal isolates.

2.5.2. Viral titration

To titrate each viral stock, 2×10^5 Mya-1 cells were suspended in 250µl of complete RPMI 1640 medium with IL-2. Virus was diluted fivefold from 1:10 to 1:3,906,250. Virus (50µl of each dilution) was added in triplicate and incubated in a humid incubator at 37°C for 60 minutes. The cells were then washed twice with RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 5% FBS, resuspended in 500µl of complete RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with IL-2 and incubated in 48-well plates at 37°C for 7 days.

The cultures were harvested after 7 days. The culture fluids were collected and p24 production was measured by the enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), Petcheck FIV antigen ELISA (IDEXX Corp., Portland, Maine, USA). Subsequently, 50% tissue culture infectious doses (TCID₅₀) were calculated using the Karber formula:

-log the highest concentration – (sum proportion of wells positive – 0.5).log dilution factor = $TCID_{50}$

Once titrated, each virus stock was tested for CXCR4 receptor usage and affinity by conducting a series of AMD3100 blocking assays.

2.5.3. Virus isolation

At intervals during the *in vivo* studies, the presence of virus in PBMCs was detected by culturing 10^6 PBMCs with 2 x 10^6 Mya-1 cells in 5ml of complete RPMI plus IL-2. The cultures were tested for p24 production by FIV antigen ELISA (IDEXX). Once positive, the cells were harvested, washed twice in PBS, pelleted and stored at -70°C. Supernatants were passed through a 0.45µm sterile filter, aliquoted and also stored at -70°C.

2.5.4. Quantitative viral isolation

The infectious viral burden was measured post infection in both *in vivo* studies by the method described by Meers (Meers et al. 1992). PBMCs were seeded into wells of a 96-well plate in 3-fold decreasing numbers $(1 \times 10^4, 3 \times 10^3, 1 \times 10^3, 3 \times 10^2, 1 \times 10^2, 30, 10, 3, 1, 0)$. 50µl of a suspension of Mya-1 cells at 10^6 cells/ml were added to each of the wells to a final volume of 200µl. 50µl of complete RPMI medium supplemented with IL-2

was added to each well on day 4 p.i. Samples were tested on day 7 or 10 post infection for the presence of FIV p24 by ELISA (IDEXX, Portland, ME). Results were calculated using the Reed and Muench formula (Reed and Muench 1937).

2.6. Preparation of virus for inoculation

Viruses for inoculation were diluted to the correct concentration in RPMI medium containing 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and kept on ice prior to use.

2.7. Preparation of DNA

DNA was harvested from PBMCs using a DNA kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) following the manufacturers instructions (based on the principle first described by Boom (Boom et al. 1990)), and stored at -20° C. DNA yield was measured by spectrophotometry at a wavelength of 260nm (Sambrook et al. 1969) and calculated thus:

Concentration of DNA $\mu g/\mu l$ = optical density (260nm) x 50 x dilution factor/1000

2.8. Preparation of RNA

Cell-free plasma was treated with reagents from a QIAamp viral RNA mini kit (Quiagen), following the manufacturers instructions, using the principle first described by Boom (Boom et al. 1990) (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany).

2.9. Statistical analysis

All results were analysed using the software packages SigmaPlot 2001 for windows version 7.0 (Copyright[©] 1986-2001 SPSS Inc.), and SigmaStat for Windows 2.03 (Copyright[©] 1992-1997 SPSS Inc.). Student's t-test was used to compare two groups. Variation between more than two groups was analysed using the analysis of variance method (ANOVA). Where an effect was evident, the groups were then subjected to an All Pairwise Multiple Comparison Procedure (Tukey test) and p values were used to indicate where a statistical difference was present between groups. p values <0.05 were regarded as statistically significant and <0.01 as highly significant.

Chapter Three

IN VITRO TROPISM OF PRIMARY ISOLATES OF FIV

3.1. Introduction

As discussed in Chapter 1, the similarities to HIV make FIV a suitable and practical model for vaccination trials. Protection following vaccination has been achieved using a WIV vaccine derived from the Petaluma strain (FIV-PET), challenging with either the homologous isolate or the closely related FIV-DIXON (Yamamoto et al. 1991; Yamamoto et al. 1993) but not the virulent Glasgow-8 (FIV-GL8) isolate (Hosie et al. 1995). Likewise, protection was achieved with a DNA vaccine using a vif-deleted mutant of the strain FIV-PPR, challenging with the homologous wild type virus FIV-PPR (Lockridge et al. 2000). In an extension of the original studies (Yamamoto et al. 1991), a dual subtype whole inactivated virus (WIV) vaccine has been shown to induce broad spectrum cellular and humoral immunity leading to protection against FIV-BANG and FIV-PET (Pu et al. 2001). Each of these viruses establishes a relatively low viral load. Therefore, there are some concerns that the efficacy of vaccines that have been studied and tested only under laboratory conditions remains unknown in the field, as no protection has been achieved against more virulent isolates such as FIV-GL8, which is considered a representative primary field isolate. To date only one vaccine trial under field conditions has been reported. This provided evidence for protection induced by a cell-associated FIV-M2 (FIV subtype B) strain fixed with paraformaldehyde (Matteucci et al. 2000b).

The range of physiological and genetic properties possessed by isolates in the field is not well understood. The isolates FIV-GL8 and FIV-PET have been studied for many years and possess markedly different properties when studied *in vivo*, under SPF conditions, and *in vitro*. *In vitro* studies show that FIV-PET has a broader cell tropism, infecting PBMCs, thymocytes, IL-2 dependent T lymphocytes and also the fibroblast cell line CrFK (Phillips et al. 1990). Growth of the more virulent FIV-GL8, which has been minimally passaged *in vitro* is restricted to PBMCs, thymocytes and IL-2 dependent T lymphocytes. Consequently, FIV-GL8 is regarded as a primary isolate. Infection of CrFK cells by FIV-GL8 is only achieved after "adaptation" following cocultivation with infected Mya-1 cells. The ability to infect CrFK cells was shown to correlate with an E to K mutation in the third hypervariable region of the envelope glycoprotein resulting in an increased charge of the

V3 loop (Verschoor et al. 1995; Siebelink et al. 1995b). Having undergone this mutation, isolates appear to have a greater affinity for the chemokine receptor CXCR4 (Willett et al. 1998). A similar mutation occurs in HIV during the progression to the AIDS stage that is correlated with a switch in coreceptor usage from the chemokine receptor CCR5 to CXCR4 (Callanan et al. 1996). Therefore, the analogous substitution in the FIV loop was predicted to be involved in CXCR4 binding (Willett et al. 1997a).

In vivo, FIV-PET infection leads to the establishment of low viral and proviral loads in the blood, and CD4:CD8 lymphocyte ratios are maintained. It has been proposed that this relative lack of virulence is the reason why vaccine induced protection has been achieved against challenge with this virus. In contrast, FIV-GL8 infection induces high viral and proviral loads, inversion of the CD4:CD8 lymphocyte ratio (Hosie et al. 2000), and in some cases expansion of the CD8 T lymphocyte population (Willett et al. 1993). This isolate is resistant to vaccine-induced immunity. It is unknown whether FIV-PET and FIV-GL8 represent distinct groups of FIV isolates or whether they fall within a population possessing a wide range of physiological and genetic properties. The aim of the studies in this chapter was to investigate the *in vitro* properties of a panel of isolates derived from samples submitted to the Feline Virus Unit (F.V.U.) diagnostic virology laboratory at the University of Glasgow Veterinary School.

A panel of 45 isolates was gathered from submissions to the FVU. Following a telephone follow-up survey, the isolates were classified into three categories; 1. animals which were euthanased due to terminal illness (symptomatic-s), 2. animals which responded to treatment but had recurrent clinical signs (responders-r) and 3. animals which had remained free of clinical signs since FIV was diagnosed (asymptomatic-as). Isolates were subjected to a range of tropism studies: 1. AMD blocking assays (n=15), 2. tropism on CrFK cells (n=17), 3. tropism on AH927 cells expressing CXCR4 (n=29). Using these assays it was hoped that the isolates could be grouped according to their physiological properties and to determine whether FIV-GL8 and FIV-PET are representative of these groups or form outlying strains. Due to limited data for the responder group viruses, studies of them were discontinued early in the course of the project.

3.2. Materials and Methods

3.2.1. Cell lines and culture conditions.

Culture conditions for the cell lines Mya-1, CrFK(HO6T1), AH927 FX4E are described in Chapter 2.

3.2.2. Assays

3.2.2.1. Viral titrations

Initially the viruses were titrated using the T-lymphoblastoid cell line Mya-1 as described in Section 2.5.2.

3.2.2.2. AMD3100 Blocking assays

 2×10^5 cells were incubated in triplicate with 250µl complete RPMI medium containing fivefold dilutions of AMD3100 from 10µg/ml to 16ng/ml. The cells were incubated at 37°C for 60 minutes. 50µl of FIV (100 TCID₅₀) was added to each tube, and then incubated for 60 minutes. The cells were then washed twice using RPMI with 5% FBS. The cells were then resuspended in 500µl of complete RPMI 1640 containing IL-2 and incubated in a 48-well plate. On day 7 the p24 production was measured by ELISA (FIV p24 antigen ELISA, IDEXX).

3.2.2.3. Tropism on CrFK(HO6T1) cells

 2×10^{6} Mya-1 cells were incubated overnight with 1ml of each stock in a total volume of 5ml in T25 tissue culture flasks. The following day the cells were washed, resuspended in fresh medium and cultured until syncytium formation was evident, when culture fluids were tested for FIV p24 by ELISA.

When infected Mya cultures were established, CrFK(HO6T1) cells were set up overnight at 2 x 10^5 cells per T25 tissue culture flask (2 flasks per isolate). The following day the CrFK(HO6T1) cells were incubated with 2ml cell-free culture fluid from infected Mya-1 cells or were cocultivated with 2ml of infected Mya-1 cell culture and 3ml of complete DMEM medium. The cultures were incubated for two days before washing and subculturing the CrFK(HO6T1) cells. Following positive p24 ELISA results, cell pellets were frozen as a source of DNA for amplifying *env*, and the cultures were maintained and tested weekly to determine if persistently infected cell lines could be generated.

3.2.2.4. CXCR4 usage AH927 FX4E assays

The feline fibroblast cell line AH927 is resistant to infection by FIV but when transduced with a retroviral vector expressing CXCR4 (AH927 FX4E) the cells become susceptible to infection with FIV-PET (Willett et al. 1998). Therefore, the AH927 FX4E cell line was used to determine CXCR4 usage by the panel of field isolates.

 10^4 AH927 FX4E cells were seeded per well of a 48-well plate 500µl of complete DMEM medium and were incubated overnight in a 37°C humid incubator. The following day, the medium was aspirated gently and 250µl of virus stock was added to each well and incubated for one hour. Each well was then washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS). 500µl of fresh culture fluid was added and the cultures were incubated in a humid incubator for 10 days, sampling 25 µl of culture fluid on days 4, 7 and 10. Culture fluids were stored at -70°C until assayed for RT activity using the Lenti-RT activity assay (Cavidi Tech, Sweden).

3.2.2.5. AH927 FX4E assays

Cell pellets were harvested for DNA preparation 24 hours after viral infection of AH927 FX4E cells in order to determine the usage of CXCR4 for viral entry. Viral DNA was detected by PCR using primers designed for the *gag* region of the FIV genome 5'-GGG ATT AGA CAC TAG GCC ATC TA-3' and 5'-GAC CAG GTT TTC CAC ATT TAT TA-3' to amplify a 871bp fragment. A control cellular DNA fragment was amplified using primers designed for the β-actin gene 5'-ATC TGG CAC CAC ACC TTC TAC AAT GAG CTG CG-3' and 5'-CGT CAT CCT GCT TGC TGA TCC ACA TCT GC-3'. Reactions were denatured at 94°C for 3 minutes followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 50°C for 1 minute and extension at 72°C for 1 minute with a final extension of 10 minutes at 72°C. HiFidelity reaction mix (Roche) was used as per manufacturers instructions, on a GeneAmp 9700 thermo-cycler (Perkin Elmer). The PCR product was identified following resolution on a 1% agarose electrophoresis gel containing ethidium bromide.

3.3. Statistical Analysis

Results were analysed as described in Section 2.9. Highly significant results with p<0.01 are denoted by (**) and results which are significant, p<0.05, denoted by (*).

3.4. Results

3.4.1. A proportion of FIV isolates can infect CrFK cells.

It is known that some isolates may become adapted for growth in the CrFK cell line (Phillips et al. 1990). Therefore, we tested our panel of field isolates from asymptomatic and symptomatic cats to determine whether isolates from either of these categories more readily adapted for growth in CrFK cells. None of 8 isolates from asymptomatic and 2/9 isolates from symptomatic cats were shown to replicate in CrFK(HO6T1) cells following cell-free infection. These proportions were not significantly different (see Figure 3.a. and Table 3.a.). Similarly, although higher proportions of isolates (5/8 asymptomatic and 6/8 symptomatic) replicated in CrFK(HO6T1)s following cocultivation with infected Mya-1 cells, no significant differences were observed. Three asymptomatic isolates (F0291H_{as}, F0513H_{as}, F1412H_{as}) and two symptomatic isolates (F559H_s and F1128_s) failed to produce a persistent infection. F0835H_s, although consistently positive throughout the study, always gave low positive readings, just above the assay cut-off when measured by p24 FIV antigen ELISA (see Figure 3.b. and Table 3.b.). In conclusion, the CrFK(HO6T1)-tropism demonstrated by our isolates from different stages of disease are not significantly different.

3.4.2. Cell-free infection of the CrFK cell line CrFK(HO6T1) cells was observed with only 2/17 isolates tested.

Productive infection of CRFK(HO6T1) cells was observed following cell-free infection with two isolates from symptomatic cats. F0795H_s produced a positive FIVp24 ELISA reading on day 17 post infection (p.i.) (Table 3.a.) but did not result in a persistent infection. F0827H_s was positive for FIVp24 by ELISA from day 31 onwards (see Figure 3.a., Table 3.a.), suggesting that adaptation had occurred in this isolate. Mya cell infection with the latter isolate was not significantly blocked by 400ng/ml AMD3100 (see Table 3.c.), indicating that perhaps F0827H_s bound to the coreceptor with a higher affinity compared to F0795H_s.

			_					
Isolate	7 days p.i.	14 days p.i.	17 days p.i.	21 days p.i.	24 days p.i.	28 days p.i.	31 days p.i.	35 days p.i.
		R	ecurrent	t clinica	l signs			
F0135H _r	0.24	0.13	nd	0.1	nd	0.23	nd	0.23
		A	sympto	matic is	olates			
F0291H _{as}	0.2	0.14	nd	0.09	nd	0.21	nd	0.21
F0359H _{as}	0.3	0.13	nd	0.1	nd	0.23	nd	0.23
F0418H _{as}	0.16	0.15	nd	0.28	nd	0.20	nd	0.18
F0425H _{as}	0.19	0.14	nd	0.28	nd	0.20	nd	0.19
F0513H _{as}	0.14	0.18	nd	0.27	nd	0.23	nd	0.23
F0556H _{as}	0.17	0.14	nd	0.32	nd	0.21	nd	0.18
F1412H _{as}	0.29	0.13	nd	0.08	nd	0.25	nd	0.20
		•	Sympto	matic is	olates	<u> </u>		
F0559H _s	0.18	0.1	nd	0.08	nd	0.25	nd	0.25
F0795H _s	1.21	0.15	1.04	0.13	0.1	0.11	0.13	0.22
F0827H₅	0.78	0.14	0.13	0.23	0.21	0.22	1.46	2.59
F0835H _s	0.11	0.05	0.1	0.1	0.07	0.1	0.11	0.21
F0894H _s	0.86	0.12	0.16	0.17	0.09	0.13	0.12	0.22
F0973H₅	0.05	0.05	0.14	0.11	0.06	0.15	0.2	0.18
F1029H _s	0.23	0.12	nd	0.11	nd	0.24	nd	0.24
F1115Hs	0.19	0.11	nd	0.1	nd	0.27	nd	0.27
F1128H _s	0.18	0.09	nd	0.18	nd	0.25	nd	0.25

Table 3.a. Cell-free infection of HO6T1 cells.

FIV p24 read at optical density A650nm.

nd = not done.

Isolate	7 days p.i.	14 days p.i.	17 days p.i.	21 days p.i.	24 days p.i.	28 days p.i.	31 days p.i.	35 days p.i.
		Re	ecurren	t clinical	signs	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
F0135H _r	1.49	0.65	nd	4.68	nd	6	nd	4.54
		А	sympto	matic is	olates			
F0291H _{as}	2.2	0.17	nd	0.1	nd	0.18	nd	0.24
F0359H _{as}	2.05	0.3	nd	1.36	nd	5.59	nd	4.98
F0418H _{as}	4.07	6	nd	5.58	nd	nd	nd	0.24
F0425H _{as}	1.85	6	nd	5.58	nd	nd	nd	nd
F0513H _{as}	3.1	0.31	nd	0.37	nd	nd	nd	nd
F0556H _{as}	1.2	4.09	nd	6	nd	nd	nd	nd
F1412H _{as}	1.59	0.2	nd	0.24	nd	0.17	nd	nd
			Sympto	matic is	olates	- - ,	<u> </u>	
F0559H _s	0.94	0.2	nd	0.1	nd	0.25	nd	0.25
F0795H _s	6	4.79	nd	4.64	nd	nd	nd	nd
F0827H _s	6	2.43	nd	6	nd	nd	nd	nd
F0835Hs	6	0.68	nd	0.46	nd	nd	nd	nd
F0894H _s	6	1.71	nd	3.45	nd	nd	nd	nd
F0973H _s	6	6	nd	5.24	nd	nd	nd	nd
F1029H _s	0.83	0.12	nd	0.18	nd	0.16	nd	0.23
F1115H _s	1.13	0.3	nd	6	nd	6	nd	6
F1128H _s	0.98	0.14	nd	0.13	nd	0.18	nd	0.71

 Table 3.b.
 Cocultivation of HO6T1 cells with infected Mya-1 cells.

FIV p24 read at optical density A650nm.

nd = not done.



p24 production (A650nm)



Cell-free viral supernatant was incubated with CrFK(HO6T1) cells for 12 hours. The cultures were washed and incubated with fresh medium at 37° C in a CO₂ incubator, subculturing twice weekly. p24 production was measured by FIV p24 antigen ELISA (Idexx). None of the asymptomatic, but 2 of the symptomatic isolates (F0795H_s (not shown) and F0827H_s) resulted in productive infection.

Figure 3.b. Cocultivation of CrFK(HO6T1) cells with infected Mya-1 cells.



Infected Mya-1 cells were cocultivated with CrFK(HO6T1) cells for 12 hours. The cultures were washed and incubated with fresh medium at 37°C in a CO₂ incubator, subculturing twice weekly. p24 production was measured by FIV p24 antigen ELISA (Idexx). No significant difference between groups was noted with respect to the ability to infect CrFK(HO6T1)s by cocultivation.

AMD concentration ng/ml TCID₅₀ 10000 2000 400 80 16 Isolate ** ** ---4680 F0795H_s ** ** 8130 F0827H_s ++ ++ ** 40 F0835H_s ** ** ** F0894H_s 4790 F0973H_s ** ** * 70

Table 3.c. AMD blocking assays for isolates from cats in terminal stage of disease.

Table 3.d. AMD blocking assays for isolates from cats with recurrence of clinical signs after treatment.

			AMD CO	ncentratio	n ng/ml	
Isolate	TCID ₅₀	10000	2000	400	80	16
F0135H _r	40	**	**	*		
F0667H _r	110	**	**	**		
F1844H _r	1620	**	**	**		

Table 3.e. AMD blocking assays for isolates from cats free of clinical signs after treatment.

			AMD CO	ncentratio	n ng/ml	
Isolate	TCID ₅₀	10000	2000	400	80	16
F0418H _{as}	330	**	**	**		
F0425H _{as}	23440	**	**	**		
F0513H _{as}	110	**	**	**		
F0556H _{as}	4680	**	**			
F0669H _{as}	190	**	**			

Mya-1 cells were infected with field isolate viral supernatants and incubated in the presence of AMD3100. The asterisks demonstrate the concentration of AMD3100, which resulted in significant blocking of Mya-1 cell infection by AMD3100. ****** = p<0.01, ***** = p<0.05.

3.4.3. Increased use of CXCR4 by symptomatic isolates.

Since infection of CrFK cells is CXCR4-dependent, the ability of our isolates to utilise CXCR4 was tested. AH927 cells, which are not naturally susceptible to FIV, were transduced with a retroviral vector expressing feline CXCR4 to generate the cell line AH927 FX4E, which is susceptible to infection with laboratory-adapted isolates of FIV (Willett et al. 1998). The results of a screening assay illustrate the varying degrees to which the field isolates can utilise the chemokine receptor CXCR4 (Figure 3.c.). The field isolates were compared to the primary isolates FIV-GL8 and FIV-K1(19K1), which are not CXCR4-tropic along with the laboratory-adapted FIV-PET and chimaeric clone FIV-K1pb(19K1pbam6c) (a K1 backbone with a CrFK-tropic env of FIV-AM6c) which are known to be CXCR4-tropic (Phillips et al. 1990; Siebelink et al. 1995b). A trend was evident, with a higher proportion (9/14) of the symptomatic isolates utilising CXCR4 and inducing higher levels of RT activity than the asymptomatic isolates (5/11). The primary isolate FIV-GL8 and the majority of the isolates from asymptomatic cats did not establish infection. Of the symptomatic isolates that were able to infect AH927 FX4E cells, only F0795H_s and F0827H_s were able to infect CrFK cells by cell-free infection, confirming that cell-free infection of CrFK cells is mediated by the chemokine receptor CXCR4.

Semi-quantitative AH927 FX4E entry assays using PCR to detect viral Gag proteins confirmed the efficiency with which FIV-PET uses CXCR4 (see Figure 3.d.). The progeny virus F0795H_s which was harvested following cocultivation of infected Mya-1 cells with CrFK(HO6T1) cells, also efficiently used CXCR4. Faint product bands were evident in lanes 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, and 9. However, these may have been attributable to either virus particles remaining adherent to the cells after washing or to very small amounts of virus that successfully infected these cells.

3.4.4. Inhibition of infection by AMD 3100 varied between the isolates

The bicyclam AMD3100, a CXCR4 antagonist, has been used to demonstrate CXCR4 usage by different isolates (Egberink et al. 1999; Richardson et al. 1999). AMD3100 blocking assays demonstrate marked differences in CXCR4 affinity between the isolates FIV-GL8 and FIV-PET (see Figure 3.e.). FIV-PET infection of Mya-1 cells was only inhibited significantly ($p\leq0.01$) by very high concentrations of the selective CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 (10µg/ml). In contrast, infection of Mya-1 cells by FIV-GL8 was



Figure 3.c. Cell-free infection of AH927 FX4E cells.

RT activity (A405nm)



250μl of virus stock was incubated with AH927FX4E for 1 hour at 37°C. The cells were then washed and incubated at 37°C before testing for viral replication by RT activity assay.

Figure 3.d. AH927 FX4E entry assay.



AH927 FX4E cells were incubated for 60 minutes with virus supernatant or mock infected with DMEM as a control. After washing twice with PBS, the cells were incubated at 37°C in a CO₂ incubator for 24 hours. The cells were harvested for DNA preparation and analysis for viral DNA by PCR using primers for the *gag* region of the provirus and the cellular gene β-actin. Product was visualised on a 1% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide. Top: gag PCR products, bottom: β-actin PCR product. Lanes: 1. 1 Kb ladder (Gibco, U.K.), 2. F0425H_w, 3. F0556H_w, 4. F0795H, 5. F0827H_w, 6.795B, 7. 827A, 8. 827B, 9. FIV-GL8₄₁₄, 10. FIV-PET,11. CONTROL 12. 1Kb ladder. In the top section of the gel 795B and FIV-PET have positive bands. "A" and "B" isolates are derived from cell-free infection and cocultivation of CrFK(HO6T1) cells, respectively.





production

p24



AMD3100 blocking assays for both the prototype viruses to demonstrate the affinity for CXCR4 possessed by FIV-GL8 (top) and FIV-PET (bottom).

** highlight the AMD3100 concentration when significant block to infection of Mya-1 cells was produced.

inhibited significantly ($p \le 0.01$) by very low concentrations of AMD3100 (400ng/ml), consistent with the latter isolate having a lower affinity for CXCR4.

The panel of field isolates demonstrated a range of abilities to utilise CXCR4 alone (see Tables 3.c. - 3.e.) with 8/13 (60%) behaving in a manner similar to FIV-GL8. Figure 3.f. illustrates the effect of AMD3100 on infection of Mya-1 cells with two isolates from asymptomatic cats and two isolates from symptomatic cats. Infection of Mya-1 cells by all four isolates was significantly blocked by 2mg/ml AMD3100 and it was concluded that asymptomatic isolates could not be differentiated from symptomatic isolates only on the basis of the ability of AMD3100 to inhibit infection of Mya-1 cells.

3.5. Discussion

It is unknown whether FIV-GL8 and FIV-PET represent distinct groups of FIV viral isolates into which field isolates fall, or whether a range of biological phenotypes exist. Furthermore, it is unknown whether the correlation between in vitro and in vivo characteristics possessed by these well-characterised isolates may be extrapolated to studies of field isolates. Infection with the more virulent FIV-GL8 isolate induces high viral loads, an inversion of the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio and FIV-GL8 is resistant to vaccine-induced immunity in vivo. This is paralleled by restricted tropism in vitro (infecting PBMCs, thymocytes and IL-2 dependent Mya-1 cells) and a high degree of susceptibility to the CXCR4 antagonist, AMD3100. In contrast, infection with FIV-PET leads to lower viral loads and no reduction in the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio; FIV-PET is susceptible to vaccine-induced protection and in vitro displays broader tropism and greater resistance to AMD3100. The knowledge gathered from studies of these two isolates led to the hypothesis that the greater ability to utilise CXCR4 in vitro may correlate with reduced virulence in vivo. The evolution of the clone $FIV-PET_{F14}$ to a more virulent clone in two cats 135 weeks p.i. was found to correlate with reduced affinity for CXCR4 in vitro (Hosie et al. 2002). However, it is unknown whether chemokine receptor usage and viral phenotype evolve with FIV disease progression, as has been documented in HIVinfected individuals (Schuitemaker et al. 1992; Connor and Ho 1994; Cornelissen et al. 1995).

AMD blocking assays conducted on the panel of field isolates revealed a varied pattern of CXCR4 affinity. This variation may reflect different tropisms between isolates because of mixed virus populations. It is known that the viral phenotype within HIV infected



Figure 3.f. AMD blocking assays for field isolates.

AMD Concentration ng/ml

AMD3100 blocking assays on Mya-1 cells demonstrate the affinity for CXCR4 possessed by the field isolates. No significant patterns were associated with stage of disease. Concentrations of AMD3100 where significant blocking of infection occurred are shown with ** (p<0.01).

respectively (Verschoor et al. 1995; Siebelink et al. 1995b). Hence, therein on Critic(10671) cells further defines the ability of an isolate to use CXCR4. Of gear interest in this study were the positive FIVp24 madings recorded for isolate 50795H, on day 17 (see Table 3.a.) and isolate F0827H, which produced a persistent infection from day 31 onwards (see Table 3.a.). This suggests that these isolates may have acquised the ability to use CXCR4 during a period of laboratory adaptation, similar to that documented for FIV-PET (Phillips et al. 1990).

individuals is dynamic throughout the course of infection. Lymphotropic virus predominates early in infection before seroconversion and during the decline to the AIDSphase but monocytotropic forms predominate from the acute stage and through the asymptomatic phase (Cornelissen et al. 1995). However, some individuals are infected with a predominance of one phenotype over another regardless of stage (Cornelissen et al. 1995). FIV shows similar tropism during each stage of infection, the principal target on infection being the CD4⁺ T lymphocyte subpopulation which decreases rapidly as the disease progresses to the immune deficiency stage (Ackley et al. 1990; Torten et al. 1991; Hoffman-Fezer et al. 1992; Schuitemaker et al. 1992; Connor and Ho 1994; Cornelissen et al. 1995). The prevalence of monocyte/macrophage variants was shown to increase by 40-95% at the time of the acute illness (Beebe et al. 1994), and through the asymptomatic stage to the chronic stages FIV can be detected increasingly in the CD8⁺ T lymphocytes and IgG⁺ B cells (English et al. 1993; Beebe et al. 1994; Dean et al. 1996). The varied pattern of blocking by AMD3100 may be accounted for by the selected isolates having different tropisms and therefore variable efficiency of infection of Mya-1 cells.

Infection of CrFK(HO6T1) cells is reliant on the ability of the isolate to utilise CXCR4 alone, for viral entry (Hosie et al. 1998a). FIV-PET can infect CrFK(HO6T1) cells, an infection which can be completely blocked by AMD3100 or SDF-1 α , whereas FIV-PET infection of Mya-1 cells is only blocked partially by incubation with AMD3100. This suggests that Mya-1 cells express a second as yet unidentified, receptor for FIV, as well as CXCR4 (Hosie et al. 1998b; de Parseval and Elder 2001). Laboratory adaptation can result in virus that has acquired the ability to utilise CXCR4 alone for infection. The laboratoryadapted isolate FIV-PET was found to contain a glutamate to lysine mutation in the third variable region of the env gene when infecting CrFK(HO6T1) cells. Laboratory-adaptation was found to occur in two other isolates FIV-UT113 and FIV-PBAM6c, which were able to infect CrFKs following a glutamate to lysine mutation at amino acid position 407 or 409 respectively (Verschoor et al. 1995; Siebelink et al. 1995b). Hence, tropism on CrFK(HO6T1) cells further defines the ability of an isolate to use CXCR4. Of great interest in this study were the positive FIVp24 readings recorded for isolate F0795H_s on day 17 (see Table 3.a.) and isolate F0827H_s which produced a persistent infection from day 31 onwards (see Table 3.a.). This suggests that these isolates may have acquired the ability to use CXCR4 during a period of laboratory adaptation, similar to that documented for FIV-PET (Phillips et al. 1990).

Using the AH927 FX4E infection assays, a panel of field isolates was screened for the ability to utilise CXCR4. A greater proportion of the symptomatic isolates demonstrated the ability to utilise CXCR4. Undiluted virus stock was used as only the ability to infect these cells was investigated. It would be interesting to investigate the role of virus concentration on efficiency of infection. F0795H_s and F0827H_s (both isolated from terminally ill cats) were able to use CXCR4 to infect AH927 FX4E cells and infected CrFK(HO6T1) cells without cocultivation with infected Mya-1 cells, at days 17 and 31 p.i. suggesting the existence of virus within each of the virus populations with the fitness to infect CrFK cells leading to expanded host cell tropism. In contrast to the CrFK(HO6T1) and AH927 FX4E-tropism studies, only F0795H_s (cocultivated) was able to enter AH927 FX4E cells in 24 hours and replicate similarly to FIV-PET, suggesting that this virus had adapted to use CXCR4 efficiently alone. Virus from cell free infection of CrFK(HO6T1) cells by F0795H_s was not available. Faint bands of PCR product were detected in other samples but it is not known if these were due to only very small amounts of virus penetrating the cells or if residual virus remained adherent to the cell membrane after washing. These results suggest that infection of AH927 FX4E cells by field isolates is inefficient compared to laboratory-adapted strains such as FIV-PET. The successful infection of AH927 cells by several isolates, both asymptomatic and symptomatic, may have arisen due to mixed populations of phenotypes occurring within each isolate, as has been described previously for HIV.

The field isolates displayed a broad range of biological behaviour *in vitro*. Isolates $F0795H_s$ and $F0827H_s$ infected CrFK(HO6T1)s without cocultivation with infected Mya-1 cells and also infected AH927 FX4E cells using CXCR4 alone. Interestingly, both of these isolates originated from cats with AIDS-like stage disease, suggesting that the CXCR4 phenotype may predominate in FIV infection as disease progresses to feline AIDS.

In these studies viruses utilising CXCR4 alone for viral entry (i.e. FIV-PET like) were isolated predominantly from terminally ill cats, whereas isolates from asymptomatic cats had a lesser ability to utilise CXCR4 alone (i.e. FIV-GL8 like). Viruses in the field are most likely to be transmitted from asymptomatic cats, which are still able to behave and interact with other cats normally. Therefore, the virus phenotype in the field with the highest transmission rate is likely to be that of the FIV-GL8 type. This has implications for future vaccines studies, as FIV-GL8 remains resistant to vaccine-induced immunity.

Chapter Four

STUDIES ON THE PATHOGENESIS OF FIELD ISOLATES OF FIV

4.1. Introduction

The experiments described in Chapter 3 indicated that viruses isolated from cats in the terminal stages of infection may be more likely to infect cells via CXCR4 alone than isolates from cats in the asymptomatic phase. During HIV infection, a similar pattern has been observed in a proportion of patients, in whom CXCR4 and T lymphocyte-tropic, SI viruses appear at the time when AIDS develops (Tersmette et al. 1989a; Schuitemaker et al. 1992; Koot et al. 1993; Connor et al. 1997). SI viruses infect T cell lines and induce syncytia in MT-2 cells (Åsjo et al. 1986; Cheng-Mayer et al. 1988; Tersmette et al. 1989a; Tersmette et al. 1989b; Koot et al. 1992). From these observations it has been suggested that SI, CXCR4-tropic viruses are more pathogenic than the CCR5-tropic viruses that predominate in the early stages of HIV infection (Schuitemaker et al. 1992; Zhu et al. 1993; Connor et al. 1993b), and may cause the rapid progression of disease in the patients from whom they were isolated. However, an alternative reason for the appearance of the CXCR4-tropic viruses is that they are a consequence of the developing immunodeficiency rather than its cause. Clearly it is not possible to distinguish between these alternatives by direct experimentation in man.

Having established that CrFK-tropic FIV isolates were present in cats in the terminal stages of infection, it was possible to test whether these viruses were more pathogenic for cats than isolates from asymptomatic cats that were not solely CXCR4-tropic. The results of these experiments might help to resolve the issue of the relevance of the CXCR4-tropic viruses in the development of both human and feline AIDS.

In this chapter, experiments are described in which cats were inoculated with four representative FIV isolates from either terminally ill cats or cats with no clinical signs in order to compare directly their pathogenicity. These were named as asymptomatic isolates or symptomatic isolates in common with human terminology. In addition, for comparison, control cats were inoculated with matched doses of the well-characterised FIV-GL8₄₁₄. The extent of virus replication of each isolate was determined by the measurement of viral

burden by three methods: proviral DNA in PBMCs, infectious virus released from PBMC and plasma viral RNA. At the end of the experiment, at post-mortem examination 15 weeks after infection, the proportions of cells with proviral DNA in lymph nodes, bone marrow and thymus were also determined.

4.2. Materials and Methods

4.2.1. Inoculation of cats

Ten 13 week old specific pathogen free kittens were assigned at random to five groups of two kittens. Four groups were inoculated with the field isolates and one group received the molecular clone FIV-GL8₄₁₄. Isolates F0425H_{as} and F0556H_{as} were from asymptomatic cats and F0795H_s and F0827H_s were from terminally ill (symptomatic) cats (see Table 4.a.). Each cat was inoculated with 250 tissue culture infectious doses (TCID₅₀) by the intra-muscular (i.m.) route (as determined by titration on Myas – see Section 2.5.2.).

4.2.2. Collection of samples

4.2.2.1. Blood samples

Blood samples were collected into EDTA on the day of inoculation and then at three-week intervals until 15 weeks post inoculation when post-mortem examinations were conducted. Routine haematological examinations were carried out on each sample. The plasma was removed and PBMCs were isolated following Ficoll-Hypaque centrifugation as described in Section 2.2. 10⁶ PBMCs were washed twice in PBS, pelleted, snap-frozen in dry ice and stored at -70°C until required for proviral load analysis. The remaining PBMCs were stored frozen in liquid nitrogen for QVI.

4.2.2.2. Tissue samples

Mesenteric and peripheral lymph nodes (retropharyngeal, submandibular, axillary and popliteal) and thymus were collected post-mortem as described in Section 2.3. Pellets of 10^6 cells were washed twice in PBS and snap-frozen in dry ice and stored at -70°C until further analysed by real time PCR.

Cat number	Virus inoculum
A701	F0425H _{as}
A702	F0425H _{as}
A703	F0556H _{as}
A704	F0556H _{as}
A705	F0795H₅
A706	F0795H₅
A707	F0827H₅
A708	F0827H₅
A709	GL8414
A710	GL8414

 Table 4.a.
 Cat numbers and viral isolate received.

as = asymptomatic isolate, s = symptomatic isolate.

4.2.2.3. Collection of bone marrow cells

A femur from each animal was collected post-mortem into a 50ml Falcon tube (Becton and Dickinson, France) containing RPMI supplemented with antibiotics (see Chapter 2). The ends of each femur were removed and the marrow pulp was removed by washing through with medium. The pulp was then washed twice with RPMI and pellets of approximately 10^6 cells were washed twice in PBS and snap-frozen in dry ice and stored at -70°C until required.

4.2.3. Real time RT-PCR and PCR

4.2.3.1. Detection of mismatches in the primer and probe sites

A region of the gag gene of each field isolate was amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using primers GAG660f (5'-GGC CAT TAA GAG ATG (CT)AG TAA-3') and GAG1837r (5'-GAC CAG GTT TTC CAC ATT TAT TA-3') and sequenced to determine the sequences in the Taqman primer and probe binding sites. The reaction was performed on a Perkin Elmer GeneAmp PCR system 9700 PCR machine. After the initial denaturation of 94°C for 3 minutes, amplification was achieved by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 50°C for 60 seconds, elongation at 72°C for 60 seconds and a final elongation stage at 72°C for 10 minutes. The PCR product was checked on a 1% agarose gel before cloning into pCR®BluntII-TOPO® vector (Invitrogen, U.K.) following the manufacturer's instructions and sequenced on an ABI capillary sequencer with Big Dye Terminator 2, using the methods described by Sanger and Rosenblum (Sanger et al. 1977; Rosenblum et al. 1997) and primers M13f (5'-GTC GTG ACT GGG AAA AC-3') and M13r (5'-GTC CTT TGT CGA TAC TG-3'). Analysis of results was carried out using the Wisconsin GCG sequence analysis package. Sequence data were analysed using Seqed and BESTFIT (Smith and Waterman 1981) and sequences were compared using BLAST (Lipman and Pearson 1988) (National Centre for **Biotechnology Information**).

4.2.3.2. Measurement of proviral load

The proviral load of PBMCs was measured by real-time PCR. The primers used were FIV0771f (5'- AGA ACC TGG TGA TAT ACC AGA GAC-3') and FIV1081r (5'-TTG GGT CAA GTG CTA CAT ATT G-3'). The probe used with this combination was

FIV1010p (5'-FAM-TAT GCC TGT GGA GGG CCT TCC T-TAMRA-3'). The accumulation of PCR product was measured through the dual labelled Taqman probe (Heid et al. 1996). Primers FIV0771f and FIV1010p have been shown previously to detect several subtype-A viruses, namely FIV-PET, FIV-GL8 and FIV-AM6 (Klein et al. 1999). The reaction mixture contained 10mM Tris (pH 8.3), 50mM KCl, 3mM MgCl₂, 200 nM dATP, dCTP, dGTP, and 400 nM dUTP, 300nM of each primer, 200nM of the fluorogenic probe and 2.5 units of Taq DNA polymerase. The PCR cycle employed an initial denaturation step of 95°C for 2 minutes followed by amplification for 45 cycles of 15 seconds at 95°C and 60 seconds at 60°C. The emission of fluorescence from the probe was measured on-line on the sequence detector system ABI 7700 (Perkin Elmer, Foster City, California). Standards prepared from FIV-GL8 in fourfold dilutions (copy numbers ranged from 9.5 to 155,833 copy numbers/5µl) were used in each run.

The DNA content per PCR reaction was assessed by amplifying 18S rDNA genes for each reaction using primers rDNA343f (5'-CCA TCG AAC GTC TGC CCT A-3'), rDNA409r (5'-TCA CCC GTG GTC ACC ATG-3') and probe rDNA370p (5'-FAM-CGA TGG TGG TCG CCG TGC CTA-TAMRA-3') (Klein et al. 2000). Each reaction was carried out in duplicate.

4.2.3.3. Measurement of viral RNA load

The viral load in plasma was quantified by real-time reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR) using the same primers as described in proviral load section and then repeated with the 1416p system (1360f 5'-GCA GAA GCA AGA TTT GCA CCA-3', 1416p 5'FAM-TGC AGT GTA GAG CAT GGT ATC TTG AGG CA-TAMRA-3', 1437r 5'-AGG AAA ATT GGC CGC CAT A-3'). The 25 μ l samples contained 12.5 μ l of 2 x Thermoscript Reaction Mix (Platinum quantitative RT-PCRKit; Life Technologies, Karlsruhe, Germany), a 300nM concentration of each primer, a 200nM concentration of the fluorogenic probe, 0.5 μ l of the Thermoscript Plus/Platinum *Taq* Enzyme mix, 20U of RNascOUT (Life Technologies), and 5 μ l of the sample. A reverse transcription step of 30 minutes at 60°C was followed by a denaturation step, 5 minutes at 95°C and 60 seconds at 60°C for 45 cycles.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Proviral loads

4.3.1.1. Investigation of primer mismatches

Our aim was to compare the viral and proviral loads in cats infected with the field isolates using the primers FIV0771f and FIV1081r that were designed to be 100% homologous to the FIV subtype A isolates FIV PET (Genebank accession number M25381), FIV PPR (M36968), FIV ZURICH 1 (X57002), FIV UTRECHT 1 (X68019). Firstly, the sequences of the *gag* gene of each field isolate were determined so that any mismatches of sequence in the regions of the primers and the probe binding sites could be identified. Only F0795H_s had a mismatch in the forward primer at position 13. In the probe region only one isolate (F0556H_{as}) had a mismatches at position 21. In the reverse primer region isolates F0556H_{as}.

Within the 1416p system numerous primer mismatches were found in the field isolate sequences. Isolate F0827II_s has two mismatches in the forward and reverse primers at three and seven and seven and thirteen respectively. F0795H_s has one mismatch in the forward primer at nucleotide seven and one in the reverse primer at nucleotide seven. Lastly, isolates $F0425H_{as}$ has one mismatch in the forward primer at nucleotide one and two mismatches in the reverse primer at nucleotide seven and ten and a further mismatch in the probe at nucleotide fourteen (see Figure 4.a.). The 1010p system was thought the more reliable due to the smaller number of mismatches present within the field isolate sequences.

4.3.1.2. PBMC proviral loads

When the proviral loads were compared, it was evident that there was a trend for higher proviral loads to be recorded in the recipients of the asymptomatic isolate, with peak proviral loads ranging from 5.2% (A704) to 26.7% (A703) of cells infected (Figure 4.b.). In contrast, cats receiving symptomatic isolates recorded peak proviral loads of only 0.78% (A705) to 4.3% (A707). Proviral loads continued to increase until the end of the study at 15 weeks p.i. in 3/4 of asymptomatic recipients whereas the proviral load of cat A703 peaked at 9 weeks p.i. (see Figure 4.c.). The proviral loads of two cats inoculated with

Figure 4.a. Primer mismatches.

Primer Sequence

FIV0771f

FIV-GL8	5'-AGA ACC TGG TGA TAT ACC AGA GAC-3'
425	5'-AGA ACC TGG TGA TAT ACC AGA GAC-3'
556	5'-AGA ACC TGG TGA TAT ACC AGA GAC-3'
795	5'-AGA ACC TGG TGA AAT ACC AGA GAC-3'
827	5'-AGA ACC TGG TGA TAT ACC AGA GAC-3'

FIV1081r

FIV-GL8	5'-TTG GGT CAA GTG CTA CAT ATT G-3'
425	5'-TTG GGT CAA GTG CTA CAT ATT G-3'
556	5'-TTG GGT CAA GTG CTA CAT ACT G-3'
795	5'-TTG GGT CTA GTG CTA CAT ATT G-3'
827	5'-TTG GGT CAA GTG CTA CAT ATT G-3'

FIV1010p

FIV-GL8	5'-FAM-TAT GCC TGT GGA GGG CCT TCC T-TAMRA-3'
425	5'-FAM-TAT GCC TGT GGA GGG CCT TCC T-TAMRA-3'
556	5'-FAM-TAT GCC TGT GGA GGG CCT TCT T-TAMRA-3'
795	5'-FAM-TAT GCC TGT GGA GGG CCT TCC T-TAMRA-3'
827	5'-FAM-TAT GCC TGT GGA GGG CCT TCC T-TAMRA-3'

FIV1360f

FIV-GL8	5'-GCA GAA GCA AGA TTT GCA CCA-3'
F0425H	5'-TCA GAA GCA AGA TTT GCA CCA-3'
F0556H	5'-GCA GAA GCA AGA TTT GCA CCA-3'
F0795H	5'-GCA GAA CCA AGA TTT GCA CCA-3'
F0827H	5'-GCT GAA CCA AGA TTT GCA CCA-3'

FIV1437r

FIV-GL8	5'-AGG AAA ATT GGC CGC CAT A-3'
F0425H	5'-AGG AAA ATT AGC TGC CAT A-3'
F0556H	5'-AGG AAA ATT GGC CGC CAT A-3'
F0795H	5'-AGG AAA ATT GGC TGC CAT A-3'
F0827H	5'-AGG AAA GTT GGC TGC CAT A-3'

Probe 1416p

FIV-GL8	5'-FAM-TGC AGT GTA GAG CAT GGT ATC TTG AGG CA-TAMRA-3'
F0425H	5'-FAM-TGC AGT GTA GAG CCT GGT ATC TTG AGG CA-TAMRA-3'
F0556H	5'-FAM-TGC AGT GTA GAG CAT GGT ATC TTG AGG CA-TAMRA-3'
F0795H	5'-FAM-TGC AGT GTA GAG CAT GGT ATC TTG AGG CA-TAMRA-3'
F0827H	5'-FAM-TGC AGT GTA GAG CAT GGT ATC TTG AGG CA-TAMRA-3'

Reverse primer and probe are read from the composite strand for clarity. Mismatches between primer/probe and primary isolate sequence are highlighted in red.



Figure 4.b. Peak proviral loads in PBMCs.

Cats are grouped according to isolate received.

† represents data removed from A703 at 6 weeks p.i as considered unreliable.

Red = cats receiving virus from the asymptomatic phase

Blue = cats receiving virus from the symptomatic phase

Green = cats receiving virus clone $GL8_{414}$



Figure 4.c. PBMC proviral loads 0-15 weeks post infection.

PBMC proviral DNA loads were measured by real-time PCR using the primer probe FIV1010p system. Cats are grouped according to the isolate received.

† represents data removed from A703 at 6 weeks p.i as considered unreliable.

symptomatic isolates (A706 and A707) peaked at 12 weeks while those of the remaining two cats (A705 and A708) continued to increase until the end of the study (see Figure 4.c.).

The two control cats (inoculated with the clone FIV-GL8₄₁₄) displayed markedly different peak proviral loads and rates of increase in proviral burden throughout the 15 week study (see Figure 4.c.). Cat A710 showed a marked rise in proviral burden between 3 and 9 weeks p.i. (0.7% to 8%), whereas the peak proviral load of cat A709 was only 3.06%. This pair of cats demonstrated the greatest variability between final proviral loads (see Figure 4.c.).

Following infection with isolate F0425Has, cats A701 and A702 demonstrated peak proviral loads greater than 9% and the kinetics of infection were similar to each other (Figure 4.c.). Cats A703 and A704 were inoculated with isolate F0556H_{as} and displayed similar proviral burdens until 9 weeks p.i. when A703 showed a peak proviral burden of 26.7% of cells infected (see Figure 4.c.). This cat had suffered an intestinal intussusception between 3 and 6 weeks p.i. which was corrected surgically and the cat subsequently made a full recovery. It is unknown if stress factors of this kind may have influenced the proviral kinetics. By 15 weeks post infection their proviral burdens were similar (2.85% and 4.35%). Cats A705 and A706 were inoculated with isolate $F0795H_s$ and showed the lowest peak proviral loads, both cats having less than 2% of PBMCs infected. The two cats receiving isolate $F0827H_s$ (A707 and 708) also showed similar low proviral loads, peaking at 4.3% and 3% respectively. The peak proviral load of A703 at 26.7% was considered unreliable and was not included in the statistical analysis. The difference between the two groups was still significant even when data from cat A703 were excluded (p=0.032, Student's t-test).

4.3.1.3. Tissue proviral burdens

Proviral burdens of tissues at 15 weeks p.i. are presented in Figure 4.d. The proviral DNA burdens in the tissues were variable. However, cat A705 had the lowest proviral burdens in all of the tissues examined (see Figure 4.d.). There were no statistically significant differences among the proviral burdens of the groups.



Figure 4.d. Tissue proviral burdens.

% of infected cells

Proviral DNA load within selected tissues was measured by real-time PCR. Each histogram depicts the percentage of infected cells from either bone marrow, thymus, peripheral lymph node (PLN) or mesenteric lymph node (MLN).

Red = cats receiving virus from the asymptomatic phase

Blue = cats receiving virus from the symptomatic phase

Green = cats receiving virus clone $GL8_{414}$

Apart 4.2 (1997) and an eases in the interference in cot A/02 at 0 second a place of the original states of each or a local of approximately 25 (00 and 31 or builded and places or an each of both a second cats boothatest with each isolate, variables the booth of the original both of the parts of cats boothatest with each isolate, variables the booth of the original both of the parts of cats boothatest with each isolate, variables the booth of the original both of the parts of cats boothatest with each isolate, variables the booth of the original both of the parts of cats boothatest with each isolate, variables the booth of the original both of the parts of cats receiving field isolates hed to determine in k? The original both of the probability of the probability 2400 strong of the state of the original both of the probability of the probability 2400 strong of the state of the original both of the probability of the probability 2400 strong of the original both of the probability of the probability 2400 strong of the original both of the probability of the probability 2400 strong of the original both of the probability of the probability of the original both of the probability of the probability of the original both of original both o

4.3.1.4. Lymph nodes

Proviral burden was lower within the lymph nodes compared to other tissues examined, all cats having less than 2% infected cells in both mesenteric and peripheral lymph nodes (see Figure 4.d.). Variation within the pairs of cats in each group was much smaller than other tissues sampled (mesenteric lymph node mean = $0.9\% \pm 0.18$ SE; peripheral lymph node mean = $0.97\% \pm 0.17$ SE).

4.3.1.5. Bone marrow

Three groups showed small variations between the pairs (F0425H_{as}, F0556H_{as} and F0827H_s). The levels of infection between the two groups of cats receiving asymptomatic isolates were different, A701 and A702 both having over 10% of bone marrow cells infected compared to A703 and A704 where the proviral burden was below 6%. Both groups receiving symptomatic isolates showed similar mean proviral burdens within the bone marrow but there was a marked degree of variation between A705 and A706 (0.8% and 8.7% respectively)(see Figure 4.d.).

4.3.1.6. Thymus

Proviral burdens within the thymus were very variable between the ten cats (mean $4.2\% \pm 0.65$ SE). A705 records the lowest burden at less than 1.5% and A707 had the highest proviral burden within the thymus (8.5%). Both of these cats received symptomatic isolates (see Figure 4.d.).

4.3.2. Viral RNA loads in the peripheral circulation

In contrast to the proviral DNA loads in PBMCs, the plasma viral RNA loads of all cats receiving field isolates were remarkably low throughout the 15 week study period (see Figure 4.e.). Small increases in viral load occurred in cat A702 at 9 weeks p.i. and cat A708 at 3 weeks p.i. with viral loads of approximately 25 000 and 31 000 virus/ml plasma respectively. Within pairs of cats inoculated with each isolate, variation was marked in the peak viral loads as well as the periods of time that elapsed before the peak burden was reached. Seven of eight cats receiving field isolates had no detectable viral RNA by 15 weeks p.i., (A707 had a viral burden of approximately 2400 virus/ml plasma at 15 weeks p.i.). The two cats receiving the clone FIV-GL8₄₁₄ had the highest viral burdens in plasma with A710 reaching a peak at approximately 190 000 virus/ml plasma at 3 weeks p.i. and
A709 reaching peak burden at 3 weeks p.i. (22 000 virus/ml plasma). Whereas proviral load tended to increase steadily throughout the period of study, viral burden would fluctuate, often being below the assay detection limit (see Figure 4.c. and Figure 4.e.).

4.3.3. Quantitative viral isolation

.

The levels of infectious virus at 6 weeks p.i. were measured by *in vitro* cultivation of PBMCs with Mya-1 cells (see Figure 4.f.). When asymptomatic isolate recipients were compared with symptomatic isolate recipients, the differences in infectious virus burden were significant (p=0.023, Student's t-test), with higher burdens in the asymptomatic isolate recipients.

4.3.4. Correlation between proviral load and viral loads

The proviral loads recorded throughout the study were markedly higher than the viral loads for the cats inoculated with field isolates and there was no correlation between the two parameters. Cat A710 developed the higher peak viral load (3 weeks p.i.) and proviral load of the pair of cats receiving FIV-GL8₄₁₄. Interestingly, the proviral loads were similar in cats A709 and A710 for the first two time points before the load of cat A710 increased dramatically. At 3 weeks p.i. a peak viral load of 19 000 virus/ml plasma was detected in the plasma of cat A710 but this high viral burden did not coincide with an increased proviral load in PBMCs or any tissue examined post-mortem. However, a high infectious viral load was detected in cat A710 by QVI at 6 weeks p.i.

4.3.5. Confirmation of viral loads using 1416p system

The viral RNA burden in the plasma was then measured using the 1416p system to confirm the levels recorded by the 1010p system. The differences between the peak viral loads recorded using each set of probe and primer were not significant (p=0.186, Student's t-test) however, the final viral loads were significantly greater using 1416p system (p=0.031, Student's t-test). This system also recorded higher results for the group infected with FIV-GL8₄₁₄ with cats A709 and A710 recording peak viral burdens of 73 000 and 530 000 virus/ml of plasma respectively. The peak viral burden recorded in the cats infected with field isolates was 41 000 virus/ml of plasma using the 1416p system whereas the highest viral burden recorded by the 1010p system was 24 700 virus/ml of plasma. The peak viral burdens between the asymptomatic and symptomatic groups were not significantly different when measured by either system (data not shown).



Figure 4.e. Plasma viral RNA load measured by real time RT-PCR.

Viral RNA load in plasma was measured by real-time RT-PCR using the FIV1010p system (Klein et al 1999). Cats are grouped according to inoculate received.



Figure 4.f. Quantitative viral isolation at 6 weeks post infection.

The infectious viral burden released from PBMCs was measured by quantitative viral isolation (QVI). QVIs were set up as described in chapter 2. p24 measurements were taken at 10 days using FIV p24 antigen ELISA kits. End points were calculated by the method described by Reed and Muench (1937). Asymptomatic isolate recipients have a significantly greater infectious virus burden than cats receiving symptomatic isolates.

Red = cats receiving virus from the asymptomatic phase Blue = cats receiving virus from the symptomatic phase

Green = cats receiving virus clone $GL8_{414}$

being to remove where of provint burren. However, a comparison of press of a second state of the second state of the press of the results indicate that the second state of the second sta

The viral RNA loads at 6 weeks p.i. were compared with the QVIs which were also carried out at 6 weeks p.i. The infectious viral burdens in asymptomatic isolate recipients measured by QVI were significantly greater than the burdens in symptomatic recipients (see Figure 4.f.). However, the viral loads at 6 weeks p.i., measured by real-time RT-PCR, were quite different. Whereas the infectious viral burden in the symptomatic recipients was very similar with 50% endpoints under 30, the range of viral RNA loads between the groups receiving isolates F0795H_s and F0827H_s was marked (500-26800). The viral burdens in cats infected with asymptomatic isolates was less variable and ranged between 1800 and 7700 virus/ml of plasma.

Each reaction was carried out in duplicate and the coefficient of variation (CV) calculated in order to quantify the reliability of the viral load data. The CVs were then grouped into three groups, <10%, 10-30% and >30%. The 1010p system produced the most reliable results with 63% of the data having CVs <10% whereas only 47% of the data in the 1416p system had CVs <10%.

4.4. Discussion

The aim of this study was to investigate field isolates of FIV from cats at different stages of disease, ranging from terminal illness to resolution of clinical signs. Groups of two cats were infected with each isolate; two groups inoculated with asymptomatic isolates, two groups inoculated with symptomatic isolates and the fifth group inoculated with the clone FIV-GL8414. Viral loads were measured by real-time RT- PCR using a standardised assay with primers which are known to recognise four FIV strains of subtype A (Klein et al. 1999). Primer mismatches may have a considerable impact on PCR reaction efficiency (Klein et al. 1999) and from the field isolate sequences investigated, it was noted that isolate F0556H_{as}, received by A703 and A704, had two mismatches, one in the probe and one in the reverse primer while isolate F0795H_s had one mismatch in each of the forward and reverse primers which may have reduced the PCR reaction efficiency, potentially leading to reduced values of proviral burden. However, a comparison of proviral burden found in the PBMCs is interesting as the results indicate that the rate of viral replication was greater in the cats that received asymptomatic isolates. The group sizes were small and hence caution must be exercised when analysing results statistically, but when asymptomatic and symptomatic recipients were compared, the difference in mean peak proviral burden of the PBMCs between the two groups was significant (p=0.03, Student's t-test).

The role of HIV-1 proviral burden in PBMCs as a prognostic indicator is not clear and contradicting evidence has been reported so far (Aleman et al. 1999; Tetali et al. 1999; Russell et al. 2001). Pathogenic simian-human immunodeficiency viruses (SHIV) that lead to rapid depletion of $CD4^+$ T cell count and progression to an AIDS-like disease (SHIV-89.6P and SHIV-KB9) have been reported to induce higher proviral DNA loads in PBMCs during early infection of rhesus monkeys (Reimann et al. 1999), whereas nonpathogenic SHIVs were shown to induce lower proviral DNA loads. In our present study we examined only the acute phase of infection, up to 15 weeks after exposure to the virus, and therefore progression to disease was unknown. The differences between the proviral DNA burdens of cats A709 and A710 were surprising given that these cats were inoculated with the cloned virus FIV-GL8₄₁₄; in contrast, the other groups were inoculated with biological isolates and large differences between cats could be explained by the presence of mixed populations of viruses in the inocula. However, differences may be explained also by variable individual host responses to infection.

In this study, high proviral loads in PBMCs did not correlate with high proviral loads in the tissues examined 15 weeks p.i. Proviral burdens in lymph nodes were less than 2% in all cats. Contrary to the findings in our study, other workers have reported similar proviral burdens between lymph nodes and PBMCs 12-16 weeks p.i. (Dean et al. 1996). Tissue proviral burdens have also been reported to be virus strain dependent (Burkhard et al. 2002).

The viral RNA loads of cats receiving the field isolates were remarkably low, in contrast to the proviral burdens measured in the PBMCs. In studies of HIV-1 infection any correlation between proviral and viral RNA loads is still unclear and reports are contradictory (Cone et al. 1998; Aleman et al. 1999).

A possible explanation for the low viral loads detected is low primer binding efficiency. However, since the primers and probe that were used in the real-time RT-PCR (sequence mismatch in the forward primer binding site of isolate $F0795H_s$ and isolate $F0556H_{as}$ had one mismatched nucleotide in the probe binding site) performed with adequate efficiency in proviral measurements, we confirmed their efficiency for use in detecting the isolates used in this study. Nucleotide mismatches were more frequent in the 1416p system. The effect of primer mismatches is not fully quantified and is thought to depend on several factors including differences in length of the amplicon. The effect of mismatches is greater when they occur nearer the 3'-end of the oligonucleotide and depend on the number of nucleotide changes. Thus two mismatches in a primer may decrease the reaction efficiency and decrease the viral load detected by up to 4 orders of magnitude (Klein et al. 2001). All of these factors would have some bearing on the detection of virus by both of the systems. The viral RNA loads measured by the two real-time RT-PCR systems detect viral burdens, which are not significantly different. The 1416p system detects slightly higher levels but has the disadvantage of higher CVs.

Trends are evident when analysing the proviral DNA burden and the infectious viral burden. The cats infected with viruses from the asymptomatic stage of disease had significantly higher proviral DNA burdens in the PBMCs and significantly higher infectious virus burdens as measured by QVI. The viral RNA load measurements are less clear and although the cats infected with symptomatic isolates appear to have higher viral RNA loads in the PBMCs, this difference is not significant and the levels are still low by the two systems utilised.

The QVI results reflected the proviral burdens of the PBMCs, suggesting that cats inoculated with asymptomatic stage isolates developed infections with higher rates of viral replication and infectivity compared to cats inoculated with isolates from the terminal disease stage which developed significantly lower proviral burdens in the PBMCs and lower infectious virus titres by QVI.

Few studies have been conducted to study viral dynamics after i.m. inoculation of FIV, although one study determined that even when 10 to 100 fold greater amounts of live virus were inoculated by the i.m. route, viral loads in peripheral blood were lower than when virus was inoculated by the i.p. route (Rigby et al. 1997). In addition, seroconversion was found to occur sooner after i.m. compared to i.p. inoculation (Rigby et al. 1997). Another study of two well-characterised isolates demonstrated that the route of inoculation affected levels of CD4⁺ cytopenia, and both virus type and route of infection influenced plasma viraemia as well as tissue and PBMC proviral burdens (Burkhard et al. 2002). The i.m. route of inoculation may have affected the extent of plasma viraemia by stimulating the immune system to a greater degree compared to that by other routes of inoculation, leading

to greater suppression of viral production and release into the circulation. Interestingly, the two cats inoculated with clone FIV-GL8₄₁₄ developed greater viral RNA loads in plasma and it may be that inoculation of a heterogeneous population of virus with potentially greater antigenicity, such as isolates from cats in the field, may stimulate the immune system to a greater degree compared to a homogeneous population in the clone inoculum. It would be necessary to study the humoral and cell mediated immune responses of each of the cats to ascertain whether virus type can affect immune response after i.m. inoculation.

In conclusion, this study has revealed that cats inoculated with asymptomatic isolates developed higher peak proviral loads in PBMCs and by 15 weeks p.i. 3/4 developed proviral loads higher than 3%. In contrast, only 1/4 symptomatic isolates developed a final proviral load greater than 3%. The differences in PBMC proviral load between cats A709 and A710 suggested that host factors also play a role in the pathogenesis of the disease. QVIs supported the findings in the PBMC proviral burdens. However, further study of the immune system status of these animals may reveal possible explanations for the low and sometimes undetectable viral RNA loads throughout the study. The relationship between viral RNA load, proviral DNA load and infectious viral burden remains unclear. There are inherent problems with the measurement of field isolates by Taqman methods due to differences in sequence at the primer and probe binding sites. Furthermore, the real-time PCR measurement of virus in this fashion does not measure replication-competent virus. Further work is required to investigate the relationship between each of these measurements.

Chapter Five

THE ROLE OF THE env GENE IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF FIV

5.1. Introduction

The envelope glycoprotein of FIV contains the principal determinants of virus/cell interactions, tropism and fusogenicity (Pancino et al. 1995) as well as the principal immunodominant domain (Lombardi et al. 1993; de Ronde et al. 1994). Laboratoryadapted isolates of FIV that have proven susceptible to vaccine protection have expanded host cell tropism in vitro, which has been shown to correlate with an increased positive charge in the V3 loop (Verschoor et al. 1995; Siebelink et al. 1995b) similar to findings in HIV (de Jong et al. 1992). This expanded tropism has also been correlated with the sole usage of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 for viral entry into cells. In vivo these laboratory-adapted isolates produce lower viral and proviral loads, less disruption of the lymphocyte populations and no inversion of the CD4:CD8 ratio. Interestingly, studies from field isolates documented in this thesis have revealed that isolates from cats with terminal disease more readily use CXCR4 for viral entry than isolates from cats with asymptomatic disease. These results were paralleled with the findings of lower proviral loads and less perturbation of the lymphocyte subsets and no inversion of the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio in naïve cats that were infected with isolates from terminal cases. Taken together, these findings led to the hypothesis that Env may be a determinant of pathogenicity in vivo and that tropism and receptor usage in vitro may predict the pathogenicity of an isolate in vivo.

This study examines the *in vitro* tropism of five isolates: the original prototype viruses derived from molecular clones, FIV-GL8_{MYA} (G8_{MYA}) and FIV-PET_{F14} (PET_{F14}), and three chimaeras consisting of an G8_{MYA} backbone containing the *env* genes of the two field isolates F0425H_{as}, F0827H_s as well as PET_{F14}. The G8_{MYA} backbone was isolated from the molecular clone CP3 in the low copy number plasmid pBR328 following the excision of PET *env*. The chimaeras were designated G8M(425), G8M(827) and G8M(F14.7). By subjecting the clones and chimaeras to a panel of assays *in vitro*, their ability to use CXCR4 was characterised. Their behaviour *in vivo* was then examined, to determine the relationship between receptor usage and tropism *in vitro* to pathogenicity *in vivo*. Thus the

insertion of various *env* genes from well-characterised prototype clones and field isolates into the same viral backbone to create a range of similar clones, differing only in the *env* gene region, enabled the elucidation of the role of *env* in determining the pathogenicity of an isolate.

5.2. Materials and methods

5.2.1. Production of chimaeras

5.2.1.1. Preparation of DNA

DNA was prepared from cell pellets of infected Mya-1 cells (described in Section 2.7.) using a blood kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) following the manufacturer's instructions, and was stored at -20°C until required.

5.2.1.2. Amplification of the env gene

The full length of the envelope glycoprotein (*env*) gene was amplified using the polymerase chain reaction (PCR). DNA samples were titrated in two-fold dilutions from 400ng to 50ng and then aliquoted. HiFidelity (Roche) PCR master mix was used in the PCR reaction and the primers corresponded to the 5' cleavage site of the L-SU (5'-TAG ACG CGT AAG ATT TTT AAG GTA TTC-3') and the *Nde* I site 3' of the Rev responsive element (3'-CCC TTT GAG GAA GAT GTG TCA TAT GAA TCC ATT-5'), a segment which incorporates the *MluI* and *NdeI* restriction sites. The amplified products were separated by agarose gel electrophoresis, excised and purified using Qiaquick gel extraction kit, following the manufacturer's instructions. The products were then digested with *MluI* and *NdeI*, re-purified to remove the restriction enzymes and then ligated into the pre-digested GL8_{MYA} vector.

5.2.1.3. Transformation of competent cells

The ligations were then transformed into the *E.coli* competent cells ONE SHOT[®] Inv α 'F (Invitrogen, U.K.). Vials of competent cells were defrosted on ice before adding 1µl of the ligation reaction. The mixture was incubated on ice for a further 30 minutes, before the competent cells were heat shocked at 42°C for 30 seconds and then placed on ice for 2 minutes before 450µl of SOC medium (see Appendix A.3.) was added. The mixture was

incubated for 90 minutes at 30°C in a water bath before plating on L-agar plates containing ampicillin (50µg/ml), which were then incubated for 24 hours in a 30°C incubator.

5.2.1.4. Amplification and purification of plasmid DNA

Colonics were selected from the agar plates (see Appendix A.3.) and cultured in 3ml of Lbroth (see Appendix A.3.) supplemented with ampicillin $(50\mu g/ml)$ overnight at 30°C in an orbital incubator. Plasmid DNA was collected using a Qiagen MiniPrep Plasmid DNA kit (Qiagen) (using the principle first described by Vogelstein (Vogelstein and Gillespie 1979)) following the manufacturer's instructions. Confirmation of successful insertion of the *env* gene was achieved by digestion of the product with *Mlu* 1 and *Nde* 1 restriction enzymes for 60 minutes and examining the product on a 1% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide. Inserts of 2.5Kb represented the full-length *env* product.

5.2.1.5. Identification of the env insert

To confirm that the *env* detected following Mlu/Nde digestion represented the novel *env*, and not a residual *env* from the parent molecular clone, each plasmid was digested with the restriction enzyme *Kpn* I for 60 minutes at 37°C. The products were separated on a 1% agarose gel and could be seen at 1659bp and 10967bp. Alternatively, if the FIV-PET *env* from the parent vector CP3 had been reinserted, then only one product band would have been detectable at 12626bp since FIV-PET has a single *Kpn* I site. A further digest with the restriction enzyme *Afl* II was conducted to confirm that the gene was distinct from FIV-GL8_{MYA} *env*. Digestion of the field isolate *env* was carried out in parallel with that of FIV-GL8_{MYA} and FIV-PET_{F14}. FIV-PET_{F14} has eight *Afl* II restriction sites whereas FIV-GL8₄₁₄ has seven (see Table 5.a.).

5.2.1.6. Amplification of positive clones

Cultures of clones with the *env* gene successfully inserted were expanded overnight in 200ml of L-broth supplemented with ampicillin $(50\mu g/ml)$ at 30°C in an orbital incubator. Plasmid DNA was then purified using a Qiagen MaxiPrep Endofree Plasmid DNA kit (Qiagen), following the manufacturer's instructions. This is a procedure based on the alkaline lysis of bacterial cells (Birnboim and Doly 1979).

Table 5.a. Restriction sites and fragment sizes within the FIVgenomes FIV-PET_{F14} and FIV-GL8_{Mya} with Af/II.

FIV-PET _{F14}								
restriction site (nucleotide position)	1621	3440	3558	4466	5018	7972	8257	9474
fragment length (bp)	1621	1819	118	908	552	2954	285	1217
FIV-GL8 _{Mya}								
restriction site (nucleotide position)	1620	3439	4465	6618	7968	8253	9467	
fragment length (bp)	1620	1819	1026	2153	1350	285	1214	

Digestion of primary isolate *env* alongside PET_{F14} and $G8_{Mya}$ confirmed successful insertion of the primary isolate *env*.

5.2.1.7. Transfection of clones in 293T cells

Poly-L-lysine plates were set up overnight with 1.5×10^5 293T cells per well in 3 ml of 10% DMEM and incubated in a humid incubator at 37°C. The following morning 2.5µg of each plasmid was diluted with DMEM to 100µl and 12.5µl of Superfect (3mg/ml) (Qiagen), mixing by pipetting up and down five times. The mixture was incubated at room temperature to allow complex formation. The medium was removed from the plates which were then washed once with serum free DMEM. 600µl of complete medium was added to the Superfect mixture and then transferred gently to the plates. After three hours, incubation at 37°C the medium was aspirated and the cells were washed twice in serum-free DMEM. Three ml of complete medium were added and the plates were incubated at 37°C in a CO₂ incubator. Three days after transfection the supernatant was harvested and passed through a 0.45µm filter. 200µl was tested by p24 antigen ELISA. 1ml of supernatant from positive wells was stored at -70°C and 1.5ml was added to 10⁶ Mya-1 cells in a T25 culture flask and made up to 5ml with complete RPMI containing IL-2. The cultures were tested by p24 antigen ELISA every 3 days until positive when culture fluids were harvested, filtered through a 0.45µm filter, aliquoted and stored at -70°C.

5.2.2. In vitro tropism of the clones

The clones were subjected to a panel of *in vitro* assays. Tropism studies on (HO6T1)CrFK cells and AH927 FX4E cells were carried out as described in Chapter 3.

5.2.3. Infection of kittens

5.2.3.1. Virus inoculum

The cloned viruses were titrated as described in Chapter 2. Inocula were prepared in RPMI medium containing 1% BSA. Five groups of three kittens received 250 TCID₅₀ of virus (see Table 5.b.) by i.m. inoculation.

5.2.3.2. Collection of samples

Blood samples were collected in EDTA on 0, 3, 6, 12, and 15 weeks p.i. After the final sampling, post-mortem examinations were carried out. Proviral DNA loads of the PBMCs and plasma viral RNA loads were measured at each time point (method described in Chapter 4) and FACS analysis was carried out at 0, 3, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i. (see Chapter

6). At post-mortem examination, peripheral and mesenteric lymph nodes were harvested and processed. Virus isolation was carried out on PBMCs from the samples taken at each time point except at 15 weeks p.i. when QVIs were carried out (all methods described in Chapter 2).

5.2.3.3. Tissue samples

Mesenteric and peripheral lymph nodes were collected at post-mortem examination and processed for measurement of proviral DNA load. QVIs were carried out on each of the mesenteric lymph node samples in cats receiving either clone $G8_{Mya}$ or PET_{F14} as described in Chapter 2.

5.2.4. Viral RNA and proviral DNA

Viral RNA and proviral DNA measurements were conducted as described in Chapter 4.

5.2.5. Virus isolation and quantitative virus isolation

The methodology for virus isolation and quantitative virus isolation is described in sections 2.5.3. and 2.5.4.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. In vitro tropism

5.3.1.1. Tropism on CrFK(HO6T1) cells

The cloned virus containing the *env* gene from the symptomatic cat F0827H_s, namely G8M(827), successfully infected CrFK(HO6T1) cells by both cell-free infection and cocultivation. In contrast, the clone containing *env* from the asymptomatic isolate F0425H_{as}, G8M(425), only achieved a short period of infection of CrFK(HO6T1) cells following cocultivation until 7 days p.i. The clone G8M(F14.7) and the parental clone PET_{F14} both achieved productive and persistent infection of the cells by cell-free infection and cocultivation. Each clone produced a transient cytopathic effect by both methods of infection (cell-free infection or cocultivation) at 21 days and 28 days p.i. respectively. As a result, these cultures were not subcultured at these time points, however fresh medium was added to each flask and the remaining cells continued to grow. The parental FIV-G8_{MYA} clone produced only a transient productive infection on cocultivation with infected Mya-1 cells and by 14 days p.i. p24 could no longer be detected (see Figure 5.a.).





A: cultures - cell-free infection, B: cultures - cocultivation with infected Mya-1 cells.

Virus was incubated overnight in cultures of CrFK (HO6T1) cells. The cells were washed the next day and fresh medium added with subculturing twice per week. p24 production was measured by FIVp24 antigen ELISA (IDEXX) at 7 day intervals.

a s. c.a. Detection of viral RNA loads by RT-PCR

the plasma were from the group receiving G8_{Levs} at 9 weeks p.i. but there was not a standard from the group receiving G8_{Levs} at 9 weeks p.i. but there was not a standard difference between the groups at this time point. However, G8M(425) had

5.3.1.2. Tropism on AH927 FX4E cells

Only the FIV-PET_{F14} clone induced any cytopathic effect in AH927 FX4E cells. RT activity was highest in the laboratory-adapted FIV-PET_{F14} but both chimaeras containing field isolate *env* genes did infect the cells. Interestingly, greater p24 readings were obtained from the culture with the asymptomatic *env* clone G8M(425) when compared to the culture with the symptomatic *env* clone G8M(827). The G8_{MYA} clone, as predicted, was unable to infect these cells whereas the PET_{F14} conferred the ability to use CXCR4 when inserted into the G8_{MYA} backbone (see Figure 5.b.).

5.3.2. In vivo studies of the env chimaeras

5.3.2.1. Virus isolation

Virus isolation was carried out at each time of sampling. No virus could be isolated from cats receiving the chimaera G8M(F14.7) consistently throughout the 15 week study period. Virus was isolated from 1/3 of the cats receiving the FIV-G8_{MYA} clone by three weeks p.i. and all three cats by six weeks p.i. Cultures of PBMC established from all other cats had detectable levels of p24 by three weeks p.i. Virus was undetectable in two cats receiving PET_{F14} (A750 and A755) at 9 and 15 weeks p.i. as well as cat A747 at 15 weeks p.i. (see Table 5.b.).

5.3.2.2. Quantitative virus isolations

To establish the infectious virus burdens of the cats, QVIs were carried out at 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i. At 6 weeks p.i. all virus levels were very low, such that the infectious virus burden in the PBMCs (using 50% end points) could not be calculated for any of the cats. By 12 weeks p.i., four cats A741 and A754 ($G8_{MYA}$), A753 (G8M(425)) and A746 (G8M(827)) had infectious viral burdens that were sufficiently high to calculate 50% end points. By 15 weeks p.i. this number had increased to six cats (A741 and A754 ($G8_{MYA}$), A743, A744 and A753 (G8M(425)) and A746 (G8M(827)). Three cats had undetectable virus, consistent with the virus isolation assays (A747, A750 and A755) (see Tables 5.c.).

5.3.2.3. Detection of viral RNA loads by RT-PCR

The 1416p system was used to detect viral RNA. The highest viral RNA loads recorded in the plasma were from the group receiving $G8_{MYA}$ at 9 weeks p.i. but there was not a significant difference between the groups at this time point. However, G8M(425) had



Figure 5.b. Infection of the cell line AH927 transfected with feline CXCR4.

Virus stocks were incubated with AH927 FX4E cells for 1 hour at 37°C. Cultures were washed and fresh medium added and then incubated for 10 days when virus replication was measured using RT activity assays (Cavidi Tech).

Cat	Virus	Week 3	Week 6	Week 9	Week 12	Week 15
A741 A742	G8Mva	-	+ +	+ +	++	+
A754		+	+	+	+	+
A744		+	+	+	+	+
A743	G8M(425)	+	+	+	+	+
A753		+	+	+	+	+
A745		+	+	+	+	+
A746	G8M(827)	+	+	+	+	+
A747		+	+	+	+	-
A748		-	-	-	-	_
A749	G8M(F14.7)	-	-	-	-	-
A751		-	-	-	-	-
A750		+	+	-	+	-
A752	PET	+	+	+	+	+
A755		+	+	-	+	-

Table 5.b. Virus isolation in Mya-1 cells.

 10^6 PBMCs were cultured with 2 x 10^6 Mya-1 cells in 5ml RPMI and IL-2.

Cultures were tested for p24 production (FIV p24 ELISA, IDEXX).



Figure 5.c. The infectious viral burden within the PBMCs 15 weeks p.i.

Positive cultures were detected using p24 FIV antigen ELISA. Infectious viral burdens were calculated using the 50% end point method as described by Reed and Muench, 1937.

	10⁴	3x 10 ³	1x 10 ³	3x 10 ²	30	10	Virus inoculum	
A741	8/8	2/8	4/8	0/8	0/8			
A742	2/8	0/8	0/8				G8Mya	
A754	7/8	3/8	1/8	0/8	0/8			
A743	6/8	2/8	0/8	0/8			G8M(425)	
A744	7/8	0/8	0/8					
A753	8/8	7/8	4/8	1/8	0/8	0/8		
A745	2/8	0/8	0/8					
A746	8/8	8/8	5/8	2/8	0/8	0/8	G8M(827)	
A747	0/8	0/8						
A748	1/8	0/8	0/8					
A749	2/8	0/8	0/8				G8M(F14.7)	
A751	1/8	0/8	0/8					
A750	0/8	0/8						
A752	1/8	0/8					PET	
A755	0/8	0/8						

Table 5.c. 15 week QVI assays (PBMCs).

Each dilution of PBMCs was tested in groups of eight. An FIV p24 antigen ELISA was used to detect positive cultures 7 days p.i. The Reed and Meunch method (Reed and Meunch 1937) was used to calculate the infectious viral burden within the cells.

Figure 5.d. Mean viral RNA load measurements in the plasma of each group at 0-15 weeks p.i.



RNA viral loads in plasma were measured by real-time RT-PCR using the 1416p system (Klein, 1999). *= p<0.039, FIV-PET_{F14} and p<0.042, G8M(F14.7).

The cats are grouped by inoculate received. The group mean and SE shown.

some of some and that is use designed to electrify viruses with the electric tion of UNC 1.4 in store. On mason for this difference is unknown. Possibly the present tion of UNC 1.4 in with soil varies, as CXCR4 may have different conformations and nucleonian wrige a depending on the cell line (Baribaud et al. 2001; Lapham et al. 2012) or pechaps on additional molecule is involved in FIV entry. The ability of laboratory-adapted restores significantly greater loads at 6 weeks p.i. (see Figure 5.d.) when compared to the clone PET_{F14} and the chimaera G8M(F14.7) (p<0.039 and p<0.042 respectively, Tukey test). The greatest viral RNA load was recorded in the group receiving G8_{MYA} (6794 virus/ml plasma (SE \pm 5988)) with the viral load in cat A741 reaching a level of 18 700 virus/ml plasma. However, there was a large variation within this group, reflected in the large standard error. The cats infected with clone PET_{F14} and the chimaera G8M(F14.7) developed only low viral RNA loads within the plasma with a slight peak at 3 weeks p.i. (440 \pm 250 SE and 380 \pm 231 SE). Generally, the chimaera with the *env* gene from terminal isolate F0827H induced viral loads intermediate from G8_{MYA}, G8M(425) and PET_{F14} and G8M(F14.7).

5.3.2.4. Proviral DNA loads from PBMCs and tissues

There was evidence of contamination in the proviral load assays and the results were considered unreliable.

5.4. Discussion

From the studies described in Chapter 3 of this thesis it was found that isolates from cats in the asymptomatic stage of the disease were less able to utilise the chemokine receptor CXCR4 *in vitro* and induced greater proviral DNA loads in infected cats, whereas isolates from cats in the terminal stages of the disease had a greater affinity for CXCR4 and induced lower proviral loads *in vivo*. By comparing the *env* genes of these viruses in a common viral backbone, it was hoped to clarify the role of the *env* gene in the pathogenesis of FIV infection.

Interestingly, the ability to utilise CXCR4 by a clone or chimaera was not consistent throughout all the *in vitro* studies. The chimaera G8M(827) and G8M(F14.7) were able to infect the CrFK(HO6T1) cells efficiently by cell-free infection and cocultivation, demonstrating the ability to utilise CXCR4 alone. However, the same viruses were much less efficient at infecting the AH927 FX4E cells (transduced so as to express the CXCR4 receptor), an assay that is also designed to identify viruses with the ability to use CXCR4 alone. The reason for this difference is unknown. Possibly the presentation of CXCR4 in each cell varies, as CXCR4 may have different conformations and molecular weights depending on the cell line (Baribaud et al. 2001; Lapham et al. 2002) or perhaps an additional molecule is involved in FIV entry. The ability of laboratory-adapted isolates

such as PET_{F14} to infect many CXCR4-expressing cell lines with great efficiency may be due to an expansion of CXCR4-tropism or some determinant outwith the *env*.

The virus with the *env* gene from the asymptomatic cat $F0425H_{as}$ and the pathogenic clone $G8_{MYA}$ both induced greater plasma viral RNA loads, although a significant difference was seen only at 6 weeks p.i. (see Figure 5.d.). The ability to induce high viral loads and high infectious viral burdens appears to be inversely correlated with the ability to utilise CXCR4 *in vitro*. Both G8M(425) and G8_{MYA} have a reduced ability to utilise CXCR4 *in vitro* but produce higher viral loads in the plasma. Interestingly, the chimaera containing the *env* gene from the terminal field isolate produced viral RNA loads which, in general, were intermediate. This isolate demonstrated a greater ability to utilise CXCR4 than the chimaera containing the *env* gene from an asymptomatic isolate. The inverse correlation between CXCR4-tropism and viral RNA loads suggests that viruses which readily utilise CXCR4 *in vitro* may display decreased pathogenicity *in vivo*.

Unfortunately, the proviral load data from the PBMCs and the tissues collected postmortem was unreliable. There was evidence of contamination within the assay and the proportion of the coefficients of variation >30% undermined the validity of the data; therefore, these data could not be included. However, the infectious viral burdens achieved in this study by the chimaeras G8M(425), G8M(827) and the clone G8_{MYA} were lower than those recorded in the earlier study described in Chapter 4. The dose of inoculum and route of inoculation was identical to the previous study so this phenomenon may be due to the nature of cloned chimaeras. Inserting a novel *env* within the G8_{MYA} viral backbone may result in suboptimal functioning of the virus, as proteins derived from the novel gene may be less compatible with the parental viral structural proteins e.g. MA. Nevertheless, the isolation of the *env* genes from different isolates and the construction of chimaeras with the same viral backbone permitted a comparison of the biological behaviour attributable to each *env*. The results presented in this chapter are consistent with the *env* gene having a role in determining the pathogenicity of an isolate as well as its cell tropism *in vitro*.

Chapter Six

ANALYSIS OF LYMPHOCYTE POPULATIONS

6.1. Introduction

The principal target for FIV, like HIV, is the CD4⁺ T lymphocyte (Dalgleish et al. 1984), although CD4 is not used by FIV as a receptor or coreceptor (Hosie et al. 1993; Norimine et al. 1993; Willett and Hosie 1999) and infection with both viruses leads to depletion of the CD4⁺ subpopulation (Ackley et al. 1990; Novotney et al. 1990; Hoffman-Fezer et al. 1992). The degree of immune impairment that is characteristic of FIV infection is associated with the decline in CD4⁺ T lymphocyte numbers (Torten et al. 1991). CD8⁺ T lymphocytes are also targets for FIV infection (Brown et al. 1991) but their numbers tend to increase (Willett et al. 1993) resulting in an inversion of the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio. This expanded cell population was found to express lower levels of CD8 (CD8^{low}) (Lehmann et al. 1992; Willett et al. 1993) and increased levels of major histocompatibility complex II (MHC II) (Willett et al. 1993). The CD8⁺ T lymphocyte population has been further defined in that the CD8 marker on the cell surface exists as either a homodimer molecule CD8aa or the heterodimer CD8aß (Shimojima et al. 1998a; Shimojima et al. 1998b). In FIV infection an expansion of the CD8 $\alpha\beta$ population has been demonstrated but the β -chain has been shown to have much lower expression, therefore, the subpopulations have been designated CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ or CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^-$. Studies in humans receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) have been shown to express increased levels of the CD8 lymphocyte heterodimer CD8 $\alpha\beta$, which is correlated with increased expression of molecules for lymphocyte activation, adhesion and cytotoxic T cell activity, leading to the possibility that this subpopulation of cells may be used to analyse the immune status of HIV infected individuals (Schmitz et al. 1998). FIV-infected cats have an increased $CD8\alpha^{+}\beta^{low}$ population and these cells have been shown to have anti-FIV activity and also to lack the L-selectin marker (CD62L) (Bucci et al. 1998b; Gebhard et al. 1999). Studies of the pathogenicity of two FIV isolates revealed that the more pathogenic isolate, FIV-GL8, caused rapid expansion of the $CD8\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ subpopulation in the early stages of infection (Hosie et al. 2002), accompanied by lower CD4⁺ T lymphocyte numbers and higher proviral burdens in the PBMCs (Hosie et al. 2002). In contrast, the clone FIV-PET produced lower proviral burdens in the PBMCs and had no effect on CD4 or CD8 T

lymphocyte populations. Therefore, it was suggested that more pathogenic isolates may induce greater perturbation of the lymphocyte populations.

Using the above criteria, we studied the dynamics of the lymphocyte subpopulations of five groups of two SPF cats described in Chapter 4 that were infected with either field isolates or the infectious molecular clone FIV-GL8₄₁₄. Viral isolates from cats in the asymptomatic stages of infection induced greater CD8⁺ T lymphocyte expansion compared to isolates from cats in the terminal stages of disease. In Chapter 5, CXCR4 usage *in vitro* was shown to correlate with low infectious viral burden, demonstrated by QVI and low proviral loads in the PBMCs. Figure 6.a. summarises the viral origins of the isolates used in the two studies. In this chapter we examine the correlation of disease stage and lymphocyte activation. Furthermore, we examine the role of Env in this process by isolating *env* genes from viruses collected from cats at different stages of infection and then inserting these *env* genes into a $GL8_{MYA}$ viral backbone and comparing the dynamics of lymphocyte activation with that of the prototype clones PET_{F14} and $GL8_{MYA}$.

6.2. Materials and methods

6.2.1. Antibodies

Antibodies were used either unconjugated or conjugated to phyco-erythrin (PE) or fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC). Anti-feline CD4-FITC (vpg34) and CD8 $\alpha\beta$ -PE (vpg9) originated in the Retrovirus Research Laboratory and were produced by Serotec Ltd., Oxford, United Kingdom; anti-feline CD8 α (12A3) was obtained from Y. Nishimura, University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan; and anti-feline CD8 β -FITC and -PE (FT2) was obtained from Southern Biotechnology Ltd., Birmingham, Alabama. FITC-conjugated anti-feline CD8 α (12A3) was prepared using FITC coupling reagent (Pierce Chemical company Rockford, Illinois) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Unconjugated primary antibodies were detected using a FITC- or PE-coupled F(ab')₂ fragment of sheep anti-mouse immunoglobulin G whole molecule (Sigma).

PBMCs were isolated from blood samples collected into EDTA following whole blood lysis in 0.88% ammonium chloride/0.01M Tris-HCl pH7.4 and resuspended in 200 μ l of phosphate buffered saline supplemented with 0.1% sodium azide (PBA) and 1% bovine serum albumin. A volume of 30 μ l of cells from each sample was then incubated for 30

Figure 6.a. Schematic representation of primary isolates used in the study and the provenance of chimaeras used in study 2.



minutes on ice with primary antibodies recognising feline CD4, feline CD8, feline CD8 α and feline CD8 β . The cells were then washed twice with PBA by centrifugation before the addition of PE-conjugated f(ab')₂-fragment of sheep anti-mouse IgG, incubated on ice for 30 minutes and washed. Following the final incubation with FITC-conjugated secondary antibody, the cells were washed twice with PBA before analysis on an EPICS Elite flow cytometer using the EXPO analysis software package. Lymphocytes were live-gated on the basis of size and granularity with 10 000 events being collected for each sample. In addition, whole blood collected in EDTA was used for routine haematological analysis.

6.3. Results

6.3.1. The field isolates

6.3.1.1. Routine haematology of cats A701 to A710

A study of healthy experimental juvenile cats showed marked variation in haematological parameters (Anderson et al. 1971). In this 15-week study all cats had mildly lowered haematocrits at least once, but only cats A701 and A703 had markedly lowered levels at 15 and 6 weeks p.i. respectively, however haemoglobin levels were generally nearer or within the reference range (10-15 g/dl). At 6 weeks p.i. cat A703 had a haemoglobin level of 7.07 g/dl, possibly attributable to the intussusception and corrective surgery; cat A701 had a level of 7.85 g/dl at 15 weeks p.i. Neutropenia was recorded in six cats A702, A705 and A706 at 15 weeks p.i., A709 at 15 weeks p.i. and A704 and A710 at 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i. Cat A703 had toxic changes at 6 weeks p.i. presumed due to the intussusception. There was no correlation or trend observed between the groups and the haematological parameters studied. Haematology records are tabulated in Appendix A.1.

6.3.1.2. Summary of lymphocyte population dynamics

Figure 6.b. demonstrates the relative numbers of the three subpopulations examined throughout the study. The greatest changes in the lymphocyte population of infected cats occurred around 6 to 12 weeks p.i. In all four asymptomatic virus recipients, the CD4⁺ T lymphocyte counts fell below the CD8⁺ T lymphocyte counts at least once during the study. In three of four cats the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ cell population was also greater than the CD4⁺ population at least once during the study. Of the symptomatic isolate recipients, only



Figure 6.b. Lymphocyte dynamics throughout the course of the study.

A701-A704 were asymptomatic virus recipients, A705-A708 were symptomatic virus recipients. A709-A710 received the clone FIV-GL8414. A decline in CD4 lymphocyte numbers can be seen in A701, A703, A704, A706 and A710.

A706 showed a similar trend but a more marked expansion of the CD8⁺ T lymphocyte population was observed in this cat.

6.3.1.3. CD4⁺ T lymphocytes

The numbers of $CD4^+$ T lymphocytes decreased in 3/4 asymptomatic recipients. The remaining cat, A702, demonstrated an overall 52% increase in $CD4^+$ T lymphocytes. In contrast, 3/4 symptomatic recipients showed a small overall increase in $CD4^+$ T lymphocyte numbers with only A706 showing a small decrease (28%) over the 15 week study period (see Figure 6.b.). The two cats receiving the clone FIV-GL8₄₁₄ showed variable results; an overall increase in $CD4^+$ T lymphocyte numbers was observed in cat A709 with an increase in $CD4^+$ T lymphocyte numbers at 12 weeks p.i. of over 300%, whereas an overall decrease in $CD4^+$ T lymphocyte numbers of 60% was observed in cat A710.

6.3.1.4. CD8 T⁺ lymphocytes

As shown in Figure 6.b., the $CD8^+$ T lymphocyte counts increased in all 10 cats during the study. Peak levels were reached between 6 and 12 weeks p.i. but then decreased by 15 weeks p.i. Only cat A707 continued to show increased $CD8^+$ T lymphocyte numbers throughout the course of the study.

6.3.1.5. CD4:CD8 ratios

As shown in Figure 6.c., the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio decreased in all 10 cats, with the most dramatic decrease occurring at 6 weeks p.i. All of the asymptomatic recipients and 1/4 symptomatic recipients (A706) group displayed a ratio below 1. In the groups receiving asymptomatic isolates the nadir was recorded at 12 weeks p.i. although the lowest ratio in cat A706 was recorded at 6 weeks p.i. Both FIV-GL8₄₁₄ infected cats showed moderate reductions in CD4:CD8 ratio but neither developed a ratio lower than 1.5.

6.3.1.6. CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ T lymphocyte population

The $CD8\alpha^{+}\beta^{low}$ subpopulation of T lymphocytes was examined as previous studies indicated that an expansion of this subset contributed to the inversion of the CD4:CD8 ratio and may characterise more pathogenic viruses (Hosie et al. 2002). In general, the cats

7.0 6.5 6.0 · 5.5 5.0 4.5 CD4/CD8 ratio 4.0 3.5 3.0 2.5 2.0 ₹ 0 1.5 0 0 ∇ V ₹ 1.0 0 0 ∇ X V 0.5 -0.0 A701 A702 A703 A705 A706 A707 A704 A708 A709 A710 Cat number 0 weeks p.i. 0 6 weeks p.i. 12 weeks p.i. ▼ V 15 weeks p.i.

Figure 6.c. CD4⁺:CD8⁺ lymphocyte ratios in PBMCs throughout the study.

The CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio was calculated for each cat at 0, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i.

The black bar indicates the ratio 1. All asymptomatic recipients have at least one time point where the ratio is below 1 and only A706 of the symptomatic recipients is below 1.

Red = cats receiving virus from the asymptomatic phase

Blue = cats receiving virus from the symptomatic phase

Green = cats receiving virus clone $GL8_{414}$

receiving the asymptomatic isolates had a higher percentage of their CD8⁺ lymphocyte population represented by CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ lymphocytes when compared to the cats receiving isolates from terminal cases. Although these findings were not statistically significant, a trend was clearly evident (see Figure 6.d.). Cat A706 displayed a dramatic change in lymphocyte numbers and the CD8 $\alpha\beta$ lymphocyte count of this individual was the highest of all 10 cats at 6 and 12 weeks p.i., consistent with a total increase of the CD8⁺ T lymphocyte population (see Figure 6.e.).

6.3.1.7. The CD8 $\alpha\beta$ population

The CD8 $\alpha\beta$ population was greater than the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ population throughout the study except in cat A703 at 6 weeks p.i. and cat A705 where the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ population was markedly higher prior to infection and cat A706 where the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ population was 2.5 times greater than the CD8 $\alpha\beta$ population at 15 weeks p.i. (see Figure 6.e.). Overall, the relative proportions of the two subpopulations of CD8⁺ T cells were similar to previously reported findings in which the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ population increased with FIV infection although the CD8 $\alpha\beta$ subpopulation was still predominant in the carly stages (Gebhard et al. 1999). It is noteworthy that the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ population was high prior to infection in cat A705 as this population was thought to be FIV-specific and neither proviral nor viral loads were detected prior to infection.

6.3.2. The role of Env in CD8⁺ T lymphocyte activation

6.3.2.1. Routine haematological analysis of cats A741 to A755

Of the cats inoculated with chimaeric viruses containing *env* from field isolates in the G8M backbone, three cats (A741, A748, A750) had low haematocrits accompanied by low haemoglobin levels at the time of infection. However, these increased to near the reference range by 3 weeks p.i. Six cats were neutropenic at some time during the study, four (A742, A743, A745, and A750) at 15 weeks p.i. A754 at 0 and 15 weeks p.i. and A755 at 12 weeks p.i. Moderate neutrophilia was recorded in two A746 and A751 at 3 and 6 weeks p.i. Full haematological results were unavailable for the following cats at week 0 - A744, A745, A746, A747, A753 and A755.

6.3.2.2. The CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio

In general, among the cats, there was a mild decline in the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio following infection with only cat A748 showing an increased ratio during the time course of the study. The CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio did not fall below 1 in any of the cats at any time during the 15 week study period (see Figure 6.f.).

6.3.2.3. The activated T lymphocyte subset: CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ T lymphocytes

The chimaera G8M(425) and the clone FIV-G8_{MYA} induced significant expansion of the percentage of CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ subpopulation. The G8M(425) chimaera induced a rapid expansion from a mean of 6.53% (± 0.61 SE) at 3 weeks p.i. to 9.9% (± 0.35 SE) at 15 weeks p.i. (see Figure 6.g.). G8_{MYA} induced a gradual expansion of the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ population within the infected cats. The mean maximum population was 7.53% (± 0.5 SE) at 15 weeks p.i. There was a statistically significant greater expansion of the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ lymphocyte subset following infection with FIV-G8M(425) compared to G8M(F14.7) from 3 weeks p.i. until post-mortem examination at 15 weeks p.i. (p<0.05 at 3-12 weeks p.i. and p<0.01 by 15 weeks p.i., Tukey test). Similarly, G8M(425) induced a significantly greater expansion of this lymphocyte subset compared to PET_{F14} and G8M(827) at 15 weeks p.i. (p<0.001 and p<0.007, respectively). The prototype clone G8_{MYA} also induced a statistically significant increase of the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ subset compared to G8M(F14.7) and PET_{F14} (p<0.01 and p<0.02, respectively) at 15 weeks p.i.

6.4. Discussion

When the lymphocyte subpopulations were examined following infection with four field isolates, the greatest changes were observed in cats infected with the asymptomatic isolates F0425H_{as} and F0556H_{as}, with the CD4:CD8 ratios of all four recipients falling to less than 1 during the 15 week study. In contrast, cats inoculated with the symptomatic isolates maintained higher CD4:CD8 ratios with a decrease below 1.0 being observed only in a single cat. Interestingly, the cats inoculated with the virus derived from the FIV-GL8₄₁₄ molecular clone did not develop ratios below 1.5. FIV-GL8 is a well-described isolate known to be pathogenic and resistant to vaccine induced protection (Hosie et al. 1995; Hosie et al. 1998b; Hosie et al. 2000) and inducing high proviral loads post infection (Hosie et al. 2002). Therefore the maintenance of CD4:CD8





Weeks post infection

CD8total/ $CD\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ ratios were plotted for each cat throughout the 15 week study. The cats were grouped as asymptomatic, symptomatic and clone recipients.



Figure 6.e. $CD8\alpha\beta$ and $CD8\alpha^{+}\beta^{low}$ absolute numbers.

The CD8 $\alpha\beta$ and CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ T lymphocyte subsets were measured at 0, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i. Each cat is represented by an individual histogram.





The CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio was measured at 0, 3, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i. Inversion of the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio was not seen in any of the cats. The group mean is shown for each group of cats.







The T lymphocyte subsets were measured by flow cytometry at -2, 0, 3, 6, 12, 15 weeks p.i. The figure demonstrates the group means. Significant differences compared to G8M(425). (* p<0.05, ** p<0.01).

Significant differences compared to FIV-G8_{MYA}. (" p<0.05, "" p<0.01).

ratios in the FIV-GL8414 infected cats in the present study was unexpected. However, in previous studies where inversion of the CD4:CD8 ratio was observed, cats were inoculated with FIV-GL8 by the i.p. route, (Hosie et al. 2000). The route of infection has been reported to influence the kinetics exhibited by individual isolates (Burkhard et al. 2002) and therefore the i.m. route used in the present study may account for the lack of inversion of the CD4:CD8 ratio. Furthermore, the nature of an infectious molecular clone (i.e. a homogeneous virus population) may not stimulate the immune system to the same degree as the biological isolate which may contain a swarm of quasispecies. Little is known about the dynamics of infection following i.m. inoculation but one study reported reduced viraemia even when 10 to 100 fold greater amounts of virus were inoculated compared to the i.p. route and furthermore the rate of seroconversion was found to be much faster by the i.m. route (Rigby et al. 1997). In the present study the CD8⁺ T lymphocyte count was highest in cat A706, which showed marked deviations in both CD4^+ and CD8^+ T lymphocyte populations, illustrating the phenomenon whereby some cats exhibit exaggerated reactions to infection with FIV. In contrast, the remaining 3/4 recipients of symptomatic isolates developed lower levels of CD8⁺ T lymphocytes than the asymptomatic recipients, consistent with the symptomatic isolates being less pathogenic than viruses isolated from animals in the asymptomatic phase of infection.

An increase in the $CD8\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ T lymphocyte population has been shown to be associated with antiviral activity *in vitro* (Bucci et al. 1998a) and a strong response was shown to correlate with reduced cell-associated viraemia in kittens (Crawford et al. 2001). However, in the present study we found that asymptomatic isolates stimulated the greatest $CD8\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ expansion in the recipients but this did not correlate with decreased levels of cellassociated virus. Indeed, the proviral loads of the asymptomatic isolate recipients were stable or continued to increase to the end of the 15 week study (see Figure 4.c.). Interestingly, the cats inoculated with FIV-GL8₄₁₄ developed lower $CD8\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ lymphocyte levels than the asymptomatic recipients, in contrast to previous studies. However, it may be postulated that a cloned population of a single virus rather than a swarm may stimulate the immune system to a lesser degree or that the route of infection altered the outcome as discussed above.

In HIV-1 infection, patients in the terminal stages of disease tend to be infected with SI, Tlymphotropic viruses that have been shown to have greater sequence heterogeneity than
(NSI) monocytotropic variants, which are generally found in the asymptomatic stage of the disease (Chesebro et al. 1992), during which time the virus replicates most rapidly (Connor and Ho 1994). We postulate that asymptomatic FIV variants may stimulate the $CD8\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ population if a similarly high rate of replication and concurrent production of variant viruses occurs. However the present study was too short to test whether increased $CD8\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ numbers correlated with decreased cell-associated virus. Also the sample size was very small so caution must be exercised in interpreting the results. However, the results of this study suggest that further investigations are merited, to examine more viruses isolated from the different stages of infection in larger groups of cats, which may highlight differences in replication rate and immunogenicity between isolates from asymptomatic and terminal stages of disease.

Recently it was reported that viruses with increased virulence evolved in cats infected with an FIV-PET strain of low pathogenicity (Hosie et al. 2002). Infection with FIV-PET is characterised by low viral loads and no expansion of the CD8⁺ T lymphocyte population while the variant viruses induced higher viral loads and expansion of the CD8⁺ T lymphocyte population when inoculated into naïve cats (Hosie et al. 2002). Since this evolution was correlated with a reduced ability to utilise CXCR4, it was suggested that a mutation that was found in the V3 loop of the variants, associated with CXCR4-tropism, led to reversion to virulence in vivo. In Chapters 3 and 4, we demonstrated that isolates from early stages of infection had a lesser ability to utilise CXCR4 and subsequently that this phenotype correlated with the induction of higher proviral loads, inversion of the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio and significantly greater infectious viral burdens following in vivo infection of cats. Although the degree of lymphocyte activation in cats inoculated with asymptomatic isolates was not statistically significantly greater in cats inoculated with isolates from the terminal stages of disease, a trend was identified which prompted us to examine the degree of lymphocyte activation induced by the Env proteins from the field isolates already examined. The proportion of the CD8⁺ T lymphocyte population in vivo represented by the activated phenotype $CD8\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ was significantly higher in cats following infection with the chimaera containing the asymptomatic env (G8M(425)) and the prototype clone FIV-G8_{MYA} compared to the symptomatic isolate (G8M(827)) and the FIV-PET_{F14} clone and chimaera (G8M(F14.7)). These results suggest that isolates which use CXCR4 more readily in vitro induce less activation of the CD8⁺ T lymphocyte

population *in vivo* and support the hypothesis of Hosie et al. (Hosie et al. 2002) indicating that CXCR4-tropism may correlate with the degree of $CD8^+$ T lymphocyte activation.

Cats inoculated with the clones FIV-G8_{MYA}, FIV-PET_{F14} or the chimaeras G8M(425), G8M(827) and G8M(F14.7) did not display inversion of the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio even though they received matched doses of virus compared to the biological field isolate trial. This may be attributable to lower infectious viral burdens, as demonstrated by the QVIs (see Figures 4.f. and 5.c.), suggesting that the rate of replication of these cloned viruses may be slower than the biological isolates. Furthermore, the degree of lymphocyte activation demonstrated by the cloned and chimaeric viruses was markedly less than that of the biological isolates suggesting that, as previously discussed, a homogeneous population of virus does not stimulate the expansion of the CD8⁺ T lymphocyte subpopulation to the same degree as a mixed population of viral quasispecies.

In conclusion, the results presented in this chapter demonstrate that Env is a major determinant influencing activation of the lymphocyte populations and that the Env proteins from the asymptomatic isolate and the clone FIV-G8_{MYA} induce significantly greater activation of the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ cell population compared with the FIV-PET or symptomatic virus Env proteins. It appears that the Env proteins mediate their effect on virulence/immune activation via the interaction with CXCR4 and therefore further work will be required to clarify the role of CXCR4-tropism in lymphocyte activation.

Chapter Seven

THE ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN OF FIV IN ISOLATES FROM ASYMPTOMATIC AND SYMPTOMATIC CATS

7.1. Introduction

Primary isolates of HIV-1 have distinct biological characteristics *in vitro* and can be distinguished by replication rate, cell tropism and syncytium inducing capacity (Cheng-Mayer et al. 1988; Schuitemaker et al. 1992; Connor and Ho 1994). Isolates may be classified as syncytium-inducing (SI) or nonsyncytium-inducing (NSI) based on their ability to form syncytia upon infection of the T lymphocyte cell line MT-2 (Koot et al. 1992). Monocytotropic, NSI isolates are thought to be transmitted and furthermore have found to be the phenotype that is isolated most readily in early infection (Schuitemaker et al. 1992; Zhu et al. 1993; Connor et al. 1993a). In contrast, SI isolates appear later in infection in about 50% of patients (Tersmette et al. 1989b; Koot et al. 1993) and this has been shown to correlate with disease progression, coinciding with a marked reduction in $CD4^+$ T lymphocyte count *in vivo* and expanded cell tropism *in vitro* (Connor et al. 1997).

HIV-1 has been shown to employ cofactors, G-protein coupled receptors, for the infection of cells. The α -chemokine receptor CXCR4 is required for entry of T cell-adapted, SI strains (Broder and Berger 1995; Bleul et al. 1996; Feng et al. 1996; Oberlin et al. 1996), and monocytotropic, NSI strains have been shown to use the β -chemokine receptor CCR5 (Alkhatib et al. 1996; Deng et al. 1996; Dragic 1996). However, some viruses are capable of using more than one molecule as a coreceptor, for example, use of the chemokine receptors CCR3 and CCR2b has been documented (Choe et al. 1996; Doranz et al. 1996).

The major determinant of the cell tropism of HIV is the envelope glycoprotein with receptor usage being closely associated with cell tropism and biological phenotype (Björndal et al. 1997). Conflicting reports have been published regarding the determinants of cell tropism within Env, highlighting the adaptability of lentiviruses to overcome blocks to cell infection. The determinants of macrophage-tropism lie between the V1 and V3 regions of the Env and have ranged from a single amino acid mutation to a combination of mutations spanning the region (Cordonnier et al. 1989; O'Brien et al. 1990; Hwang et al.

1991; Shioda et al. 1991; Shioda et al. 1992; Westervelt et al. 1992; Koito et al. 1994; Koito et al. 1995).

T cell-tropism and SI phenotype determinants also lie within the V2 and V3 loops where an increase in length of V2 has been associated with the time of conversion from NSI to SI (Fouchier et al. 1995). Further, an increase in positive charge of the V3 loop has been reported to coincide with the SI phenotype (de Jong et al. 1992; Fouchier et al. 1992) and this phenomenon was further characterised by the 11/25K rule whereby a basic residue at either of these positions within the V3 loop had a high prediction rate for the SI phenotype (Hoffman et al. 2002). A hypervariable locus on the V2 loop has been reported to be predictive for NSI to SI phenotype conversion (Groenik et al. 1993).

The envelope glycoprotein of FIV has a similar structure to that of the primate lentiviruses. It consists of two subunits, the surface glycoprotein (SU or gp120), and the transmembrane (TM or gp41) protein. Within the SU and TM are a number of variable regions. Selection pressure enforced upon the virus by the host immune response leads to the acquisition of mutations within these regions. The error-prone nature of the viral reverse transcriptase results in the accumulation of mutations in the *env* sequence while the host immune response applies a selective pressure resulting in resistant viruses. The variation in the amino acid sequence is clustered in the nine hypervariable regions of FIV - six of which occur in the SU with the remaining three in the TM (Pancino et al. 1993b). The changes in the amino acid sequence of Env are thought to occur at a ten-fold greater rate of change than that in the *gag* or *pol* genes (Greene et al. 1993), suggesting that they may be driven by the host immune response.

The envelope glycoprotein of FIV, like HIV, has several important regions. The principal neutralising domain is located in the V3 region (Lombardi et al. 1993), as are determinants of cell fusogenicity (Pancino et al. 1995) and cell tropism (Verschoor et al. 1995; Siebelink et al. 1995b). The V3-V4 region of the SU and TM contain determinants of macrophage-tropism (Vahlenkamp et al. 1997; Vahlenkamp et al. 1999) and also four amino acids between the fusion protein and the membrane spanning region of TM have been shown to inhibit CrFK-tropism (Lombardi et al. 1996).

The first aim of this study was to compare the *env* gene sequences of four field isolates, two asymptomatic (F0425H_{as} and F0556H_{as}) and two symptomatic isolates, (F0795H_s and

F0827H_s), to identify amino acid sequences which might correlate with receptor utilisation, cell tropism, the ability to adapt to *in vitro* culture and virulence *in vivo*. The second part of the study evaluated *env* sequence changes which led to infection of CrFK(HO6T1) cells with two symptomatic isolates (F0795H_s and F0827H_s), by either (a) cell-free infection or by (b) cocultivation.

7.2. Materials and Methods

7.2.1. Preparation of DNA

The envelope gene was sequenced from plasmid DNA prepared as described in Chapter 5.

7.2.2. Sequencing the env genes

The *env* gene was sequenced using a panel of primers which spans the entire length of the *env* gene (see Figure 7.a.), FIVenv6190f (5'-GGC AGT TGC AAT CTA CAT TA-3'), FIVenv6353f (5'-ATG AAA AAG GGC CAC TAA ATC-3'), FIVenv6490f (5'-GAAGAAGGAAATGCAGGTAAG-3'), FIVenv7223f (5'-GTA CAG ACC CAT TAC AAA TCC-3'), FIVenv8274f (5'-GCA TCA AGT ACT AGT AAT AGG-3'), FIVenv8294r (5'-CCT ATT ACT AGT ACT TGA TGC TC-3'), FIVenv8461r (5'CCC CCA AAG TTA TAT TTC C-3') and sequencing was carried out on an ABI 3100 capillary sequencer using Big Dye terminator 2 by the methods described by Rosenblum (Rosenblum et al. 1997) and Sanger (Sanger et al. 1977). The numbering of the primers corresponds to their location in the FIV-GL8_{MYA} molecular clone. Statistical analysis of results was carried out using the Wisconsin sequence analysis package (Devereux et al. 1984) (Genetics Computer Group, Inc., Wisconsin, Madison). Sequence data was analysed using Seque and BESTFIT (Smith and Waterman 1981) and sequences were compared with published sequence data using BLAST (Lipman and Pearson 1988) (National Centre for Biotechnology Information).

7.3. Field isolate sequences

7.3.1. Results

7.3.1.1. Comparison of env sequences

The full-length *env* genes of the four field isolates used in the *in vivo* study described in Chapter 4 were sequenced in order to identify sequence motifs that might be associated



Figure 7.a. Primer map on the envelope gene of FIV.

L = leader sequence, SU = surface glycoprotein, TM = transmembrane protein

 = restriction enzyme sites on the *env* gene.

 = direction and binding site of primer

The V1 and V2 regions occur in the putative leader sequence of ear but do not occur on the mature Env protein and therefore are not included in Figure 7.b. (Morikawa et al. 1991; Verschoor et al. 1993; Pancino et al. 1993b). However, notable differences occur in the sequences of the N-termini (see Figure 7.b. and Table 7.b.). At amino acid 111 all four primary isolates possess a systeine residue, while this is absent from FIV-PET_{Fit} and FIV-GL8_{MVA}. Notable variation clusters occur where acidic residues have been gained by some of the primary isolates, F0425H₄, at S₁₀D, F0556H₄, at S₁₀E and F0827H₄ at S₁₀D. At amino acid 138 all four field isolates have a positive residue lynne, resulting in a cluster of highly charged residues in this region among the field isolates. A further cluster of changes is present at sites 255 and 256 (see Figure 7.b.) where F0556H₄ has a shift in positive charges (KassR and RaseK). Similarly, three of the isolates possess negative charges or a polar charge at 313 (YarD/Q, see Figure 7.b.). with virulence and cell tropism. Variations in the env sequence occur throughout the gene but localise largely to the variable regions that form the external loops of the Env protein (see Figure 7.b.). This phenomenon is well documented for FIV (Phillips et al. 1990; Morikawa et al. 1991; Pancino et al. 1993b), HIV (Starcich et al. 1986) and SIV (Almond et al. 1992) and is thought to be the result of selective pressure from the host immune system. The most variable regions in the field isolates are the N-terminus and V5 regions and considerable length polymorphism is evident within the V5 region. The isolates in this study show greater homology to the U.K. isolate FIV-GL8 (see Table 7.a.) than to the U.S. isolate FIV-PET although all are subtype A viruses. All cysteine residues were conserved throughout the six sequences with the exception of F0556Has where an arginine residue (C248R) was present (see Figure 7.b.). Similarly, all four field isolates possessed a cysteine residue at 111 that is absent from FIV-PET_{F14} and FIV-GL8_{MYA}. Potential sites for N-linked glycosylation are more variable, however; there are 20 glycosylation sites common to all six isolates (see Figure 7.b.). FIV-PET lacks potential N-linked glycosylation sites at positions 481 and 518 compared to FIV-GL8. Field isolate F0556Has lacks a glycosylation site at position 448 but has an additional site at position 372 in the V3 loop and isolate F0827Hs also has an additional potential glycosylation site at 489 (V4 region).

7.3.1.2. Changes in the N-terminus of Env

The V1 and V2 regions occur in the putative leader sequence of *env* but do not occur on the mature Env protein and therefore are not included in Figure 7.b. (Morikawa et al. 1991; Verschoor et al. 1993; Pancino et al. 1993b). However, notable differences occur in the sequences of the N-termini (see Figure 7.b. and Table 7.b.). At amino acid 111 all four primary isolates possess a cysteine residue, while this is absent from FIV-PET_{F14} and FIV-GL8_{MYA}. Notable variation clusters occur where acidic residues have been gained by some of the primary isolates, F0425H_{as} at S₁₃₄D, F0556H_{as} at S₁₃₅E and F0827H_s at S₁₃₄D. At amino acid 138 all four field isolates have a positive residue lysine, resulting in a cluster of highly charged residues in this region among the field isolates. A further cluster of changes is present at sites 255 and 256 (see Figure 7.b.) where F0556H_{as} has gained a positive charge (R₂₅₆K), F0795Hs has lost +1 (K₂₅₅R) and F0827H_s has a shift in positive charges (K₂₅₅R and R₂₅₆K). Similarly, three of the isolates possess negative charges or a polar charge at 313 (Y₃₁₃D/Q, see Figure 7.b.).

Table 7.a. Field isolate nucleotide sequence comparison against the prototype viruses FIV-GL8 and FIV-PET.

Isolate	FIV-GL8 (%)	FIV-PET (%)
F0425H	93.69	92.33
F0556H	93.41	91.33
F0795H	95.44	92.16
F0827H	93.93	92.69

The field isolate *env* nucleotide sequence compared to the prototype viruses FIV-PETF14 and FIV-GL8 using SeqEd (Smith et al. 1981).

Figure 7.b. The amino acid sequence of the envelope glycoproteins.

	1				
GL8414	MAEGFAANRQ	WIGPEEAEEL	LDFDIATQMN	EEGPLNPGIN	PFRVPGITET
PETF14	MAEGFAANRQ	WIGLEEAEEL	LDFDIATQMS	EEGPLNPGVN	PFRVPGITEK
F0425H	MAEGFAANRQ	WIGPEEAEEL	LDFDIATQMN	EKGPLNPGIN	PFRVPGITEK
F0556H	MAEGFAANRQ	WIGPEEAEEL	LDFDIATOMN	EKGPLNPGIN	PFRVPGITEK
F0795H	MAEGFAANRO	WIGPEEAEEL	LDFDIATOMN	EKGPLNPGIN	PFRVPGITEK
F0827H	MAEGEAANRO	WIGPEEAEEL	LDFDTATOMN	EKGPLNPGIN	PERVEGITER
£002/11	PHIOTPHINQ	1101 001000	20101111 grm	EROT BREGIN	TIMIGTIEN
	F 1			(CT)	
	51	DEL ON DURT	OF WE FROM	4 50	
	EKQDYCNMLQ	PKLQALKNEI	QEVKLEEGNA	GKFRRARFLR	YSDETILSLI
	EKQNYCNILQ	PKLQDLRNEI	QEVKLEEGNA	GKFRRARFLR	YSDESVLSLV
	EKQNYCNILQ	PKLQDLRNEI	QEVKLEEGNA	GKFRRVRFLR	YSDETILSLI
	EKQNYCNILQ	PKLQDLRNEI	QEVKLEEGNA	GKFRRVRFLR	YSDETVLSLI
	EKQNYCNILQ	PKLQDLRNEI	QEVKLEEGNA	GKFRRVRFLR	YSDETILSLI
	EKQNYCNILQ	PKLQDLRNEI	QEVKLEEGNA	GKFRRVRFLR	YSDEHVLSLI
	101				
	HLFIGYCTYL	LNRKELGSLR	HDIDIEAPQE	ECYSSREQGI	TDNIKYGKRC
	HAFIGYCIYL	GNRNKLGSLR	HDIDIEAPOE	ECYNNREKGT	TDNIKYGRRC
	NLFVGYCTYL	CRKNELGTLR	HDIDIEVPOE	ECYDNREKGI	TDNIKYGRRC
	HLFIGYCTYL	CNRNNLGSLR	HDIDIEAPOE	ECYNEREKGT	TONTKYGRRC
	YLFIGYCTYA	CNRNRLGSLR	HDIDIEAPOE	ECYNNREKGT	TENTRYCORC
	HLFIGYCTYL	CNSRKLGSLR	HDIDIEAPOE	FCVENEEKCT	TENTRYCODC
	IIII IOIOIII	*	norordini Qu	DOIMMADIOI	TUNITUIGARC
	161				
	DICENCIVII	TETCUCTVIC			
	FIGIAGLILL	TEIGAGIIIG	TARAQVVWRL	PPLVVPVEES	EIIFWDCWAP
	CLGTVTLYLI	LEIGITISU	TTNAQVVWRL	PPLVVPVEES	EIIFWDCWAP
	IGTATLYLL	LEIGIIIY	TTMAQVVWRL	PPLVVPVEES	EIIFWDCWAP
	FIGTAVLYLL	TEIGIIANTO	TTSAQVVWRL	PPLVVPVEES	EIIFWDCWAP
	FIGTAGLYLL	LFIGVGIYLG	TTKAQVVWRL	PPLVVPVEES	EIIFWDCWAP
	IIGTAALYLI	LFTGIIIYTQ	TANAQVVWRL	PPLVVPVDES	EIIFWDCWAP
	201	•			
	EEPACODFLG	AMIHLKASTN	ISIQEGPTLG	NWAKEIWGTL	FKKATROCRR
	EEPACODFLG	AMIHLKAKTN	ISIREGPTLG	NWAREIWATL	FKKATROCRR
	EEPACODFLG	AMIHLKASTN	ISIOEGPTLG	NWAREIWGTL	FKKATROCRR
	FEPACODELG	AMTHLKASTN	ISIOEGPTLG	NWARETWOTT.	FKKATRO
	FEDACODELG	AMTHLKASTN	ISTOFCETLC	NWAKETWOTH	FERMINOGRA
	EEFACQDELC	AMTHLKASTN	ISTORCETIC	NWAREIWGIL	FREATROCKE
	CELUCADE DO	All Indiano I A	101000100	NWAKEIWGIT	TRAIRQUER
	0.5.1	_			
	251 •	-	•		•
	GRIWKRWNET	ITGPLGCANN	TCYNISVIVP	DYQCYLDRVD	TWLQGKVNVS
	GRIWKRWNET	ITGPSGCANN	TCYNVSVIVP	DYQCYLDRVD	TWLQGKINIS
	GRIWKRWNET	ITGPVGCANN	TCYNISVIVP	DYQCYLDRVD	TWLQGKVNIS
	GRIWKKWNET	ITGPLGCANN	TCYNISVIIP	DYQCYLDRVD	TWLQGKVNIS
	GRIWERWNET	ITGPLGCANN	TCYNISVIVP	DYQCYLDRVD	TWLQGKVNIS
	GRIWRKWNET	ITGPLGCANN	TCYNISVVIP	DYQCYLDRVD	TWLQGKVNIS
	1. P.				
	301		•	•	•
	ICLTCGKMLY	NEYTEOLSYC	TOPLOTPLIN	VTECONOTCM	WNTEATADDE
	LCLTCCKMLV	NKVTKOLSYC	TDPLOTPLIN	YTECONOTON	WNTGOTODE
	LOINCCANIA	NKMTKOLSVC	TOPIOTOITN	VERCONTEN	WNTSQIQUEE
	LCLIGGAMLY	NEALENCIERC	TOPLOTOLIN	VERCENCE	WNTSQIQUPE
	LCLIGGEMLI	NETEQUATE	TDEPOTETIN	TTEGPNOTCE	WNTSQIQUPE
	LCLTGGKMLY	NKUTKQLSIC	TDPLQIPLIN	YTFGPNQTCM	WNTSQIQDPE
	LCLTGGKMLY	NKOLSIC	TDPLQIPLIN	YTFGPNQTCM	WNTSQIQDPE
	351 V	73	•		
	IPKCGWWNQI	AYYNSCRWES	TDVKFHCQRT	QSQPCLWLRA	ISSWKQRNRW
	IPKCGWWNQM	AYYNSCKWEE	AKVKFHCQRT	QSQPGSWFRA	ISSWKQRNRW
	IPKCGWWNOK	AYYNSCRWEK	TDVKFHCQRT	QSQPGSWIRA	ISSWRQRNRW
	IPKCGWWNQG	AYYNSCRWES	TNVTFHCORK	QSQPGSWRRA	ISSWRORNRW
	IPKCGWWNOK	AYYNSCRWES	TDVKFHCORK	OSOPGSWSRA	ISSWKORNRW
	TPKCGWWNOK	AYYNSCRWE	TDVKFOCORT	OSOPGSWAR	ISSWKO
	-+		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	401	-	•		-
	401	TIMIGTORNOM	WIT TENNOO	CDVCEUMCN	TERCOURNES
	EWREDFESEK	VAVODUCINOT	KNI WERMOOD	GDIGEVIGAW	TEFGCHRNKS
	EWRPDFESKK	VKISLQCNST	KNLTFAMRSS	GDYGEVTGAW	TEFGCHRNKS
	EWRPDFESEK	VKVSLQCNST	KNLTFAMRSS	GDYGEVTGAW	LEFGCHRNKS
	EWRPDFESEK	VKVSLQCNST	KNLTFYMRSS	GDYGEVVGAW	IEFGCHRKKS
	EWRPDFESEK	VKISLQCNST	KNLTFAMRSS	SDYGEVMGAW	IEFGCHRNKS
	EWRPDFESEK	VKISLQCNST	KNLTFAMRSS	GDYGDTTGAW	IEFGCHRNKS

451 V4 GL8414 KLHTEARFRI RCRWNVGDNT SLIDTCGETQ NVSGANPVDC TMYANRMYNC PETF14 KLHAEARFRI RCRWNVGSNT SLIDTCGNTQ KVSGANPVDC TMYSNKMYNC F0425H RRHSEARFRI RCRWNIGDNT SLIDTCGNTQ NVSGANPVDC TMYENKMYNC F0556H KLHDEARFRI RCRWNEGDNA SLIDTCGKTQ NISGANPVDC TMYANRMYNC F0795H RLHTEARFRI RCRWNVGDNT SLIDTCGKTQ NVSGANPVDC TMYTNRMYNC F0827H KLHTEARFRI RCRWNIGDNT SLIDTCGKTQ NVTGANPVNC TMYANSMYNC 501 V5 SLONGFTMKV DDLIMHFNMT KAVEMYNIAG NWSCTSDLPP TWGYMNCNCT SLQNGFTMKV DDLIMHFNMK KAVEMYNIAG NWSCTSDLPS SWGYMNCNCT SLQNGFTMKV DDLIMHFNMT KAVGMYNIAG NWSCTSDLPP TWGYMNCNCT SLQSGFTMKV DDLIMHFNMT KAVELYNIAG NWSCTSDLPR DWGYMNCNCT SLQNGFTMKI DDLIMHFNMT KAVEMYNIAG NWSCTSDLPP TWGYMNCNCT SLONGFTMKV DDLIMHFNMT KAVEMYNIAG NWSCKSDLPP TWGYMNCNCT •551 V6 NSSST...N.S VKMACPKNQG ILRNWYNPVA GLRQSLEKYQ VVKQPDYLVV NSSSS..YSG TKMACPSNRG ILRNWYNPVA GLRQSLEQYQ VVKQPDYLVV NSSDN.. SND KKMECPGKQG ILRNWYNPVA GLRQSLEKYQ VVKQPDYLVV NGSDT.... TKMACPGKQG ILRNWYNPVA GLRQSLERYQ VVKQPDYLVV NSTTSGGT.S NKMACPNNQG ILRNWYNPVA GLRQSLEKYQ VVKQPDYLVV NSTSSVSTSS VOMACPSHOG ILRNWYNPVA GLROSLEKYO VVKOPDYLVV SU TM 601 PGEVMEYKPR RKRAAIHVML ALATVLSMAG AGTGATAIGM VTQYHQVLAT PEEVMEYKPR RKRAAIHVML ALAAVLSIAG AGTGATAIGM VTQYHQVLAT PEEVMEYKPR KKRAAIHVML ALATVLSMAG AGTGATAIGM VTQYQQVLAT PEEVMEYKPR RKRAAIHVML ALATVLSMAG AGTGATAIGM VTQYHQVLAT PGEVMEYKPR RKRAAIHVML ALATVLSMAG AGTGATAIGM VTQYHQVLAT PGEVMEYKPR RKRAAIHVML ALATVLSMAG AGTGATAIGM VTQYHOVLAT 651 HQETIEKVTE ALKINNLRLV TLEHQVLVIG LKVEAMEKFL YTAFAMQELG HQEAVEKVTE ALKINNLRLV TLEHQVLVIG LKVEAMEKFL YTAFAMQELG HREAIDKVTE ALKINNLRLV TLEHQVLVIG LKVEAMEKFL YTAFAMQELG HQEAIDKVTE ALKINNLRLV TLEHQVLVIG LKVEAMEKFL YTAFAMQELG HQEAIEKVTE ALKINNLRLV TLEHQVLVIG LKVEAMEKFL STAFAMQELG HQEAIEKVTE ALKINNLRLV TLEHQVLVIG LKVEAMEKFL YTAFAMQELG 701 CNQNQFFCKV PPELWKRYNM TINQTIWNHG NITLGEWYNQ TKELQQKFYE CNQNQFFCKI PPELWTRYNM TINQTIWNHG NITLGEWYNQ TKDLQQKFYE CNQNQFFCKV PEELWKRYNM TINQTIWNHG NITLGEWYNQ TKELQQKFYE CNQNQFFCKV PPELWORYNM TINQTIWNHG NITLGEWYNQ TKKLQKNFYE CNONOFFCKI PLELWEGYNM TINOTIWNHG NITLGEWYNO TKDLOOKFYE CNONQFFCKV PLILWORYNM TINOTWWNHG NITLGEWYNQ TKDLQQKFYE 751 IIMNIEQNNV QGKKGLQQLQ EWEDWVGWIG NIPQYLKGLL GGILGIGLGI IIMDIEQNNV QGKKGIQQLQ KWEDWVGWIG NIPQYLKGLL GGILGIGLGV IIMDIEQNNV QGKOGLQQLQ KWEDWVGWIG NIPKYLKGLL GGILGIGLGV IIMDIEQNNV QGKKGLQQLQ EWESWVGWIR NIPQYLKGLN GGILGIGLGV IIMDIERNNV QGKKGLQQLQ EWEDWVGWIG NIPQYFRGLL GGILGIGLGV IIMDIEQNNV QGKKGLQQLQ EWEDWVGWIG NIPQYLKGLL GGILGIGLGV 801 851 LLLILCLPTL VDCIRNCISK VLGYTVIAMP EIDDEEETVQ MELRKNGRQC GMS EKEEE LLLILCLPTL VDCIRNCIHK ILGYTVIAMP EVEGEEIQPQ MELRRNGRQC GMS EKEEE LLLILCLPTL VDCIRNCIHK ILGYTVIAMP EVEREIQPO MELRRNGRQC GMS EKEEE LLLILCLPTL VDCIRNCIHK ILGYTVIAMP EVDREENOPO MELRRNGROC MMS EKEEE LLLILCLPTL VDCIRNCFHK ILGYTVIAMP EVEREEIQPQ MELRRNGRON GIS EREEE LLLILCLPTL VDCIRNCIHK ILGYSVIAMP EIEGEEIQSQ MELRRNGRQC GIS EKEEE

Comparison of the primary isolates with FIV-GL8 and FIV-PET. Unique sequences are highlighted in blue and residues different from FIV-GL8 but the same as FIV-PET are highlighted in green. Variable regions are highlighted in grey. • highlights glycosylation sites and isolates involved are underlined. \downarrow represents the start of the SU and TM subunits

Table 7.b. Amino acid differences in the variable loops of the env gene.

			0K A172T K173S	0Q A172T K173S A172T	00 K173N											N568K N568K	N568H
			169T G17	G17	169T G17											K567G	K567N K567S
				Y168H											e cle al ji	A564E	a
			1661	166I 1167V	1661			V413I	V413I							/561K /561T	/561N K562(
		14	V1651 G	V1651 G	V1651 G		95R		R397S							S560D \ S560T \	
				/ L160	A L160		K30		0T		4			89N		*559N	*559S
	E115N E115R E115K		I G1561	G156\	II G156/		881	S8S	88H A39	2	d) K			83T D4	14 4 70 5	N558S N558*	N5587
0	K114N K114N K114N K114R		R F151	R Q	SR F151		36S L38	36S L38	36S L38		E	ICA		S4			G *557G
	113K H		K148	24 K148	K148		L36	SOK L38	L36			78K V/A	78K	78K		z	S *556(S *556)
5	112R R		×	K D142 K D142	×	mi	T20	T38	60			TOA EA		E4		D T555 D	T T555 T555
15	10001 10001		Q138	< Q138 0138	K Q138	10	-	on	H37			6I GE TAT		61	64.	S554 S554	T S554
-	0A 51-1-1-			R136	R136	2	LCV I	AICH N			0	4S V46		V46		(0	S553 S553
1	V L11		S135N	S135E	S135N	1.6	10700	12/21				R T454				S552C	
	1104		S134D	S134N	S134D		S370K		S3700		10	L452	-	hel		T541D	
11	H101N H101Y		A127V	ned	5	V3	1360K	1360K	1360K		V4	K450R	K450R		V5	P540R	
solate	F0425H F0556H F0795H F0556H		F0425H	F0556H	F0827H	Isolate	F0425H	HOCCU1	F0827H	ALL DATE	Isolate	F0425H	F0795H	F0827H	Isolate	F0425H F0556H	F0795H

symptomatic that of FIV-PET are highlighted in green. à

7.3.1.3. The V3 region

At amino acids 360 and 388 all four primary isolates display unique residues and at residues 386 all four isolates possess a serine, similar to FIV-PET (see Figure 7.b. and Table 7.b.). Compared to FIV-GL8, F0425H_{as} possesses a positively charged residue at positions 360 and 370 (I₃₆₀K and S₃₆₀K), isolate F0556H_{as} possesses a positive charge at 380 and 388 (T₃₈₀K and L₃₈₈R), and also possesses a potential glycosylation site at residue 372 (D₃₇₂N). Both of these isolates have a decreased positive charge at residue 395 (K₃₉₅R, a loss of +1). Isolate F0795H_s possesses a positive charge at residues 360 and 380 (I₃₆₀K and T₃₈₀K) and isolate F0827H_s has a positive charge at residue 360 (I₃₆₀K), and at residue 388 (L₃₈₈H), but possesses the polar residues glutamine at 370 and 376 (S₃₇₀Q and H₃₇₆Q) and lastly has less positive charge at residue 397 (R₃₉₇S) by possessing a serine residue.

7.3.1.4. The V4 region

Many unique changes have occurred in the V4 region (see Figure 7.b.). $F0425H_{as}$ possesses differences in charge compared to FIV-GL8 at residues 451 and 452 (K₄₅₁R and L₄₅₂R). F0556H_{as} has negative charges at residues 454 and 466 (T₄₅₄D and V₄₆₆E) and possesses a positive charge at residue 478 (E₄₇₈K) as do F0795H_s and F0827H_s (see Table 7.b.). Only the isolate F0827H_s possesses a potential glycosylation site at residue 489 (D₄₈₉N). However, all the isolates except FIV-PET_{F14} possess a potential glycosylation site at residue 481.

7.3.1.5. The V5 region

Length polymorphism is the main feature of the V5 region (see Figure 7.b.). In comparison to FIV-GL8, F0425H_{as} has one insertion, F0556H_{as} has one deletion, whereas $F0795H_s$ has two insertions and $F0827H_s$ has three insertions. The two asymptomatic isolates, $F0425H_{as}$ and $F0556H_{as}$, have more charged residues in this region than the symptomatic isolates (see Figure 7.b.).

7.3.2. Discussion

The biological behaviour and molecular properties of field isolates of FIV are unknown, hence this study examined four isolates, two from asymptomatic cats and two from terminally ill cats, which had displayed quite different properties during *in vitro* tropism studies. The *env* sequences were analysed as this gene has previously been shown to

contain determinants of host cell tropism and fusogenicity (Phillips et al. 1990; Pancino et al. 1995) as well as the principal immunodominant domain (Lombardi et al. 1993). The four field isolates show greatest homology to the FIV-GL8 prototype virus which is the more virulent of the two prototypic viruses used in this study, but there was no correlation with stage of disease and env sequence homology to either the more virulent FIV-GL8 or the laboratory-adapted FIV-PET. The greatest differences amongst the six viruses compared were located in the N-terminal and V5 regions as may be predicted since the hypervariable regions are thought to arise due to selective pressure from the host immune response (Siebelink et al. 1993; Pancino et al. 1993a). Surprisingly, however, the V3 loop, the site of specific amino acid mutations which are associated with cell tropism and the ability to form syncytia for both FIV and HIV (Chesebro et al. 1992; Shioda et al. 1992; Shioda et al. 1994), is not the region of greatest divergence. Virus cultured in vitro would not experience immunological pressure, which would explain the lack of changes within the V3 neutralising domain. In HIV, the V1/V2 region has been shown to be a determinant of macrophage-tropism (Westervelt et al. 1992; Koito et al. 1994) and the V2 region was shown to modulate the conformation of the required V3 region (Koito et al. 1995). However, no correlation to clinical staging was evident among V1/V2 sequences in HIV-1 from asymptomatic and symptomatic patients (Hughes et al. 1997). The relevance of the large degree of variation in the V1 and V2 region of FIV is unclear as the differences occur in the putative leader sequence and are not present in the mature Env protein (Verschoor et al. 1993) although the first coding region for the rev gene is found in this site (Phillips et al. 1992). A further area of interest was the cluster of charge changes occurring in the C2 region. In HIV-1 the binding sites for CD4, CCR5 and CXCR4 occur within the Nterminal region of SU, more specifically the V1/V2 stem and bridging sheet, V3 and conserved regions of the constant region C4 (Rizzuto et al. 1998; Kwong et al. 1998; Basmaciogullari et al. 2002). V1 or V2 variable loops have not been assigned for FIV SU, however, the region N-terminal to the FIV V3 loop requires investigation for similar determinants of cell tropism which may constitute the receptor binding domain of FIV SU.

As previously reported (Sodora et al. 1994) V5 was the only region where length polymorphisms occurred. Mutations in this region were shown to play a role in evading the immune response (Siebelink et al. 1993) and broad neutralisation resistance in the laboratory-adapted strain FIV-PET in long-term viral revertants was attributed to an S557N

mutation in V5 (Bendinelli et al. 2001). These findings suggest that the immune response exerts selective pressure on the V5 region.

The viruses in this study came from cats infected in the field and will thus contain a range of virus types, or quasispecies within each population. The sequences shown here may represent the most common or average viruses in the population, or may represent virus types that are more conducive to PCR amplification. Incomplete primer extension and template switching during PCR has been documented and so these sequences may even represent a hybrid sequence of viruses within the population (Odelberg et al. 1995). Biological cloning as described by Connor (Connor et al. 1993b) would allow further investigation of the quasispecies contained within each isolate and the identification of viruses with different tropism properties which may offer greater information about sequence variation within an infected individual. Such information may clarify the correlation of sequence variation and biological behaviour *in vivo* and the relationship with tropism and chemokine receptor usage *in vitro*.

Finally, linear sequence analysis may render little information about gene motifs and possible correlations of receptor usage and virulence whereas 3-dimensional analysis (Yamaguchi-Kabata and Gojobori 2000) may reveal more information about sites which are structurally related but distant in linear sequence.

7.4. Sequences changes that permit growth in CrFK(HO6T1) cells

7.4.1. Results

7.4.1.1. Analysis of sequence changes

Two isolates from cats in the terminal stage of disease, $F0795H_s$ and $F0827H_s$ achieved limited and persistent infection of CrFK(HO6T1) cells by cell-free infection, respectively and both achieved persistent infection following cocultivation with infected Mya-1 cells (see Chapter 3). The *env* genes from the virus cultures were sequenced to identify any common nucleic acid sequence which correlated with CrFK(HO6T1)-tropism.

 $F0795H_s$ achieved only transient infection of CrFK(HO6T1) cells by cell-free infection at 17 days post infection. Comparison between the A (cell-free infection) and B (cocultivation) cultures 795A and 795B respectively, revealed that identical mutations occurred within the variable loops at residues 396, 413 and 451 (Q₃₉₆H, I₄₁₃V and R₄₅₁K)

(see Figure 7.c. and Table 7.c.). Within the variable loops charge changes occurred in 3/4 of the variable regions in both cultures. The constant regions of each F0795H_s culture also revealed matching mutations, S₄₃₂G, M₄₃₈K and R₄₉₆K, notably the latter two mutations resulted in acquisition of further positive charge within this region (see Figure 7.c.). Further mutations common to both isolates occurred within the transmembrane protein, A₆₀₀E, T₆₀₅A, S₆₄₂Y, E₇₁₇K and F₇₈₇L but only two of the mutations in the transmembrane protein (at residues 600 and 717) result in a charge change (see Figure 7.c.). All cysteine residues were conserved. The virus sequenced from the A culture lost a potential glycosylation site at site 448. However, all other potential glycosylation sites were conserved (see Figure 7.c.).

F0827H_s achieved persistent infection of CrFK(HO6T1) cells from 31 days post infection. Six matching mutations occurred throughout the gene, $A_{172}T$ and $L_{265}S$ occurring in the Nterminus, $K_{360}N$, $K_{488}E$ within the variable loops and a further two occurring within the TM protein, $L_{712}P$ and $V_{726}I$ (see Figure 7.d. and Table 7.c.). Charge changes occurred at only two of these residues, 360 and 488, however, the mutation at residue 712 resulted in an additional proline residue and might therefore induce significant structural changes. Virus from culture B displayed minor changes at residues 265 and 313 ($K_{265}R$ and $Q_{313}H$). Further, changes occurred in 2/4 of the variable loops in culture A and 3/4 of the variable loops in culture B. In the V5 region, sequence 827B lost five amino acid residues and several mutations occurred ($V_{561}D$, $Q_{562}K$, $M_{563}L$, and $H_{568}R$) resulting in a gain of positive charge (+4) in that region of Env. The virus from culture B lost a potential glycosylation site at 481, similar to FIV-PET. All cysteine residues were conserved.

7.4.1.2. Common motif changes between cocultivated and cellfree infection of HO6T1 cells.

There were no universal motif changes within all four isolates, however, two residues were identified where a mutation was common to several isolates. K360N occurred in 795B, 827A and 827B while 795A displayed a K_{360} I mutation (see Table 7.d.). Residue 496 in the V4 variable region gained a positive charge in all isolates except 827A, where a small nonpolar amino acid was acquired.

Figure 7.c. The envelope glycoprotein sequences of the parental virus F0795H_s and viruses from cell-free infection and cocultivation of CrFK(HO6T1) cells respectively.

1 MAEGFAANRQ WIGPEEAEEL LDFDIATQMN EKGPLNPGIN PFRVPGITEK F0795H F0795H_A MAEGFAANRQ WIGPEEAEEL LDFDIATQMN EKGPLNPGIN PFRVPGITEK F0795H_B MAEGFAANRQ WIGPEEAEEL LDFDIATQMN EKGPLNPGIN PFRVPGITEK L↓SU V1 51 EKONYCNILQ PKLQDLRNEI QEVKLEEGNA GKFRRVRFLR YSDETILSLI EKONYCNILQ PKLQDLRNEI QEVKLEEGNA GKFRRVRFLR YSDESILSLI EKONYCNILQ PKLQDLRNEI QEVKLEEGNA GKFRRVRFLR YSDETILSLI V2 101 YLFIGYCTYA CNRNRLGSLR HDIDIEAPQE ECYNNREKGT TENIKYGGRC HLFIGYCTYV CNRNRLGSLR HDIDIEAPQE ECYNNREKGT TENIKYGKRC YLFIGYCTYA CNRNRLGSLR HNIDIEAPQE ECYNNREKGT TENIKYGGRC 151 FIGTAGLYLL LFIGVGIYLG TTKAQVVWRL PPLVVPVEES EIIFWDCWAP FIGTAGLYLL LFIGVGIYLG TTKAQVVWRL PPLVVPVEES EIIFWDCWAP FIGTAGLYLL LFIGVGICLG TTKAQVVWRL PPLVVPVEES EIIFWDCWAP 201 EEPACODFLG AMIHLKASTN ISIQEGPTLG NWAKEIWGTL FKKATROCRR EEPACODFLG AMIHLKASTN ISIQEGPTLG IWAKEIWGTL FKKATROCRR EEPACODFLG AMIHLKASTN ISIQEGPTLG NWAKEIWGTL FKKATROCRR 251 GRIWRRWNET ITGPLGCANN TCYNISVIVP DYQCYLDRVD TWLOGKVNIS GRIWRRWNET ITGPLGCANN TCYNISVIVP DYQCYLDRVD TWLOGKVNIS GRIWRRWNET ITGPLGCANN TCYNISVIVP DYQCYLDRVD TWLOGKVNIS 301 LCLTGGKMLY NKDTKQLSYC TDPLQIPLIN YTFGPNQTCM WNTSQIQDPE LCLTGGKMLY NKDTKQLSYC TDPLQIPLIN YTFGPNQTCM WNTSQIQDPE LCLTGGKMLY NKDTKQLSYC TDPLQTPLIN YTFGPNQTCM WNTSQIQDPE V3 351 IPKCGWWNQK AYYNSCRWES TDVKFHCQRK QSQPGSWSRA ISSWKQRNRW IPKCGWWNQI AYYNSCRWES TDVKFHCQRK QSQPGSWRRA ISSWKHRNRW TPKCGWWNQN AYYNSCRWER TDVKFHCQKT QSQPGSWSKT ISSWRHRNRW 401 EWRPDFESEK VKISLQCNST KNLTFAMRS SSDYGEVMGAW IEFGCHRNKS EWRPDFESEK VKVSLQCNST KNLTFAMRS SGDYGEVKGAW IEFGCHRKKS OWRPDFESEK VKVSLQCNST RNLTFAMRS SGDYGEVKGAW IEFGCHRNKS V4 451 RLHTEARFRI RCRWNVGDNT SLIDTCGKTQ NVSGANPVDC TMYTNRMYNC KLHSEARFRI RCRWNVGDNT SLIDTCGKTQ NVSGANPVDC TMYTNKMYNC KLHTEARFRI RCRWNVGDNT SLIDTCGKTQ NVSGANPVDC TMYANKMYNC

501 V5 SLONGFTMKI DDLIMHFNMT KAVEMYNIAG NWSCTSDLPP TWGYMNCNCT F0795H SLONGFTMKI DDLIMHFNMT KAVEMYNIAG NWSCTSDLPP TWGYMNCNCT F0795H_A SLQNGFTMKI DDLIMHFNMT KAVEMYNIAG NWSCTSDLPP TWGYMNCNCT F0795H_B 551 V6 NSTTSG..GT SNKMACPNNQ GILRNWYNPV AGLRQSLEKY QVVKQPDYLV NRTSEGTRGT SNKMACPNNQ GILRNWYNPV AGLRQSLEKY QVVKQPDYLV NDTTS..RGN GNKMACPNNQ GILRNWYNPV AGLRQSLEKY QVVKQPDYLV 601 VPGEVMEYKP RRKRAAIHVM LALATVLSMA GAGTGATAIG MVTOYHOVLA VPGEVMEYKP RRKRAAIHVM LALATVLSIA GAGTGATAIG MVTQYHQVLE VPGEVMEYKP RRKRAAIHVM LALATVLSMA GAGTGATAIG MVTQYHQVLE 651 THOETIEKVT EALKINNLRL VTLEHQVLVI GLKVEAMEKF LSTAFAMOEL THOEAIEKVL EALKINNLRL VTLEHQVLVI GLKVEAMEKF LYTAFAMQEL THQEAIEKVT QALKINNLRL VTLEHQVLVI GLKVEAMEKF LYTAFAMQEL 701 GCNQNQFFCK IPLELWEGYN MTINQTIWNH GNITLGEWYN QTKDLQQKFY GCNQNQFFCK IPLDLWKGYN MTINQTIWNH GNITLGEWYN QTKDLQRKFY GCNQNQFFCK IPLELWKRYN MTINQTIWNH GNITLGEWYN QTKDLQQKFY 751 EIIMDIERNN VQGKKGLQQL QEWEDWVGWI GNIPQYFRGL LGGILGIGLG EIIMDIERNN VQGKKGLQQL QEWEDWVGWI GNIPQYLRGL LGGILGIGLG EIIMDIERNN VQGKKGLQQL QEWEDWVGWI GNIPQYLRGL LGGILGIGLG 801 VLLLILCLPT LVDCIRNCFH KILGYTVIAM PEVEEEEIQP OMELRRNGRO VLLLILCLPT LVDCIRNCIH KILGYTVIAM PEVEEEEIQP QMELRRNGRQ VLLLILCLPT LVDCIRNCFH KILGYTVIAM PEVEEEEITV QMELRRNGRQ 851 RGISEEEE* RGISEKEEE* RGISEKEEE*

The variable loops are highlighted in grey, potential glycosylation sites are marked by \bullet and affected sequences underlined for clarity, the start of the SU and the TM are marked by \downarrow . Unique mutations are highlighted in blue and residues identical to FIV-PET are highlighted in green.

Table 7.c. Mutations recorded in the env gene sequence allowing infection of (CrFK)HO6T1 cells.

795A	Y101H	A110V			G148	¥								
795B				D122h	7		Y168C							
827A									A172T					
827B			L119V			1160		T1691	A172T					
11N2 10	do	IX I								1				
Isolate														
795A	K3601	1		00.00				S386	R	RT.		Q396H		141
795B	K360N	N N		S370R	œ	379K k	(380T		R389K	A390T	K395R	Q396H	E401Q	141
827A	K360N	N364S	E369K	×	(378E									
827B	K360N						S3(32N				S397	R	
/3 loop					LOI LOI	113	1.81	DEGI DEGI		21.524 21.725 21.725	NUL VILLE	1.67		
Isolate		192	100		PLI									
795A	R451K	T454S												
795B	R451K			T494A										
827A 827B			K478E K478E											
V4 loop				175										
Isolate			11		13:212	1		ex K	II II II II	CRU CAU	CA	18		
795A	S552R		T554S	S555E	follow 100	*557T	*558R					121		
795B	S552D				G556*		*558R	T560N	S561G					
827A														
827B	S552*	T553*	S554*	S555*	V556*				V561D	Q562K	M563L	H568R		

Figure 7.d. The envelope glycoprotein sequences of $F0827H_s$ and viruses from cell-free infection and cocultivation with CrFK(HO6T1) cells respectively.

1 MAEGFAANRQ WIGPEEAEEL LDFDIATOMN EKGPLNPGIN PFRVPGITEK F0827H F0827H_A MAEGFAANRQ WIGPEEAEEL LDFDIATQMN EKGPLNPGIN PFRVPGITEK F0827H_B MAEGFAANRQ WIGPEEAEEL LDFDIATQMN EKGPLNPGIN PFRVPGITEK LVSU 51 EKONYCNILQ PKLQDLRNEI QEVKLEEGNA GKFRRVRFLR YSDEHVLSLI EKONYCNILQ PKLQDLRNEI QEVKLEEGNA GKFRRVRFLR YSDEHVLSLI EKONYCNILQ PKLQDLRNEI QEVKLEEGNA GKFRRVRFLR YSDENILSLI 101 V1 V2 HLFIGYCTYL CNSRKLGSLR HDIDIEAPQE ECYDNKEKGT TANIKYGRRC HLFIGYCTYL CNSRKLGSLR HDIDIEAPQE ECYDNKEKGT TANIKYGRRC HLFIGYCTYL CNSRKLGSVR HDIDIEAPQE ECYDNKEKGT TANIKYGRRC 151 IIGTAALYLI LFTGIIIYTQ TANAQVVWRL PPLVVPVDES EIIFWDCWAP TIGTAALYLI LFTGIIIYTQ TTNAQVVWRL PPLVVPIDES EIIFWDCWAP IIGTAALYLL LFTGIIIYIQ TTNAQVVWRL PPLVVPVDES EIIFWDCWAP 201 EEPACQDFLG AMIHLKASTN ISIQEGPTLG NWAREIWGTL FKKATROCRR EEPACQDFLG AMIHLKASTN ISIQEGPTLG NWAREIWGTL FKKATRQCRR EEPACQDFLG AMIHLKASTN ISIQEGPTLG NWAREIWGTL FKKATRQCRR 251 GRIWRKWNET ITGPLGCANN TCYNISVVIP DYQCYLDRVD TWLOGKVNIS GRIWRKWNET ITGPSGCANN TCYNISVVIP DYQCYLDRVD TWLQGKVNIS GRIWRRWNET ITGPSGCANN TCYNISVVIP DYQCYLDRVD TWLQGKVNIS 301 LCLTGGKMLY NKQTKQLSYC TDPLQIPLIN YTFGPNQTCM WNTSQIQDPE LCLTGGKMLY NKQTKQLSYC TDPLQIPLIN YTFGPNQTCM WNTSQIQDPE LCLTGGKMLY NKHTKQLSYC TDPLQIPLIN YTFGPNQTCM WNTSQIQDPE V3 351 IPKCGWWNQK AYYNSCRWEQ TDVKFQCQRT QSQPGSWHRT ISSWKQSNRW IPKCGWWNQN AYYSSCRWKQ TDVKFQCQRT QSQPGSWHRT ISSWKQSNRW IPKCGWWNQN AYYNSCRWEQ TDVKFQCQRT QNQPGSWHRT ISSWKQRNRW 401 EWRPDFESEK VKISLQCNST KNLTFAMRSS GDYGDITGAW IEFGCHRNKS EWRPDFESEK VKISLQCNST KNLTFAMRSS GDYGDITGAW IEFGCHRNKS EWRPDFESEK VKISLQCNST KNLTFAMRSS GDYGDVTRAW IEFGCHRNKS 451 V4 KLHTEARFRI RCRWNIGDNT SLIDTCGKTQ NVTGANPVNC TMYANSMYNC KLHTEARFRI RCRWNIGDNT SLIDTCGETQ NVTGANPVNC TMYANTMYNC KLHTEARFRI RCRWNIGDNT SLIDTCGETQ NVAGANPVNC TMYANRMYNC

	501	•		• V5	•	
F0827H	SLQNGFTMKV	DDLIMHFNMT	KAVEMYNIAG	NWSCKSDLPP	TWGYMNCNCT	
F0827H _A	SLQNGFTMKV	DDLIMHFNMT	KAVEMYNIAG	NWSCKSDLPP	TWGYMNCNCT	
F0827H _B	SLQNGFTMKV	DDLIMHFNMT	KAVEMYNIAG	NWSCKSDLPP	TWGYMNCNCT	
	•551			Ve	6	
	NSTSSVSTSS	VQMACPSHQG	ILRNWYNPVA	GLRQSLEKYQ	VVKQPDYLVV	
	NSTSSVSTSS	VQMACPSHQG	ILRNWYNPVA	GLRQSLEKYQ	VVKQPDYLVV	
	NSTSS	DKLACPSRQG	ILRNWYTPVA	GLRQSLEKYQ	VVKQPDYLVV	
	601					
	601	VIM DED A THIM	AT AMILT CMAC	TO CONTRATON		
	PGEVMEIKPR	RKKAAIHVML	ALATVLSMAG	AGTGATAIGM	VTQYHQVLAT	
	PGEVMEIKPR	RKKAAIHVML	ALATVLSMAG	AGTGATAIGM	VTQYHQVLAT	
	PGEVMEIKPK	KKKAAIHVML	ALATVLSMAG	AGTGATAIGM	V.I.ŐXHŐATA.I.	
	651					
	HQEAIEKVTE	ALKINNLRLV	TLEHQVLVIG	LKVEAMEKFL	YTAFAMOELG	
	HQEAIEKVTE	ALKINNLRLV	TLEHQVLVIG	LKVEAMEKFL	YTAFAMQELG	
	HQEAIEKVTE	ALKINNLRLV	TLEHQVLVIG	LKVEAMEKFL	YTAFAMQELG	
	701	•	•	• •		
	CNQNQFFCKV	PLILWQRYNM	TINQTVWNHG	NITLGEWYNQ	TKDLQQKFYE	
	CNQNQFFCKV	PPILWQRYNM	TINQTIWNHG	NITLGEWYNQ	TKDLQQKFYE	
	CNQNQFFCKV	PPILWQRYNM	TINQTIWNHG	NITLGEWYNQ	TKDLQQKFYE	
	751			found to inf		
	751 TIMDIEONNV	OGKKGLOOLO	EWEDWVGWTG	NTPOYLKGUT	CGILCICICV	
	TIMDIEQUIN	OGKKGLOOLO	EWEDWVGWIG	NTPOYLKGLL	GGILGIGLGV	
	TIMDIEQNNV	OGKKGLOOLO	EWEDWVGWIG	NIPOYLKGLL	GGILGIGLGV	
			and compare	2111011	00110101010	
	801					
	LLLILCLPTL	VDCIRNCIHK	ILGYSVIAMP	EIEGEEIQSQ	MELRRNGRQC	
	LLLILCLPTL	VDCIRNCIHK	ILGYSVIAMP	EIEGEEIQSQ	MELRRNGRQC	
	LLLILCLPTL	VDCIRNCIHK	ILGYSVIAMP	EIEGEEIQSQ	MELRRNGRQC	
	951					
	CISEKEEE*					
	GISEKEEE*					
	GISEKEEE*					

such error

Variable loops are highlighted in grey, potential glycosylation sites are marked by \bullet and the affected sequences underlined. \downarrow represents the start of the SU and the TM subunits. Unique mutations are highlighted in blue and mutations identical to FIV-PET are highlighted in green.

7.4.2. Discussion

The ability of some FIV isolates to infect CrFK(HO6T1) cells is CXCR4-dependent (Hosie et al. 1998a; Egberink et al. 1999) and correlates with an increase in charge of the third variable region (Verschoor et al. 1995; Siebelink et al. 1995b) brought about by an E to K mutation at either position 407 or 409. In this part of the study, we aimed to compare sequences of two isolates from terminally ill cats which infected CrFK(HO6T1) cells by both cell-free infection and cocultivation in order to explore sequence changes which may correlate with this expansion in tropism.

An E to K mutation did not occur in any of the four virus sequences examined and, in contrast to previous studies, no increase in positive charge in the V3 loop was found. Interestingly, all viruses which achieved persistent infection of CrFK(HO6T1) cells (795B, 827A and 827B) had a K₃₆₀N mutation in the V3 loop, resulting in a decrease in charge. The significance of mutations outside the variable loops, common to both A and B isolates, is unknown but nonvariable regions have been found to influence phenotype in HIV (Hoffman et al. 2002). Greater numbers of mutations were observed in viruses sequenced from cultures infected by cocultivation compared to those obtained following cell-free infection. It is conceivable that further mutations may have been introduced during the further passage of CRFK(HO6T1) supernatants in Mya-1 cells prior to amplification of the *env* gene by PCR, however, previous studies have indicated that Mya-1 cells do not apply a selective pressure (data not shown). The PCR process itself has the inherent potential to introduce errors, although proofreading enzymes were used in these studies to minimise such errors.

A lysine to asparagine or glutamine mutation at site 481 in the V4 loop has previously been reported in cats inoculated with laboratory-adapted isolates which reverted to more pathogenic, neutralisation-resistant isolates (Bendinelli et al. 2001). It is interesting that the B culture of isolate $F0827H_s$ lost a glycosylation site, also at position 481, suggesting that this residue may be a determinant of broad neutralisation resistance, consistent with the results of Siebelink et al. (Siebelink et al. 1995a).

In order to characterise further the role of each mutation in CrFK(HO6T1)-tropism, it will be necessary to examine each mutation within the context of the original *env* as was done previously for HIV-1 (Boyd et al. 1993). This would require isolating each motif change

and inserting this into the parent envelope by site-directed mutagenesis. By subsequently cloning the mutated *env* into the $GL8_{MYA}$ viral backbone, the function of each mutation that was identified in this chapter could be investigated.

Chapter Eight GENERAL DISCUSSION

8.1. Introduction

The first aim of this study was to investigate the *in vitro* tropism of a range of primary isolates from cats at different stages of the disease and compare their phenotypes with the well-characterised prototype viruses, FIV-GL8 and FIV-PET, both of which have been the subject of many vaccine trials. The second aim of the study was to investigate the biological behaviour of primary isolates from different stages of the disease *in vivo*, in order to examine the relationship between pathogenicity *in vivo* and tropism *in vitro*. The third aim of the study was to examine the role of the env gene in the pathogenicity of FIV.

8.2. Isolates from the terminal stage of disease are more CXCR4tropic

FIV-GL8 and FIV-PET are two isolates that have been well-characterised *in vitro* and *in vivo*, as discussed in Chapter 3. The characteristics displayed by these two isolates led to the hypothesis that the pathogenicity of an isolate may be characterised by *in vitro* tropism, particularly the ability to utilise CXCR4. *In vitro* assays were employed to examine a panel of field isolates and it was found that isolates from cats in the terminal, symptomatic stages of the disease had a greater ability to utilise CXCR4. Interestingly, this ability was not consistent throughout all of the assays used. The assays based on AH927 cells demonstrated that many isolates from different stages of infection may use CXCR4 for entry, however a greater proportion of symptomatic isolates infected these cells compared to CXCR4-expressing CrFK cells.

CrFK-tropism was less common with only 2 isolates from terminally ill cats (F0795H_s and F0827H_s) achieving infection using cell-free virus. Viral stocks from these infected CrFK cultures were subsequently unable to infect the cell line AH927 FX4E. Furthermore, the FIV-G8M chimaeras containing the CrFK-tropic *env* genes, G8M(827) and G8M(F14.7), (Chapter 5) infected CrFK cells efficiently, but only achieved limited infection of AH927 FX4E cells. Although no blocking assays were conducted in this study to confirm the use of CXCR4 in the cell lines, previous reports document CXCR4-dependent infection of these cell lines (Willett et al. 1997c; Hosie et al. 1998a). The chimaeras G8M(827) and

G8M(F14.7) demonstrated CrFK-tropism but infected AH927 FX4E cells less efficiently. This suggested that some viral component other than Env may be required by FIV-PET and F0827H_s for efficient replication within these cells. The variation in tropism shown by the chimaeras may be due to (a) variation in CXCR4 conformation or presentation within the cell membrane environment or (b) some regions of genomes besides *env* imparts the ability to grow in AH927 FX4E cells. In general, the *in vitro* tropism studies suggest that isolates from more advanced disease stages have a greater affinity for CXCR4.

Different conformations have been described for the human homologue of CXCR4 (Baribaud et al. 2001; Lapham et al. 2002), a phenomenon that may exist with feline CXCR4 but has not yet been investigated. However, de Parseval and Elder have suggested that cofactors such as HSPGs may be involved in virus binding and have also identified a 40kD protein from primary feline T cells by coprecipitation with a gp95-Fc immunoadhesin molecule which is thought to participate in virus binding (de Parseval and Elder 2001). The ability to use different cofactors depended on the cell line and the viral isolate. The recent identification of the 40kD molecule CD134 as a primary receptor for cell entry has clarified receptor usage and tropism. CD134 has been shown to be the principal receptor for FIV cell entry, productive infection and syncytium formation. However, CD134-dependent entry requires the coreceptor CXCR4, shown by the dose-dependent inhibition of HeLa cells expressing feline CD134 by the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 (Shimojima et al. 2004).

8.3. CXCR4-tropism correlated with reduced virulence in vivo

The emergence of T-tropic, SI forming isolates in HIV-1 coincides with disease progression and marked decreases in CD4⁺ T lymphocyte numbers, which has led to the hypothesis that these isolates are more pathogenic (Tersmette et al. 1989a; Schellekens et al. 1992; Koot et al. 1993). Similar findings have been reported in FIV where the progression to feline AIDS coincides with reduction in CD4⁺ T lymphocytes (Ackley et al. 1990; Torten et al. 1991; Hoffman-Fezer et al. 1992). Contrary to this popular hypothesis, infection of SPF cats with isolates from asymptomatic cats induced higher proviral loads, higher infectious viral burdens, as measured by QVI, and inversion of the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio when compared to infections of cats inoculated with isolates derived from cats in the AIDS-like phase of the disease. The asymptomatic isolates exhibited FIV-GL8 like characteristics *in vivo* as well as *in vitro*.

8.4. The use of proviral DNA loads as a measurement of pathogenicity

As in HIV-1 infection, the predictive value of proviral DNA load in disease progression of FIV is still unknown. From the numerous studies in HIV-1 infection that have compared the two parameters, proviral load would appear to be most useful in the measurement of successful HAART, where non-responders have consistently high proviral DNA loads (Russell et al. 2001). The use of proviral load as a prognostic indicator in HIV-1 infection of infants was championed by Di Rossi and colleagues as rapid increases in proviral DNA loads within the PBMCs to very high levels correlated with early onset AIDS (de Rossi et al. 1996). However, other workers reported no correlation between proviral DNA loads in macaques infected with pathogenic SHIVs, which produced a marked decrease in the CD4+ T cell population, but the same clones also achieved higher viral loads than the less pathogenic SHIVs. Therefore, the use of proviral DNA in SIV infection as a prognostic indicator also remains unclear (Reimann et al. 1999).

The measurement of proviral load has received some scrutiny over recent years and the expression of proviral load as a fraction of 10^6 cells has been criticised because cell populations are not constant throughout the disease, as some cell populations have a tendency to decrease with disease progression. Therefore, the proposition that proviral load should be measured against blood volume (per ml of blood) has been made (Cone et al. 1998; Aleman et al. 1999) as this is a constant denominator throughout the disease. However, in the studies described in this thesis, proviral loads are expressed as a fraction of 10^6 cells.

Although retrovirus proviral DNA exists in many forms, only full-length integrated proviral DNA is replication-competent. In HIV-1 the majority of proviral DNA is found as the unintegrated form within the cytoplasm (Chun et al. 1997) or as defective genomes with deletions in the provirus (Sanchez et al. 1997). Therefore, the method of measurement may affect the levels detected. In the present study samples were not analysed for deletions within the provirus or the amount of unintegrated proviral DNA. However, QVI assays measuring the infectious viral burden in the PBMCs demonstrated a similar trend to that demonstrated by the proviral measurements from PCR, indicating that the proviral loads represent replication-competent proviral DNA rather than unintegrated

or defective DNA. An additional consideration is that virus type and route of infection have been shown to influence the dynamics of provirus in the PBMCs during experimental infection (Burkhard et al. 2002). The proportion of proviral load data with coefficients of variation >30%, particularly using the 1416p system, warrants caution when interpreting the results in isolation. As this system did not give an indication of the levels of replication-competent virus *in vivo*, the *in vitro* measurement of infectious viral load by means of QVI was a useful adjunct when assessing viral titres calculated by molecular methods.

8.5. Could route of infection affect viral RNA load in plasma?

The reasons for the low plasma viral RNA loads in this study are unclear. Some real-time PCR primers and probe mismatches were identified and the effect of different mismatches is unknown but several factors are known to influence the overall efficiency (see Chapter 4). However, the proviral measurements demonstrated that the same primers and probes were adequate for measurement of the field viruses, and therefore the cause of the low viral RNA loads remains unclear. If the route of infection influences viral dynamics then this is significant when testing vaccines and it will be important to establish challenge systems that mimic closely the natural route of transmission.

Detailed studies of the immune responses induced following infection with the field isolates may clarify the reasons behind this low virus release into plasma. Detailed examination of both CTL and noncytolytic responses (Flynn et al. 1995; Bucci et al. 1998b; Flynn et al. 2002), as well as the humoral immune response (Hosie and Jarrett 1990), would be important to investigate the possibility that immune responses are suppressing viral production.

8.6. Expansion of the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ population by asymptomatic isolates

An expansion of the $CD8\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ T lymphocyte subset coinciding with the *in vivo* evolution of an FIV-PET isolate to a more virulent state has been documented. This expansion was accompanied by increased plasma viral RNA and PBMC proviral DNA burden *in vivo* (Hosie et al. 2002).

In this study, FACS analysis revealed that isolates from cats in the asymptomatic stage of disease induce greater activation of the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ subpopulation in naïve SPF cats compared to symptomatic isolates. The phenomenon of noncytolytic CD8⁺ cell anti-FIV activity awaits further clarification. This population of cells was found to expand during acute FIV infection (Lehmann et al. 1992; Willett et al. 1993) and was later shown to suppress cell-associated and plasma viral expression (Jeng et al. 1996). Indeed total clearance, by noncytolytic mechanisms, of virus from intravaginally infected kittens was attributed to these cells (Bucci et al. 1998a). However, other reports demonstrate that the $CD8\alpha^{+}\beta^{low}$ phenotype is not solely responsible for viral suppression (Crawford et al. 2001) and indeed the CD8 $\alpha^{\dagger}\beta^{hi}$ population has been shown to exhibit similar antiviral activity (Flynn et al. 2002). The ability to induce a suppressor response in FIV-infected cats is variable. Some cats may demonstrate no inducible anti-FIV suppressor activity (Bucci et al. 1998a; Bucci et al. 1998b; Choi et al. 2000). Furthermore, the properties exhibited by the suppressor cells vary greatly: there was neither any correlation between the percentage of CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ cells in the population and the extent of antiviral activity exhibited (Bucci et al. 1998b), nor between the extent of $CD8\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ expansion and clinical disease (Jeng et al. 1996).

In this study, the asymptomatic stage isolates induced greater expansion of the CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^{low}$ T lymphocyte population. The findings that these isolates induced greater proviral DNA burdens, greater infectious viral burdens and greater inversion of the CD4:CD8 T lymphocyte ratio *in vivo*, led to the conclusion that these asymptomatic stage isolates are more pathogenic. Furthermore, the results depicted in Figure 6.g. indicate that *env* is a major determinant involved in the expansion of this lymphocyte population. Further work is required to further define the function of this cell population.

Major limitations of this project were a) the small number of viruses investigated and b) the small number of animals in each group, with the result that any statistical analyses must be interpreted cautiously. The results have, nevertheless, demonstrated trends that will prompt further investigation of field isolates using similar methods. By selecting two viruses from terminally ill cats, which were both CrFK-tropic, it is possible that more FIV-PET like viruses were selected, thus influencing the polarity of the results. The symptomatic viruses showed a range of tropism properties, from being able to infect CrFK cells and AH927 cells to infecting only IL-2 dependent cells Mya-1. Hence, it would be

interesting to examine more isolates in detail to determine the relationship between pathogenicity *in vivo* and cell tropism *in vitro*.

The viral populations within these primary isolates are poorly defined. Analysis of the quasispecies isolated from each individual by heteroduplex mobility assay (Delwart et al. 1993; Bachmann et al. 1997) and biological cloning (Connor et al. 1993b) may reveal further useful information regarding phenotypes. The replication rates, tropism and receptor usage of viruses within the quasispecies may reveal correlations with stage of infection. By further categorising the quasispecies within each isolate, it may be possible to identify common amino acid motifs responsible for each phenotype. In addition, analysis of the viral populations in each of the cats infected with primary isolates (A701-A708) throughout the 15 week study period would be worthwhile in order to examine the dynamics of the quasispecies *in vivo*.

8.7. Are terminal isolates the cause or the consequence of disease?

In HIV-1 infection, progression to disease coincides with the emergence of SI CXCR4 Ttropic isolates in about 50% of infected individuals. However it has been debated whether these isolates arise as a cause or a consequence of CD4⁺ T cell depletion (Cheng-Mayer et al. 1988; Fenyö et al. 1989; Tersmette et al. 1989a; Von Gegerfelt et al. 1991; Koot et al. 1992). SI isolates are typically found to occur in patients with moderately reduced CD4⁺ T cell counts, suggesting that they replicate following the onset of immune system dysfunction (Miedema et al. 1990). However, once SI isolates appear, a threefold decrease in CD4⁺ T cell numbers occurs. This outcome contrasts to that observed in people infected with only NSI viruses where, in general, a more prolonged, gradual decrease in CD4⁺ T cell numbers is seen. Therefore, the hypothesis that SI variants are more pathogenic and the cause of CD4⁺ T cell depletion has become popular. Reports of rapidly progressing disease in individuals infected from people with only SI variants support this hypothesis (Cheng-Mayer et al. 1988; Fenyö et al. 1989; Tersmette et al. 1989a; Koot et al. 1992; Schuitemaker et al. 1992; Roos et al. 1992; Groenik et al. 1993). Evidence from infection of pig-tailed macaques with late stage SI T-tropic SIV isolates that develop early onset simian AIDS suggests that SI viruses do indeed drive the progression to AIDS (Kimata et al. 1999).

However, if SI variants were more pathogenic, one would expect these viruses to predominate in individuals infected with a mixed population of viruses, which is not the case. The "division rate" theory suggests that SI CXCR4-tropic isolates are restricted due to their ability to infect only naïve T cells, which divide at a very low rate in contrast to memory cells, which are targets for NSI CCR5-tropic isolates and replicate at a much higher rate. The replication of the SI infected naïve T cells is only stimulated when the memory T cell count decreases (Davenport et al. 2002).

The pathogenesis of HIV/AIDS remains to be clearly defined. However, the trends evident from this study suggest that isolates from the asymptomatic stage of FIV infection produce higher proviral loads, greater perturbation of the lymphocyte populations and higher infectious viral burdens, and may therefore be classified as more pathogenic than the viruses isolated from the terminal stage of disease. While further work with additional primary isolates is required to confirm the generality of these findings, the trends reported here indicate the need to direct future FIV vaccine studies against primary isolates, particularly those from the asymptomatic stage of the disease, as these viruses are the most likely to be transmitted in nature.

Appendices

Appendix A.1. Haematology results for cats A701 to A704 at 0, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i.

						A 7	8			A7	03			A70		
Tact	ě	A A	10 12w	15 w	3	ew M9	12w	15W	MO	θw	12w	15w	∢ 0	бw	12w	15w
RBC ×10 ¹² /I	2 20		7 97		7.44	6.85	6.92	6.84	7.62	4.99	7.2	5.99	6.36	6.24	7.06	5.83
(5-10) Hb g/dl	105		10.9	7.85	12.0	10.9	11.2	10.8	11.0	7.07	10.3	8.26	9.9	9.4	10.7	8.79
(10-15) HCT %	29.0	26.3	28.8	50	32.0	29.2	28.8	28.4	29.2	19.4	27.3	22.3	26.8	25.9	29.0	22.9
(30-45) MCV fl	37.7	37.2	36.1	Q	43.1	42.7	41.7	41.5	38.2	38.9	37.9	37.2	42.2	41.5	41.2	39.3
(39-55) MCH pg	13.7	13.9	13.7	Q	16.2	15.9	16.2	15.7	14.4	14.2	14.3	13.8	15.5	15.1	15.2	15.1
(12.5-1/.5) MCHC g/dl	36.2	37.2	38	Q	37.5	37.2	38.8	37.9	37.7	36.4	37.8	37.1	36.8	36.3	36.9	38.3
(30-36) WBC x10 ⁹ /l	183	12.1	8.74	5.83	11.8	9.12	9.64	7.77	17.0	6.38	11.7	8.62	11.1	3.87	4.23	2.53
(5.5-15.5) Band neutrophils	200 F		c	0	0.12	0	0	0	0.51	0	0	0	0.22	0	0	0
x10 ⁹ /l Neutrophils x10 ⁹ /l	000.1		D B B	3 15	8 38	3.37	3.86	2.25	11.22	2.74	6.44	3.77	6.88	1.28	1.1	0.99
(2.5-12.5) 1 vmphorvtes	13.30	- 0		2 T	35 0	5 20	5 30	5.28	4.42	3.06	5.15	4.40	2.89	2.17	2.83	1.32
x10 ³ /l (1.5-7)	3.29	3.03	3.07	10.2	2. J			0 23	710	0.26	0.12	0.34	0.56	0.23	0.17	0.20
Monocytes X10 /1 (0-0.85)	0.37	0.12	0.18	0.12	0.30	0.10	0.13	C 7 7			c	7 4 0	056	0.16	0.13	0.02
Eosinophils x10 ³ /1 (0-1.5)	0.18	0.24	0	0.06	0.59	0.36	0.29	0	0.68	0.19	5	2 0				c
Basophils x10 ⁹ /I	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.06	0	э (5 0	t 0.0		> c
Normoblasts x10 ⁹ /I	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.06	0	5	2	>	>	>
* = toxic change																

Appendix A.1. (contd) Haematology results for cats A705 to A708 at 0, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i.

		A	705			A	206			Ä	707			A7(08	
est	ŇO	9 Q	12W	15w	3 0	6 G	12w	15w	ð	9 Ø	12w	15w	M O	бw	12w	15w
×10 ¹² /I -10)	6.02	6.73	7.21	5.71	7.6	6.34	7.52	6.23	6.72	6.87	7.91	7.28	6.46	5.97	6.36	5.41
g/dl 0-15)	9.2	10.3	11.4	9.02	10.9	9.34	11.1	9.32	10.0	10.4	12.3	10.9	9.1	9.27	10.2	8.81
CT % 045)	25.2	27.6	29.4	24.0	29.2	24.7	29.0	23.6	26.8	27.3	31.3	28.6	24.6	23.6	26.1	21.8
CV fl 9-55)	41.9	41.0	40.8	42.1	38.3	38.9	38.6	37.9	39.8	39.8	39.6	39.3	38.0	39.5	41.	40.2
CH pg 5-17.5)	15.4	15.3	15.8	15.8	14.3	14.7	14.8	15.0	14.8	15.1	15.6	15.0	14.1	15.5	16	16.3
4C g/dl 0-36)	36.6	37.4	38.7	37.8	37.3	37.8	38.3	39.5	37.2	37.9	39.4	38.3	37.1	39.2	38.9	40.5
2 x10 ⁹ /I -15.5)	15.64	8.74	10.2	6.35	19.4	8.49	10.1	5.73	14.8	14.0	12.0	13.8	16.9	15.5	16.7	12.8
eutrophils 10 ⁹ /1	0	ο	0	0	0.39	0	0	0	0.15	0	0	0	0.17	0	0	0
hils x10 ⁹ /I -12.5)	11.89	3.93	4.79	1.14	15.5	3.31	3.13	2.06	7.55	4.06	4.32	3.45	10.31	8.06	6.35	6.4
nocytes (1.5-7)	2.82	3.32	4.08	4.64	1.9	4.42	6.56	3.38	6.22	9.24	6.96	9.94	3.89	5.27	8.85	4.86
es x10 ⁹ /I).85)	0.16	0.35	0.20	0.19	0.58	0.42	0.20	0.29	0.44	0.42	0.12	0.28	0.51	0.31	0	0.13
1.5) x10 ⁹ /1	0.78	1.05	0.92	0.25	0.78	0.26	0.20	0	0.44	0.28	0.48	0.14	2.03	1.86	1.50	1.15
phils 0 ⁹ /I	ο	60.0	0.20	0.13	0.19	0.08	0	0	0	0	0.12	0	0	0	0	0.26
oblasts 0 ⁹ /I	0	0	0	0	ο	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Appendix A.1. (contd) Haematology results for cats A709 and A710 at 0, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i.

	15w	6.98	10.1	26.8	38.4	14.5	37.7	2.51	0	0.25	2.16	0.02	0.05	0.02	0
710	12w	7.68	11.5	30.2	39.4	15.0	38.0	5.48	0	1.04	4.22	0.16	0	0.06	0
A:	бw	6.97	11.0	29.3	42.0	15.7	37.5	3.63	0	0.11	3.09	0.22	0.22	0	0
	ŇO	7.32	11.5	30.6	41.8	15.8	37.7	15.0	0.6	9.15	3.75	0.75	0.75	0	0
	15w	6.18	9.41	24.5	39.6	15.2	38.4	4.69	0	1.45	3.14	0.05	0.05	0	0
709	12w	7.27	11.0	29.5	40.6	15.2	37.3	9.12	0	1.92	6.93	0.09	0.18	0	0
A	6w	6.68	06.6	26.9	40.3	14.8	36.8	8.07	0	2.66	4.84	0	0.56	0	o
	ð	8.4	12.6	34.4	41.1	15.0	36.6	12.2	0.12	8.66	2.44	0.37	0.61	0	0
	Test	RBC x10 ¹² /I (5-10)	Hb g/dl (10-15)	HCT % (30-45)	MCV fl (39-55)	MCH pg (12.5-17.5)	MCHC g/dl (30-36)	WBC x10 ⁹ /I (5.5-15.5)	Band neutrophils x10 ⁹ /l	Neutrophils x10 ⁹ /l (2.5-12.5)	Lymphocytes x10 ⁹ /l (1.5-7)	Monocytes x10 ⁹ /l (0-0.85)	Eosinophils x10 ⁹ /l (0-1.5)	Basophils x10 ⁹ /l	Normoblasts x10 ⁹ /l

Appendix A.2. Haematology results for cats A741, A742 and A754 at 0, 3, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i.

	15w	3.49	8.0	4.1	37.1	3.3	5.7	5.2	0	13	86	0	9	9	0
	2	ß	<u>е</u>	6	6	- -	е П			8	~		0	0	
	12	7.7	10.	27.9	35.9	13.	36.9	7.23	0	2.53	4.41	0.14	0.14	0	0
A754	бw	7.07	8.76	25.2	35.7	12.4	34.8	8.05	0	3.86	3.54	0.40	0.24	0	0
	Зw	7.15	9.19	26.3	36.8	12.9	35	8.4	0	4.87	2.52	0.08	0.92	0	0
	MO	6.58	8.67	25	38	13.2	34.7	3.82	0	1.87	1.45	0.04	0.42	0.04	0
	15w	7.1	10.5	29.1	41	14.7	36	2.62	0	0.31	2.07	0.03	0.18	0.03	0
	12w	7.55	11.2	30.3	40.2	14.8	36.8	11.4	0	5.24	5.13	0	1.03	0	0
A742	θw	7.3	10.2	29.1	39.9	14	35	7.58	0	3.11	3.49	0.15	0.76	0.08	0
	Зw	6.54	9.4	26.5	40.5	14.4	35.4	8.05	ο	3.62	3.86	0.08	0.48	ο	0
	ð	6.76	9.38	27.9	41.3	13.9	33.6	5.9	ο	2.83	2.36	0.12	0.53	0.06	0
1	15w	6.08	8.22	22.3	36.7	13.5	36.8	7.44	0	3.27	3.57	0.30	0.30	0	0
	12w	7.05	9.79	26.4	37.3	13.8	37.1	12.7	0	4.06	6.22	0.51	1.90	0	0
A741	бw	6.93	8.98	25.5	36.8	13	35.2	13.1	0	7.99	3.93	0.66	0.52	0	0
	3w	6.7	8.93	26	38.8	13.3	34.3	10.1	ο	5.66	3.33	0.20	0.81	0.10	ο
	ð	5.4	7.48	23	42.5	13.9	32.6	12.9	0.13	9.55	2.45	0.26	0.26	0.26	0
	Test	RBC x10 ¹² /I (5-10)	Hb g/dl (10-15)	HCT % (30-45)	MCV fl (39-55)	MCH pg (12.5-17.5)	MCHC g/dl (30-36)	WBC x10 ⁹ /I (5.5-15.5)	Band neutrophils x10 ⁹ /l	Neutrophils x10 ⁹ /l (2.5-12.5)	Lymphocytes x10 ⁵ /l (1.5-7)	Monocytes x10 ³ /I (0-0.85)	Eosinophils x10 ⁹ /l (0-1.5)	Basophils x10 ⁹ /I	Normoblasts x10 ⁹ /I

Appendix A.2. (contd) Haematology results for cats A743, A744 and A753 at 0, 3, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i.

											T	· · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	····		
	15w	6.61	9 [.] 6	27.1	41	14.5	35.4	8.65	0.09	4.24	3.81	0.26	0.17	0.09	0	
	12w	7.48	11.6	30.2	40.3	15.5	38.3	11.5	0	5.18	5.75	0.12	0.46	0	0	
A753	бw	6.67	9.97	27.1	40.6	14.9	36.8	11.8	0	6.02	4.25	0.59	0.83	0.12	0	
	3w	8.15	11.8	33.7	41.4	14.5	35.1	9.68	0	4.36	4.26	0.29	0.77	0	0	
	ŇO	p	pu	р	ри	pu	pu	р	g	p	P	P	p	p	P	
	15w	7.02	10.3	28.1	40.1	14.7	36.8	9.03	0	3.34	4.42	0.54	0.54	0.18	0	
	12w	7.77	11.5	30.6	39.3	14.8	37.7	11.4	0	6.73	3.99	0.11	0.57	0	0	
A744	6w	7.38	10.3	28.6	38.8	14	36.1	13.5	0	6.75	4.59	1.22	0.94	0	0	
	ЭW	6.84	9.79	27.5	40.2	14.3	35.6	8.35	0	4.59	2.76	0.33	0.50	0.17	0	
	3	nđ	g	pu	pu	pu	pu	nd	'n	ק	pu	pu	Ъ	P	p	
	15w	10.3	14.3	40.6	39.5	13.9	35.2	4.77	0	1.91	2.72	0.05	0.10	0	0	
	12W	7.2	10.4	27.9	38.7	14.5	37.3	7.41	0	4.08	2.74	0.22	0.30	0.07	0	
A743	θŴ	7.25	9.87	28.4	39.1	13.6	34.8	9.54	0	4.96	3.53	0.19	0.67	0.19	0	
	ЗW	7.14	9.74	28.5	39.9	13.6	34.2	17.4	0	12.88	2.96	0.52	1.04	0	0	
	ð	6.08	8.79	25.6	42.2	14.5	34.3	13.1	0	7.99	3.41	0.39	1.31	0	0	
	Test	RBC ×10 ¹² /I (5-10)	Hb g/dl (10-15)	HCT % (30-45)	MCV fl (39-55)	MCH pg (12.5-17.5)	MCHC g/dl (30-36)	WBC ×10 ⁹ /I (5.5-15.5)	Band neutrophils x10 ⁹ /l	Neutrophils x10 ⁹ /I (2.5-12.5)	Lymphocytes x10 ⁹ /l (1.5-7)	Monocytes x10 ⁹ /l (0-0.85)	Eosinophils x10 ⁹ /I (0-1.5)	Basophils x10 ⁹ Л	Normoblasts x10 ⁹ /1	id = not done.

Appendix A.2. (contd) Haematology results for cats A745, A746 and A747 at 0, 3, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i.

T		- 1	1		······										
	15w	6.21	8.61	24.2	39	13.9	35.6	7.08	0	4.74	1.77	0.14	0.42	0	0
	12w	8.31	11.7	31.3	37.7	14.1	37.3	15.7	0	9.26	5.02	0.47	0.94	0	0
A747	бw	8.01	10.7	30.6	38.2	13.3	34.6	11.7	0	8.31	2.57	0.23	0.58	0	0
	3w	7.29	10	28.7	39.4	13.7	34.8	17.4	0	10.79	5.39	0.52	0.70	0	0
	MO	р	pu	pu	pu	pu	pu	pu	'n	p	pu	p	g	g	٩
	15w	6.51	9.44	26.2	40.2	14.5	36.1	14.9	0	9.54	4.77	0.30	0.30	0	0
	12w	6.81	10.1	26.9	39.6	14.8	37.5	13.2	0	6.6	5.15	0.40	1.06	0	0
A746	бw	6.47	9.32	26.3	40.6	14.4	35.5	15.8	0	9.48	3.16	0.47	2.69	0	0
	3w	7.21	10.3	29.6	41.1	14.3	34.8	25.5	0	19.12	3.57	0.51	2.04	0.26	0
	š	p	pu	P	pq	nđ	p	16.6	0	11.45	4.48	0.17	0.50	0	0
	15w	5.83	8.22	22.6	38.9	14.1	36.3	7.22	0	2.46	4.26	0.14	0.29	0.07	0
	12w	6.62	9.28	25.9	39.1	14	35.9	12.6	0	5.54	3.05	0.13	0.76 (0.13 (0
A745	6w	6.81	9.29	27.4	40.3	13.6	33.9	10.6	0	4.45	5.19 (0.32 (0.53 (0.11 0	0
	3w	6.83	9.43	27.7	40.5	13.8	र्ष्ट	16.7	0	9.35	6.180	0.50	0.67 (0	0
	MO	P	pu	p	pu	g	P	11.2	0	7.06	3.47	0.45	0.22	0	0
	Test	RBC x10 ¹² /I (5-10)	Hb g/dl (10-15)	HCT % (30-45)	MCV fl (39-55)	MCH pg (12.5-17.5)	MCHC g/dl (30-36)	WBC ×10 ⁹ /I (5.5-15.5)	Band neutrophils x10 ⁹ /l	Neutrophils ×10 ⁹ /l (2.5-12.5)	-ymphocytes x10 ⁹ /l (1.5-7)	Monocytes x10 ⁹ /I (0-0.85)	Eosinophils x10 ³ /I (0-1.5)	Basophils x10 ⁹ /I	Normoblasts x10 ⁹ /I

129
Appendix A.2. (contd) Haematology results for cats A748, A749 and A751 at 0, 3, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i.

	N	25	4	ω	-	m	8	æ		5	8	8	~		
	15	7.2	9	29	4	4	34	8.2	•	3.1	4.8	0.0	0.1	•	0
	12w	7.53	11.1	29.5	39.1	14.7	37.5	9	0	6.2	2.8	0.2	0.8	0	0
A751	бw	7.22	10.1	28.3	39.2	14.1	35.9	23.9	0.239	17.21	4.78	0.72	0.72	0.24	0
	3w	7.48	10.6	30.4	40.6	14.1	34.8	10.1	0	5.56	3.74	0.30	0.50	0	0
	MO	5.5	8.12	23.8	43.2	14.8	34.1	14.5	0	9.57	4.35	0.44	0.14	0	0
	15w	6.92	9.95	27.5	39.8	14.4	36.2	17.4	0	9.05	6.09	0.17	2.09	0	0
	12w	8.04	11.4	31	38.6	14.1	36.6	9.14	0	4.48	2.56	0.18	1.92	0	0
A749	θw	9.81	13.8	36.8	37.6	14.1	37.4	9.34	0	5.23	2.99	0.19	0.84	0.09	0
	3w	8.07	10.8	31.2	38.6	13.4	34.6	13.5	0	7.16	4.32	0.54	1.48	0	0
	MO	6.98	9.94	28.8	41.2	14.2	34.5	8.54	0	4.36	3.33	0.08	0.77	0	0
	15W	6.99	9.42	26	37.2	13.5	36.3	6.54	0	3.53	2.75	0.06	0.20	0	0
	12W	7.82	10.5	28.7	36.6	13.5	36.8	4.9	0	2.25	2.16	0.05	0.44	0	0
A748	бw	8.2	10.5	30.8	37.6	12.9	34.3	16.2	0	8.1	6.97	0.32	0.65	ο	0
	3w	6.98	9.66	26.6	38.1	13.8	36.3	13.7	0	9.45	3.15	0.27	0.82	0	0
	ŇO	4	5.92	16	39.9	14.8	37.1	4.74	0	2.61	1.75	0.10	0.28	0	0
	Test	RBC ×10 ¹² /I (5-10)	Hb g/dl (10-15)	HCT % (30-45)	MCV fl (39-55)	MCH pg (12.5-17.5)	MCHC g/dl (30-36)	WBC x10 ⁹ /I (5.5-15.5)	Band neutrophils x10 ⁹ /l	Neutrophils x10 ⁹ /l (2.5-12.5)	Lymphocytes x10 ⁹ /l (1.5-7)	Monocytes x10 ⁹ /1 (0-0.85)	Eosinophils x10 ⁹ /l (0-1.5)	Basophils x10 ⁹ /1	Normoblasts ×10 ⁹ /1

Appendix A.2. (contd) Haematology results for cats A750, A752 and A755 at 0, 3, 6, 12 and 15 weeks p.i.

			A750					A752					A75	5	
Test	ð	3w	6w	12w	15w	ð	3w	٥ ٩	12w	15w	ð	Зw	٩ ٩	12w	15w
RBC x10 ¹² /I (5-10)	5.47	6.05	7.29	7.16	9.48	ဖ	6.9	7.07	8.07	7.75	Ъд С	6.25	7.23	7.32	6.98
Hb g/dl (10-15)	7.65	8.21	9.17	9.83	13	9.11	10.1	10.5	12.5	11.8	pu	8.84	10.2	10.6	10.3
HCT % (30-45)	22.5	23.5	27.3	26.9	35.6	26.2	28.9	28.6	32.9	31.7	pu	26	28.9	28.8	29.5
MCV fl (39-55)	41.2	38.8	37.5	37.6	37.6	43.8	41.9	40.5	40.7	40.9	pu	41.6	40	39.4	42.2
MCH pg (12.5-17.5)	4	13.6	12.6	13.7	13.8	15.2	14.6	14.8	15.4	15.2	bu	14.1	14.1	14.5	14.8
MCHC g/dl (30-36)	33.9	35	33.5	36.5	36.6	34.7	35	36.6	37.9	37.1	pu	34	35.1	36.9	35
WBC x10 ⁹ /I (5.5-15.5)	7.27	10.2	18.7	9.35	4.66	10.2	18.7	14.9	19.7	12.1	рц	13	15.0	7.27	10.6
Band neutrophils x10 ⁹ /l	0	0	0.19	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	р	0	0	0	0
Neutrophils x10 ⁹ /l (2.5-12.5)	4.29	3.98	8.42	3.09	1.82	6.43	12.90	8.49	14.97	7.02	פ	5.07	5.25	2.40	3.71
Lymphocytes x10 ⁹ /I (1.5-7)	2.25	4.59	8.04	5.42	2.61	2.86	4.68	5.36	3.74	3.99	P	7.28	8.55	4.29	6.25
Monocytes x10 ⁹ /I (0-0.85)	0.14	0.41	0.37	0	0.14	ο	0	0.74	0.20	0.24	פ	0.26	0.3	0	0.21
Eosinophils x10 ⁹ /l (0-1.5)	0.51	1.12	1.50	0.84	0.09	0.82	1.12	0.30	0.79	0.85	2	0.39	0.9	0.58	0.42
Basophils x10 ⁹ /I	0.07	0.10	0.19	0	0	ο	0	0	0	0	p	0	0	0	0
Normoblasts x10 ⁹ /l	0	0	0	0	0	0.10	0	0	0	0	p	0	0	0	ο
nd = not done.															

131

Appendix A.3. Media used in cloning experiments

LB-broth

10g tryptone5g yeast10g NaCl

Dissolve in 1 litre of dH_2O and then autoclave. For LB agar, add 1.2-1.5% agarose prior to autoclaving.

SOC medium

20gtryptone5gyeast0.5gNaCl

Dissolve in 1 litre of dH_20 and then autoclave. After autoclaving, add 1ml sterile MgCl₂, 1ml sterile 250mM KCl and 2.78 ml sterile 2M (36%) glucose/100ml.

References

Ackley, C. D., Yamamoto, J. K., Levy, N., Pedersen, N. C., & Cooper, M. D. 1990, "Immunologic abnormalities in pathogen-free cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 64, no. 11, pp. 5652-5655.

Agace, W. W., Amara, A., Roberts, A. I., Pablos, J. L., Thelen, S., Uggucioni, M., Li, X. Y., Marsal, J., Arezana-Seisdedos, F., Delaunay, T., Ebert, E. C., Moser, B., & Parker, C. M. 2000, "Constitutive expression of stromal derived factor-1 by mucosal epithelia and its role in HIV transmission and propagation", *Current Biology*, vol. 10, pp. 325-328.

Aleman, S., Visco-Comandini, U., Lore, K., & Sonnerberg, A. 1999, "Long-term effects of antiretroviral therapy on HIV-1 DNA levels", *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*, vol. 15, no. 14, pp. 1249-1254.

Alexander, R., Robinson, W. F., Mills, J. N., Sherry, C. R., Sherard, E., Paterson, A. J., Shaw, S. E., Clark, W. T., & Hollingsworth, W. T. 1989, "Isolation of feline immunodeficiency virus from three cats with lymphoma", *Australian Veterinary Practice*, vol. 19, pp. 93-99.

Alkhatib, G., Combadiere, C., Broder, C. C., Feng, Y., Kennedy, P. E., Murphy, P. M., & Berger, E. A. 1996, "CC-CKR5:RANTES, IP-1α, MIP-1β receptor as a fusion cofactor for macrophage-tropic HIV-1", *Science*, vol. 272, pp. 1955-1958.

Almond, N., Jenkins, A., Slade, A., Heath, A., Cranage, M., & Kitchin, P. 1992, "Population sequence of a simian immunodeficiency virus (32H reisolate of SIV $_{mac251}$): a virus stock used for international vaccine studies", *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 77-88.

Anderson, L., Hay, D., & Wilson, R. 1971, "Haematological values in normal cats from four weeks to one year of age", *Research in Veterinary Science*, vol. 12, pp. 579-583.

Åsjo, B., Morfeldt Manson, L., Albert, J., Biberfeld, G., Karlsson, A., Lidman, K., & Fenyö, E. M. 1986, "Replicative capacity of human immunodeficiency virus from patients with varying severity of HIV infection", *Lancet*, vol. 2, pp. 660-662.

Bachmann, M. H., Mathiason-Dubard, C. K., Learn, G. H. R. A. G., Sodora, D. L., Mazzetti, P., Hoover, E. A., & Mullins, J. I. 1997, "Genetic diversity of feline immunodeficiency virus: dual infection, recombination, and distinct evolutionary rates among envelope sequence clades", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 71, no. 6, pp. 4241-4253.

Baribaud, F., Edwards, T. G., Sharron, M., Brelot, A., Heveker, N., Price, K., Mortari, F., Alizon, M., Tsang, M., & Doms, R. W. 2001, "Antigenically distinct conformations of CXCR4", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 75, no. 19, pp. 8957-8967.

Barlough, J. E., Ackley, C. D., George, J. W., Levy, N., Acevedo, V., Moore, P. F., Rideout, B. A., Cooper, M. D., & Pedersen, N. C. 1991, "Acquired immune dysfunction in cats with experimentally induced feline immunodeficiency virus infection: comparison of

short-term and long-term infections", Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, vol. 4, pp. 219-227.

Barr, M. C., Butt, M. T., Anderson, K. L., Lin, D.-S., Kelleher, T. F., & Scott, F. W. 1993, "Spinal lymphosarcoma and disseminated mastocytoma associated with feline immunodeficiency virus infection in a cat", *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, vol. 202, pp. 1978-1980.

Barré-Sinoussi, F., Cherman, J. C., Rey, R., Nugeryte, M. T., Chamaret, S., Gruest, J., Dauget, C., Axler-Blin, C., Vezinet-Brun, F., Rouzioux, C., Rosenbaum, W., & Montagnier, L. 1983, "Isolation of a T lymphtropic retrovirus from a patient at risk from acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)", *Science*, vol. 220, p. 868.

Basmaciogullari, S., Babcock, G. J., van Ryk, D., Wojtowicz, W., & Sodroski, J. 2002, "Identification of conserved and variable structures in the human immunodeficiency virus gp120 glycoprotein of importance for CXCR4 binding", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 76, no. 21, pp. 10791-10800.

Beatty, J. A., Callanan, J. J., Terry, A., Jarrett, O., & Neil, J. C. 1998, "Molecular and immunophenotypical characterisation of a feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV)-associated lymphoma: a direct role for FIV in B-lymphocyte transformation?", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 72, no. 1, pp. 767-771.

Beatty, J. A., Willett, B. J., Gault, E. A., & Jarrett, O. 1996, "A longitudinal study of feline immunodeficiency virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in experimentally infected cats, using antigen-specific induction", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 70, no. 9, pp. 6199-6206.

Beebe, A. M., Niels, D., Faith, T. G., Moore, P. F., Pedersen, N. C., & Dandekar, S. 1994, "Primary stage of feline immunodeficiency virus infection: viral dissemination and cellular targets", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 68, pp. 3080-3091.

Bendinelli, M., Pistello, M., del Mauro, D., Cammarota, G., Maggi, F., Leonildi, A., Giannechini, S., Bergamini, C., & Matteucci, D. 2001, "During readaptation in vivo, a tissue culture-adapted strain of feline immunodeficiency virus reverts to broad neutralisation resistance at different times in individual hosts but through changes at the same position of the surface glycoprotein", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 75, no. 10, pp. 4584-4593.

Birnboim, H. C. & Doly, J. 1979, "A rapid alkaline lysis procedure for screening recombinant plasmid DNA", *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 7, pp. 1513-1522.

Bishop, S. A., Whiting, C. V., Stokes, S. R., Gruffydd-Jones, T. J., & Harbour, D.1992, "Infection of cats with feline immunodeficiency virus by mucosal routes: comparison of infectivity of different FIV isolates at different mucosal sites", European Commission Concerted Action on Feline AIDS, Workshop, Pisa.

Björndal, Å., Deng, H., Jansson, M., Fiore, J. R., Colognesi, C., Karlsson, A., Albert, J., Scarlatti, G., Littman, D. R., & Fenyö, E. M. 1997, "Coreceptor usage of primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates varies according to biological phenotype", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 71, no. 10, pp. 7478-7487.

Bleul, C. C., Farzan, M., Choe, H., Parolin, C., Clark-Lewis, I., Sodroski, J., & Springer, T. A. 1996, "The lymphocyte chemoattractant SDF-1 is a ligand for LESTR/fusin and blocks HIV-1 entry", *Nature*, vol. 382, pp. 829-833.

Boom, R., Sol, C. J. A., Salimans, M. M. M., Jansen, C. L., Wertheim-van Dillen, P. M. E., & van der Noordaa, J. 1990, "Rapid and simple method for purification of nucleic acids", *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 495-503.

Borretti, F. S., Leutenegger, C. M., Mislin, C. N., Hofmann-Lehmann, R., König, S., Schroff, M., Junghans, C., Fehr, D., Huettner, S. W., Habel, A., Flynn, J. N., Aubert, A., Pedersen, N. C., Wittig, B., & Lutz, H. 2000, "Protection against FIV challenge infection by genetic vaccination using minimalistic DNA constructs for FIV *env* gene and feline IL-12 expression", *AIDS*, vol. 14, pp. 1749-1757.

Boyd, M. T., Simpson, G. R., Cann, A. J., Johnson, M. A., & Weiss, R. A. 1993, "A single amino acid substitution in the V1 loop of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 alters cellular tropism", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 3649-3652.

Broder, C. C. & Berger, E. A. 1995, "Fusogenic selectivity of the envelope glycoprotein is a major determinant of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 tropism for CD4⁺ T-cell lines vs. primary macrophages", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.*, vol. 92, pp. 9004-9008.

Brown, E. W., Miththapala, S., & O'Brien, S. J. 1993, "Prevalence of exposure to feline immunodeficiency virus in exotic field species", *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 357-364.

Brown, W. C., Bissey, L., Logan, K. S., Pedersen, N. C., Elder, J. H., & Collisson, E. W. 1991, "Feline immunodeficiency virus infects both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 65, no. 6, pp. 3359-3364.

Brunner, D. & Pedersen, N. C. 1989, "Infection of peritoneal macrophages *in vitro* and *in vivo* with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 63, no. 12, pp. 5483-5488.

Bucci, J. G., English, R. V., Jordan, H. L., Childers, T. A., Tompkins, M. B., & Tompkins, W. A. F. 1998a, "Mucosally transmitted feline immunodeficiency virus induces a CD8⁺ antiviral response that correlates with reduction of cell-associated virus", *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 177, pp. 18-25.

Bucci, J. G., Gebhard, D. H., Childers, T. A., English, R. V., Tompkins, M. B., & Tompkins, W. A. F. 1998b, "The CD8⁺ cell phenotype mediating antiviral activity in feline immunodeficiency virus-infected cats is characterised by reduced surface expression of the CD8 β chain", *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 178, pp. 968-977.

Bull, M. E., Gebhard, D. G., Tompkins, W. A. F., & Kennedy-Stoskof, S. 2002, "Polymorphic expression in the CD8 α chain surface receptor of African lions (*Panthera leo*)", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 84, pp. 181-189.

Buracco, P., Guglielmino, R., Abate, O., Bocchini, V., Cornaglia, E., Denicola, D. B., Cilli, M., & Ponzio, P. 1992, "Large granular lymphoma in a FIV-positive and FeLV-negative cat", *Journal of Small Animal Practice*, vol. 33, pp. 279-284.

Burkhard, M. & Dean, G. A. 2003, "Transmission and immunopathogenesis of FIV in cats as a model for HIV", *Current HIV Research*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 15-29.

Burkhard, M., Mathiason, C. K., O'Halloran, K., & Hoover, E. A. 2002, "Kinetics of early FIV infection in cats exposed via the vaginal versus intravenous route", *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 217-226.

Butera, S. T., Brown, J., Callahan, M. E., Owen, S. M., Matthews, A. L., Weigner, D. D., Chapman, L. E., & Sandstrom, P. A. 2000, "Survey of veterinary conference attendees for evidence of zoonotic infection by feline retroviruses", *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, vol. 217, no. 10, pp. 1475-1479.

Callanan, J. J. 1995, "Feline immunodeficiency virus: a clinical and pathological perspective," in *Feline Immunology and Immunodeficiency*, First edn, B. J. Willett & O. Jarrett, eds., Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 111-130.

Callanan, J. J., Jones, B. A., Irvine, J., Willett, B. J., McCandlish, I. A. P., & Jarrett, O. 1996, "Histologic classification and immunophenotype of lymphosarcomas in cats with naturally and experimentally acquired feline immunodeficiency virus infections", *Veterinary Pathology*, vol. 33, pp. 264-272.

Callanan, J. J., McCandlish, I. A. P., O'Neil, B., Lawrence, C., Rigby, M., Pacitti, A. M., & Jarrett, O. 1992a, "Lymphosarcoma in experimentally induced feline immunodeficiency virus infection", *Veterinary Record*, vol. 130, pp. 293-295.

Callanan, J. J., Racz, P., Thompson, H., & Jarrett, O. 1993, "Morphological characterisation of the lymph node changes in feline immunodeficiency virus infection as an animal model of AIDS," in *Animal models for HIV infection*, P. Racz, ed., pp. 115-136.

Callanan, J. J., Thompson, H., Toth, S. R., O'Neil, B., Lawrence, C. E., Willett, B. J., & Jarrett, O. 1992b, "Clinical and pathological findings in feline immunodeficiency virus experimental infection", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 35, pp. 3-13.

Carpenter, M. A., Brown, E. W., Culver, M., Johnson, W. E., Pecon-Slattery, J., Brousset, D., & O'Brien, S. J. 1996, "Genetic and phylogenetic divergence of feline immunodeficiency virus in the Puma (*puma concolor*)", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 70, no. 10, pp. 6682-6693.

Carpenter, M. A., Brown, E. W., MacDonald, D. W., & O'Brien, S. J. 1998, "Phylogenetic patterns of feline immnodeficiency virus genetic diversity in the domestic cat", *Virology*, vol. 251, pp. 234-243.

Carpenter, M. A. & O'Brien, S. J. 1995, "Coadaptation and immunodeficiency virus: lessons from the felidae", *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development*, vol. 5, pp. 739-745.

Cheng-Mayer, C., Seto, D., Tateno, M., & Levy, J. A. 1988, "Biological features of HIV-1 that correlate with virulence in the host", *Science*, vol. 240, pp. 80-82.

Chesebro, B., Wehrly, K., Nishio, J., & Perryman, S. 1992, "Macrophage-tropic human immunodeficiency virus isolates from different patients exhibit unusual V3 envelope

sequence homogeneity in comparison with T-cell-tropic isolates: definition of critical amino acids involved in cell tropism", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 66, no. 11, pp. 6547-6554.

Choe, H., Farzan, M., Sun, Y., Sullivan, N., Rollins, B., Ponath, P. D., Wu, L., Mackay, C. R., la Rosa, G., Newman, W., Gerard, N., Gerard, C., & Sodroski, J. 1996, "The β -chemokine receptors CCR3 and CCR5 facilitate infection by primary HIV-1 isolates", *Cell*, vol. 85, pp. 1135-1148.

Choi, I.-S., Hokanson, R., & Collisson, E. W. 2000, "Anti-feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) soluble factor(s) produced from antigen stimulated feline CD8⁺ T lymphocytes supresses FIV replication", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 676-683.

Chun, T. W., Carruth, L. M., Finzi, D., Shen, X., di Giuseppe, J. A., Taylor, H., Hermankova, M., Chadwick, K., Margolick, J., Quinn, T. C., Kuo, Y.-H., Brookmeyer, R., Zeiger, M. A., Barditch-Crovo, P., & Siliciano, J. D. 1997, "Quantification of latent tissue reservoirs and total body viral load in HIV-1 infection", *Nature*, vol. 387, pp. 183-188.

Clapham, P. R. & McKnight, A. 2002, "Cell surface receptors, virus entry and tropism of primate lentiviruses.", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 83, pp. 1809-1829.

Cone, R. W., Gowland, P., Opravil, M., Grob, P., Ledergerber, B., & and the Swiss Cohort Study. 1998, "Levels of HIV-infected peripheral blood cells remain stable throughout the natural history of HIV-1 infection", *AIDS*, vol. 12, pp. 2253-2260.

Connor, R. I. & Ho, D. D. 1994, "Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variants with increased replicative capacity develop during the asymptomatic stage before disease progression", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 68, no. 7, pp. 4400-4408.

Connor, R. I., Mohri, H., Cao, Y., & Ho, D. D. 1993a, "Increased viral burden and cytopathicity correlate temporally with CD4⁺ T-lymphocyte decline and clinical progression in human immunodeficiency virus type-1 infected individuals", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 67, pp. 1772-1777.

Connor, R. I., Notermans, D. W., Mohri, H., Cao, Y., & Ho, D. D. 1993b, "Biological cloning of functionally diverse quasispecies of HIV-1", *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*, vol. 9, pp. 541-546.

Connor, R. I., Sheridan, K. E., Ceradini, D., Choe, S., & Landau, N. R. 1997, "Changes in coreceptor usage correlates with disease progression in HIV-1-infected indivduals", *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 185, no. 4, pp. 621-628.

Cordonnier, A., Montagnier, L., & Emerman, M. 1989, "Single amino acid changes in HIV envelope affect viral tropism and receptor binding", *Nature*, vol. 340, pp. 571-574.

Cornelissen, M., Mulder-Kampinga, G., Veenstra, J., Zorgdrager, F., Kuiken, C., Hartman, S., Dekker, J., van der Hoek, L., Sol, C., Coutinho, R., & Goudsmit, J. 1995, "Syncytium inducing (SI) phenotype suppression at seroconversion after intramuscular inoculation of a non-syncytium-inducing/SI phenotypically mixed human immunodeficiency population", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 69, no. 3, pp. 1810-1818.

Crawford, P. C., Papadi, G. P., Benson, N. A., Mergia, A., & Johnson, C. M. 2001, "Tissue dynamics of CD8 lymphocytes that suppress viral replication in cats infected neonatally

with feline immunodeficiency virus", Journal of Infectious Diseases, vol. 184, pp. 671-681.

Dalgleish, A. G., Beverley, P. C. L., Clapham, P. R., Crawford, D. H., Greaves, M. F., & Weiss, R. A. 1984, "The CD4 (T4) antigen is an essential component of the receptor for the AIDS retrovirus", *Nature*, vol. 312, pp. 763-767.

Davenport, M. P., Zaunders, J. J., Hazenberg, M. D., Schuitemaker, H., & van Rij, R. P. 2002, "Cell turnover and cell tropism in HIV-1 infection", *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 10, no. 16, pp. 275-278.

de Jong, J.-J., de Ronde, A., Keulen, W., Tersmette, M., & Goudsmit, J. 1992, "Minimal requirements of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 V3 domain to support the syncytium inducing phenotype: analysis by single amino acid substitution", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 66, no. 11, pp. 6777-6780.

de Parseval, A. & Elder, J. H. 1999, "Demonstration that *orf2* encodes the feline immunodeficency virus transactivating (Tat) protein and characterisation of a unique gene product with partial *rev* activity", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 73, no. 1, pp. 608-617.

de Parseval, A. & Elder, J. H. 2001, "Binding of recombinant feline immunodeficiency virus surface glycoprotein to feline cells: role of CXCR4, cell-surface heparans, and an unidentified non-CXCR4 receptor", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 75, no. 10, pp. 4528-4539.

de Parseval, A., Lerner, D. L., Borrow, P., Willett, B. J., & Elder, J. H. 1997, "Blocking of feline immunodeficiency virus infecton by a monclonal antibody to CD9 is via inhibition of virus release rather than interference with receptor binding", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 71, no. 8, pp. 5742-5749.

de Roda Husman, A.-M. & Schuitemaker, H. 1998, "Chemokine receptors and the clinical course of HIV-1 infection", *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 244-249.

de Ronde, A., Stam, J. G., Boers, P., Langedijk, H., Moloen, R., Hesselink, W., Ke, Dermans, L. C. E. J. M., van Vliet, A. L. W., Verschoor, E. J., Horzinek, M. C., & Egberink, H. F. 1994, "Antibody response in cats to the envelope proteins of feline immunodeficiency virus: identification of an immunodominant neutralisation domain", *Virology*, vol. 198, pp. 257-264.

de Rossi, A., Masiero, S., Giaquinto, C., Ruga, E., Comar, M., Giacca, M., & Chieco-Bianchi, L. 1996, "Dynamics of viral replication in infants with vertically acquired human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection", *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 97, no. 2, pp. 323-330.

Dean, G. A., Reubel, G. H., Moore, P. F., & Pedersen, N. C. 1996, "Proviral burden and infection kinetics of feline immunodeficiency virus in lymphocyte subsets of blood and lymph node", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 70, no. 8, pp. 5165-5169.

Delwart, E. L., Shpear, E. G., Louwagie, J., McCutchan, F. E., Rüsamen-Waigmann, H., & Mullins, J. I. 1993, "Genetic relationships determined by a heteroduplex mobility assay: analysis of HIV-1 *env* genes", *Science*, vol. 262, no. 5137, pp. 1257-1261.

Deng, H., Liu, R., Ellmeier, W., Choe, S., Unutmaz, D., Buckhart, M., di Marzio, P., Marmon, S., Sutton, R. E., Hill, C. M., Davis, C. B., Peiper, S. C., Schall, T. J., Littman, D. R., & Landau, N. R. 1996, "Identification of a major co-receptor for primary isolates of HIV-1", *Nature*, vol. 381, pp. 661-666.

Devereux, J., Heberli, P., & Smithies, O. 1984, "A comprehensive set of analysis programs for the VAX", *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 12, pp. 387-395.

Diehl, L. J., Mathiason-Dubard, C. K., O'Neil, L. L., & Hoover, E. A. 1995a, "Longitudinal assessment of feline immunodeficiency virus kinetics in plasma by use of a quantitative competitive reverse transcriptase PCR", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 69, no. 4, pp. 2328-2332.

Diehl, L. J., Mathiason-Dubard, C. K., O'Neil, L. L., & Hoover, E. A. 1996, "Plasma viral load predicts disease progression in accelerated feline immunodeficiency virus infection", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 70, no. 4, pp. 2503-2507.

Diehl, L. J., Mathiason-Dubard, C. K., O'Neil, L. L., Obert, L. A., & Hoover, E. A. 1995b, "Induction of accelerated feline immunodeficiency virus disease by acute-phase virus passage", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 69, no. 10, pp. 6149-6157.

Doranz, B. J., Rucker, J., Yi, Y., Smyth, R. J., Samson, M., Peiper, S. C., Parmentier, M., Collman, R. G., & Doms, R. W. 1996, "A dual-tropic primary HIV-1 isolate that uses fusin and the β -chemokine receptors CKR-5, and CKR-2b as fusion cofactors", *Cell*, vol. 85, pp. 1149-1158.

Dow, J. L., Poss, M. L., & Hoover, E. A. 1990, "Feline immunodeficiency virus: a neurotropic lentivirus", *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, vol. 3, pp. 658-668.

Dow, S. W. 1999, "In vivo monocyte tropism of pathogenic feline immunodeficiency viruses", Journal of Virology, vol. 73, no. 8, pp. 6852-6861.

Dow, S. W., Dreitz, M. J., & Hoover, E. A. 1992, "Feline immunodeficiency virus neurotropism: evidence that astrocytes and microglia are the primary target cells", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 35, pp. 23-35.

Dragic, T. 1996, "HIV-1 entry into CD4⁺ cells is mediated by the chemokine receptor CC-CKR-5", *Nature*, vol. 381, pp. 667-673.

Dunham, S. 2002, "The application of nucleic acid vaccines in veterinary science", *Research in Veterinary Science*, vol. 73, pp. 9-16.

Dunham, S. P., Flynn, J. N., Rigby, M. A., MacDonald, J., Bruce, J., Cannon, C., Golder, M. C., Hanlon, L., Harbour, D. A., Mackay, N. A., Spibey, N., Jarrett, O., & Neil, J. C. 2002, "Protection against feline imunodeficiency virus using replication defective proviral DNA vaccines with feline interleukin-12 and -18", *Vaccine*, vol. 20, pp. 1483-1496.

Egberink, H. F., Clercq, E., van Vliet, A. L. W., Balzarini, J., Bridger, G. J., Henson, G., Horzinek, M. C., & Schols, D. 1999, "Bicyclams, selective antagonists of the human chemokine receptor CXCR4, potently inhibit feline immunodeficiency virus replication", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 73, no. 8, pp. 6346-6352.

Egberink, H. F., Ederveen, J., Montelaro, R. C., Pedersen, N. C., Horzinek, M. C., & Koolen, M. 1990, "Intracellular proteins of feline immunodeficiency virus and their antigenic relationship with equine infectious anaemia virus", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 71, pp. 739-743.

Elder, J. H. & de Parseval, A. 2002 "FIV receptors and attachment cofactors", 6th International Feline Retrovirus Research Symposium Amelia Island Florida.

English, R. V., Johnson, C. M., Gebhard, D. H., & Tompkins, M. B. 1993, "*In vivo* lymphocyte tropism of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 67, no. 9, pp. 5175-5186.

English, R. V., Nelson, P., Johnson, C. M., Naisse, M., Tompkins, W. A., & Tompkins, M. B. 1994, "Development of clinical disease in cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 170, pp. 543-552.

Feng, Y., Broder, C. C., Kennedy, P. E., & Berger, E. A. 1996, "HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor", *Science*, vol. 272, pp. 872-877.

Fenyö, E. M., Albert, J., & Åsjo, B. 1989, "Replicative capacity, cytopathic effect and cell tropism of HIV", *AIDS*, vol. 3, no. S1, p. S5-S12.

Finerty, S., Stokes, C. R., Gruffyd-Jones, T. J., Hillman, T. J., Barr, F. J., & Harbour, D. A. 2002, "Targeted lymph node immunisation can protect cats from a mucosal challenge with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Vaccine*, vol. 20, pp. 49-58.

Flynn, J. N., Cannon, C. A., Reid, G., Rigby, M. A., Neil, J. C., & Jarrett, O. 1995, "Induction of feline immunodeficiency virus-specific cell-mediated and humoral immune responses following immunisation with a multiple antigenic peptide from the envelope V3 domain", *Immunology*, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 171-175.

Flynn, J. N., Cannon, C. A., Sloan, D., & Jarrett, O. 1999, "Suppression of feline immunodeficiency virus replication in vitro by a soluble factor secreted by CD8⁺ T lymphocytes", *Immunology*, vol. 96, pp. 220-229.

Flynn, J. N., Dunham, S., Mueller, A., Cannon, C. A., & Jarrett, O. 2002, "Involvement of cytolytic and non-cytolytic T cells in the control of feline immunodeficiency virus infection", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 85, pp. 159-170.

Flynn, J. N., Hosie, M. J., Rigby, M. A., Mackay, N., Cannon, C. A., Dunsford, T., Neil, J. C., & Jarrett, O. 2000, "Factors influencing cellular immune responses to feline immunodeficiency virus induced by DNA vaccination", *Vaccine*, vol. 18, pp. 1118-1132.

Flynn, J. N., Keating, P., Hosie, M. J., Mackett, M., Stephens, E. B., Beatty, J. A., Neil, J. C., & Jarrett, O. 1996, "Env-specific CTL predominate on cats protected from the feline immunodeficiency virus infection by vaccination", *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 157, pp. 3658-3665.

Fort Dodge Animal Health. Fort Dodge Animal Health received USDA approval for a feline immunodeficiency virus vaccine for cats. www.wyeth.-com/news/pressed_and_released/pr03_25_2002.html. Fouchier, R. A. M., Groenik, M., Kootstra, N. A., Tersmette, M., Huisman, H. G., Miedema, F., & Schuitemaker, H. 1992, "Phenotype associated sequence variation in the third variable domain of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 molecule", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 66, no. 5, pp. 3183-3187.

Gartner, S., Markovits, P., Markovits, D. M., Betts, R. F., & Popovic, M. 1986, "Virus isolation from and identification of HTLV-III/LAV-producing cells in brain tissue from a patient with AIDS", *Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 256, pp. 2365-2371.

Gebhard, D. H., Dow, J. L., Childers, T. A., Alvelo, J. I., Tompkins, M. B., & Tompkins, W. A. F. 1999, "Progressive expansion of an L-selectin-negative CD8 cell with anti-feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) function in the circulation of FIV-infected cats", *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 180, pp. 1503-1513.

George, J. W., Pedersen, N. C., & Higgins, J. 1993, "The effect of age on the course of experimental feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats", *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*, vol. 9, no. 9, pp. 897-905.

Greene, W. K., Meers, J., del Fierro, G., Carnegie, P. R., & Robinson, W. F. 1993, "Extensive sequence variation of feline immunodeficiency virus *env* genes in isolates from naturally infected cats", *Archives of Virology*, vol. 133, pp. 51-62.

Groenik, M., Fouchier, R. A. M., Broersen, S., Baker, C. H., Koot, M., van't Wout, A. B., Huisman, H. G., Miedema, F., Tersmette, M., & Schuitemaker, H. 1993, "Relation of phenotype evolution of HIV-1 to envelope V2 configuration", *Science*, vol. 260, no. 5113, pp. 1513-1516.

Gruffyd-Jones, T. J., Hopper, C. D., Harbour, D. A., & Lutz, H. 1988, "Serological evidence of feline immunodeficiency virus infection in UK cats from 1975-76", *Veterinary Record*, vol. 123, pp. 569-570.

Harouse, J. M., Gettie, A., Blanchard, J., & Cheng-Mayer, C. 1999, "Distinct pathogenic sequela in Rhesus Macaques infected with CCR5 or CXCR4 utilising SHIVs", *Science*, vol. 284, pp. 816-819.

Heid, C. A., Stevens, J. A., Livak, K. J., & Williams, P. M. 1996, "Real time quantitative PCR", *Genome Research*, vol. 6, pp. 986-994.

Hoffman, N. G., Sellier-Moiseiwitsch, F., Ahn, J., Walker, J. M., & Swanstrom, R. 2002, "Variability in the Human immunodefiviency virus type 1 gp120 Env protein-linked to phenotype-associated changes in the V3 loop", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 76, no. 8, pp. 3852-3864.

Hoffman-Fezer, G., Thum, J., Ackley, C. D., Herbold, M., Mysliwietz, J., Thefeld, S., Hartmann, K., & Kraft, W. 1992, "Decline in CD4⁺ cell numbers in cats with naturally

acquired feline immunodeficiency virus infection", Journal of Virology, vol. 66 No. 3, pp. 1484-1488.

Hohdatsu, T., Okubo, M., & Koyama, H. 1998, "Feline CD8 T cell non-cytolytic antifeline immunodeficiency virus activity mediated by a soluble factor(s)", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 79, pp. 2729-2735.

Hopper, C. D. 1989, "Clinical and laboratory findings in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Veterinary Record*, vol. 125, pp. 341-346.

Hopper, C. D., Cripps, P. J., Howard, P. E., Harbour, D. A., & Gruffyd-Jones, T. J. 1991, "The epidemiology of feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats in the United Kingdom", *Proceedings from the Society of Veterinary Epidemiology and Preventative Medicine*, M. V. Thursfield, ed., London, pp. 67-74.

Hosie, M. J., Broere, N., Hesselgesser, J., Turner, J. D., Hoxie, J. A., Neil, J. C., & Willett, B. J. 1998a, "Modulation of feline immunodeficiency virus infection by stromal cell-derived factor", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 72, no. 3, pp. 2097-2104.

Hosie, M. J., Dunsford, T., de Ronde, A., Willett, B. J., Cannon, C., Neil, J. C., & Jarrett, O. 1996a, "Suppression of virus burden by immunisation with feline immunodeficiency virus Env protein", *Vaccine*, vol. 14, pp. 405-411.

Hosie, M. J., Dunsford, T., Klein, D., Willett, B. J., Cannon, C. A., Osbourne, R., MacDonald, J., Spibey, N., Mackay, N., Jarrett, O., & Neil, J. C. 2000, "Vaccination with inactivated virus but not viral DNA reduces virus load following challenge with a heterologous and virulent isolate of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 74, pp. 9403-9411.

Hosie, M. J. & Flynn, J. N. 1996b, "Feline immunodeficiency virus vaccination: characterisation of the immune correlates of protection", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 70, no. 11, pp. 7561-7568.

Hosie, M. J., Flynn, J. N., Cannon, C. A., Dunsford, T., Mackay, N., Anderson, D. C., Willett, B. J., Miyazawa, T., Onions, D. E., Jarrett, O., & Neil, J. C. 1998b, "DNA vaccination affords significant protection against feline immunodeficiency virus infection without inducing detectable antiviral antibodies", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 72, pp. 7310-7319.

Hosie, M. J. & Jarrett, O. 1990, "Serological responses of cats to feline immunodeficiency virus", *AIDS*, vol. 4, pp. 215-220.

Hosie, M. J., Osborne, R., Reid, G., Neil, J. C., & Jarrett, O. 1992, "Enhancement after feline immunodeficiency virus infection", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 35, pp. 191-197.

Hosie, M. J., Osborne, R., Yamamoto, J. K., Neil, J. C., & Jarrett, O. 1995, "Protection against homologous but not heterologous challenge induced by inactivated feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 69, pp. 1253-1255.

Hosie, M. J., Robertson, C., & Jarrett, O. 1989, "Prevalence of feline leukaemia virus and antibodies to feline immunodeficiency virus in cats in the United Kingdom", *Veterinary Record*, vol. 128, pp. 293-297.

Hosie, M. J., Willett, B. J., Dunsford, T., Jarrett, O., & Neil, J. C. 1993, "A monoclonal antibody which blocks infection with feline immunodeficiency virus identifies a possible non-CD4 receptor", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 67, pp. 1667-1671.

Hosie, M. J., Willett, B. J., Klein, D., Dunsford, T., Cannon, C. A., Shimojima, M., Neil, J. C., & Jarrett, O. 2002, "Evolution of replication efficiency following infection with a molecularly cloned feline immunodeficiency virus of low virulence", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 76, no. 12, pp. 6062-6072.

Hughes, E. S., Bell, J. E., & Simmonds, P. 1997, "Investigation of population diversity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 *in vivo* by nucleotide sequencing and length polymorphism analysis of the V1/V2 hypervariable region of *env*", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 78, pp. 2871-2882.

Hutson, C. A., Rideout, B. A., & Pedersen, N. C. 1991, "Neoplasia associated with feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats of southern California", *J.Am.Vet.Med.Assoc.*, vol. 199, no. 10, pp. 1357-1362.

Hwang, S. S., Boyle, T. J., Lyerly, K., & Cullen, B. R. 1991, "Identification of the envelope V3 loop as the primary determinant of cell tropism in HIV-1", *Science*, vol. 253, pp. 71-73.

Ikeda, Y., Tomonaga, K., Kawaguchi, Y., Kohmoto, M., Inoshima, Y., Tohya, Y., Miyazawa, T., Kai, C., & Mikami, T. 1996, "Feline immunodeficiency virus can infect a human cell line (MOLT-4) but establishes a state of latency in the cells", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 77, pp. 1623-1630.

Inoshima, Y., Ikeda, Y., Kohmoto, M., Pecoraro, M. R., Shimojima, M., Shimojima, Y., Inada, G., Kawaguchi, Y., Tomanaga, K., Miyazawa, T., & Mikami, T. 1996, "Persistence of high virus neutralising antibody titers in cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, vol. 58, pp. 925-927.

Ishida, T. & Tomoda, I. 1990, "Clinical staging of feline immunodeficiency virus infection", *Japanese Journal of Veterinary Science*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 645-648.

Ishida, T., Wasizu, T., Toriyabe, K., & Motoyoshi, S. 1988, "Detection of feline Tlymphtropic lentivirus (FLTV) infection in Japanese domestic cats", *Japanese Journal of Veterinary Science*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 39-44.

Jeng, C. R., English, R. V., Childers, T. A., Tompkins, M. B., & Tompkins, W. A. F. 1996, "Evidence for CD8⁺ antiviral activity in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 70, no. 4, pp. 2474-2480.

Johnston, J. & Power, C. 1999, "Productive infection of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells by feline immunodeficiency virus: implications for vector development", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 73, no. 3, pp. 2491-2498.

Kakinuma, S., Motokawa, K., Hohdatsu, T., Yamamoto, J. K., Koyama, H., & Hashimoto, H. 1995, "Nucleotide sequence of feline immunodeficiency virus: classification of Japanese isolates into two subtypes which are distinct from non-Japanese subtypes", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 69, no. 6, pp. 3639-3646.

Kimata, J. T., Kuller, L., Anderson, D. B., Dailey, P., & Overbaugh, J. 1999, "Emerging cytopathic and antigenic simian immunodeficiency virus variants influence AIDS progression", *Nature Medicine*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 535-541.

Kiyomasu, T., Miyazawa, T., Furuya, T., Shibata, R., Sakai, H., Sakuragi, J., Fukasawa, T., Maki, N., Hasegawa, A., Mikami, T., & Adachi, A. 1991, "Identification of feline immunodeficiency virus *rev* gene activity", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 65, no. 8, pp. 4539-4542.

Klatzmann, D., Champagne, E., Chamaret, S., Guetard, D., Hercend, T., Gluckmann, J. C., & Montagnier, L. 1984, "T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV", *Nature*, vol. 312, pp. 767-768.

Klein, D., Bugl, B., Gunzburg, W. H., & Salmons, B. 2000, "Accurate estimation of transduction efficiency necessitates a multiplex real-time PCR", *Gene Therapy*, vol. 7, pp. 458-463.

Klein, D., Janda, P., Steinborn, R., Muller, M., Salmons, B., & Gunzburg, W. H. 1999, "Proviral load determination of different feline immunodeficiency virus isolates using realtime polymerase chain reaction: Influence of mismatches on quantification.", *Electrophoresis*, vol. 20, pp. 291-299.

Klein, D., Leutenegger, C. M., Bahula, C., Gold, P., Hofmann-Lehmann, R., Salmons, B., Lutz, H., & Gunzburg, W. H. 2001, "Influence of preassay and sequence variations on viral load determination by a multiplex real-time reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction for feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, vol. 26, pp. 8-20.

Kohmoto, M., Miyazawa, T., Sato, E., Uetsuka, K., Nishimura, Y., Ikeda, Y., Inada, G., Doi, K., & Mikami, T. 1998, "Cats are protected against feline immunodeficiency virus infection following vaccination with a homologous AP-1 binding site-deleted mutant", *Archives of Virology*, vol. 143, no. 9, pp. 1839-1845.

Koito, A., Harrowe, G., Levy, J. A., & Cheng-Mayer, C. 1994, "Functional role of the V1/V2 region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp120 in infection of primary macrophages and soluble CD4 neutralisation", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 68, no. 4, pp. 2253-2259.

Koito, A., Stamatatos, L., & Cheng-Mayer, C. 1995, "Small amino acid sequence changes within the V2 domain can affect the function of a T-cell line-tropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope gp120", *Virology*, vol. 206, pp. 878-884.

Koot, M., Keet, I. P. M., Vos, A. H. V., de Goede, R. E. Y., Roos, M. T. L., Coutinho, R. A., Miedema, F., Schellekens, P. T. A., & Tersmette, M. 1993, "Prognostic value of HIV-1 syncytium-inducing phenotype for rate of CD4⁺ cell depletion and progression to AIDS", *Annals of Internal Medicine*, vol. 118, no. 9, pp. 681-688.

Koot, M., Vos, A. H., Keet, R. P., de Goede, R. E. Y., Dercksen, M. W., Terpstra, F. G., Miedema, F., & Tersmette, M. 1992, "HIV-1 biological phenotype in long-term infected individuals evaluated with an MT-2 cocultivation assay", *AIDS*, vol. 6, pp. 49-54.

Kwong, P. D., Wyatt, R., Robinson, J., Sweet, R. W., Sodroski, J., & Hendricksen, W. A. 1998, "Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralising human antibody", *Nature*, vol. 393, pp. 648-659.

Lapham, C. K., Romanetseva, T., Petricoin, E., King, E., Manischewitz, J., Zaitseva, M. B., & Golding, H. 2002, "CXCR4 heterogeneity in primary cells: possible role of ubiquitination", *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, vol. 72, pp. 1206-1214.

Lathey, J. L., Pratt, R. D., & Spector, S. A. 1997, "Appearance of autologous neutralising antibody correlates with reduction in virus load and phenotype switch during primary infection with human imunodeficiency virus type 1", *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 175, pp. 231-232.

Lawrence, C. E., Jarrett, O., & Callanan, J. J. 1992, "Decreased mitogen responsiveness and elevated tumour necrosis factor production in cats shortly after feline immunodeficiency virus infection", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 35, pp. 51-59.

Lehmann, R., von Beust, B., Niederer, E., Condrau, M. A., Fierz, W., Aubert, A., Ackley, C. D., Cooper, M. D., Tompkins, M. B., & Lutz, H. 1992, "Immunisation-induced decrease of the CD4⁺:CD8⁺ ratio in cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 35, no. 199, p. 214.

Lerner, D. L. & Elder, J. H. 2000, "Expanded host cell tropism and cytopathic properties of feline immunodeficiency virus strain PPR subsequent to passage through interleukin-2-independent T cells", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 74, no. 4, pp. 1854-1863.

Leutenegger, C. M., Borretti, F. S., Mislin, C. N., Flynn, J. N., Schroff, M., Habel, A., Junghans, C., Koenig-Merediz, S. A., Sigrist, B., Aubert, A., Pedersen, N. C., Wittig, B., & Lutz, H. 2000, "Immunisation of cats against feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) infection by using minimalistic immunogenic defined gene expression vector vaccines expressing FIV gp140 alone or with feline interleukin-12 (IL-12), IL-16, or a CpG motif", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 74, no. 22, pp. 10447-10457.

Li, J., Brown, W. C., Song, W., Carpino, M. R., Wolf, A. M., Grant, C. K., Elder, J. H., & Collisson, E. W. 1995, "Retroviral vector-transduced cells expressing the core polyprotein induce feline immunodeficiency virus-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocytes from infected cats", *Virus Research*, vol. 38, pp. 93-109.

Lin, D.-S., Bowman, D. D., Jacobson, R. H., Barr, M. C., Fevereiro, M., Williams, J. R., Noronha, F. M. O., Scott, F. W., & Avery, R. J. 1990, "Suppression of lymphocyte blastogenesis to mitogens in cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 26, pp. 183-189.

Lipman, D. J. & Pearson, W. R. 1988, "Improved tools for biological sequence comparison", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.*, vol. 8, pp. 2444-2448.

Lockridge, K. M., Chien, M., Dean, G. A., Cole, K. S., Montelaro, R. C., Luciw, P. A., & Sparger, E. E. 2000, "Protective immunity against feline immunodeficiency virus induced by inoculation with *vif*-deleted proviral DNA", *Virology*, vol. 273, pp. 67-79.

Lombardi, S., Garzelli, C., la Rosa, C., Zaccaro, L., Specter, S., Mlavaldi, G., Tozzini, F., Esposito, F., & Bendinelli, M. 1993, "Identification of a linear site within the third variable region of the feline immunodeficiency virus envelope", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 67, no. 8, pp. 4742-4749.

Lombardi, S., Garzelli, C., Pistello, M., Massi, C., Matteucci, D., Baldonitti, F., Cammarota, G., Da Prato, L., Bandecchi, P., Tozzini, F., & Bendinelli, M. 1994, "A neutralising antibody-inducing peptide of the V3 domain of feline immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein does not induce protective immunity", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 68, no. 12, pp. 8374-8379.

Lombardi, S., Massi, C., Indino, E., la Rosa, C., Mazzetti, P., Falcone, M. L., Rovero, P., Fissi, A., Pieroni, O., Bandecchi, P., Esposito, F., Tozzini, F., Bendinelli, M., & Garzelli, C. 1996, "Inhibition of feline immunodeficiency virus infection *in vitro* by envelope glycoprotein synthetic peptides", *Virology*, vol. 220, no. 2, pp. 274-284.

Lutz, H., Hofmann-Lehmann, R., Bauerpham, K., Holznagel, E., Tozzini, F., Bendinelli, M., Reubel, G., Aubert, A., Davis, D., Cox, D., & et al. 1995, "FIV vaccine studies. I. Immunological reponse to recombinant FIV env gene products and outcome after challenge", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 46, pp. 103-113.

Ma, Q., Jones, D., Borghesani, P. R., Segal, R. A., Nagasawa, T., Kishimoto, T., Bronson, R. T., & Springer, T. A. 1998, "Impaired B lymphopoiesis, myelopoiesis, and derailed cerebellar neuron migration in CXCR4- and SDF-1-deficient mice", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.*, vol. 95, pp. 9448-9453.

Madigan, M. T., Martinko, J. M., & Parker, J. 2000, "Viruses" in *Brock Biology of Microorganisms*, 9th edn, P. F. Covey & T. Bozik, eds., Prentice-Hall International (UK) Ltd, London, pp. 281-285.

Mandell, C. P., Sparger, E. E., Pedersen, N. C., & Jain, N. C. 1992, "Long-term haematological changes in cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV)", *Comparative haematology International*, vol. 2, pp. 8-17.

Matteucci, D., Pistello, M., Mazzetti, P., Giannechini, S., del Mauro, D., Lonetti, I., Zaccaro, L., Pollera, C., Specter, S., & Bendinelli, M. 1997, "Studies of AIDS vaccination using an *ex vivo* feline immunodeficiency virus model: protection conferred by a fixed-cell vaccine against cell-free and cell-associated challenge differs in duration and is not easily boosted", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 71, no. 11, pp. 8368-8376.

Matteucci, D., Pistello, M., Mazzetti, P., Giannechini, S., Isola, P., Merico, A., Zaccaro, L., Rizzuti, A., & Bendinelli, M. 2000a, "AIDS vaccination studies using feline immunodeficiency virus as a model: immunisation with inactivated whole virus supresses viraemia levels following intravaginal challenge with infected cells but not following intravenous challenge with cell-free virus", *Vaccine*, vol. 18, pp. 119-130.

Matteucci, D., Poli, A., Mazzetti, P., Sozzi, S., Bonci, F., Isola, P., Zaccaro, L., Giannechini, S., Calanrella, M., Pistello, M., Specter, S., & Bendinelli, M. 2000b,

"Immunogenicity of an anti-clade B feline immunodeficiency fixed-cell virus vaccine in field cats", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 74, no. 23, pp. 10911-10919.

Meers, J., Robinson, W. F., del Fierro, G., Scoones, M. A., & Lawson, M. A. 1992, "Feline immunodeficiency virus: quantification in peripheral blood mononuclear cells and isolation from plasma of infected cats", *Archives of Virology*, vol. 127, pp. 233-243.

Miedema, F., Tersmette, M., & van Lier, R. A. W. 1990, "AIDS pathogenesis: a dynamic interaction between HIV and the immune system", *Immunology Today*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 293-297.

Miyazawa, T., Furuya, T., Itigaki, S., Tohya, Y., Takahashi, E., & Mikami, T. 1989, "Establishment of a feline T-lymphoblastoid cell line highly sensitive for replication of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Archives of Virology*, vol. 108, pp. 131-135.

Miyazawa, T., Kawaguchi, Y., Furuya, T., Itagaki, S., & Mikami, T. 1990, "Continuous production of feline immunodeficiency virus in a feline T-lymphoblastoid cell line (MYA-1 cells)", *Japanese Journal of Veterinary Science*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 887-890.

Miyazawa, T., Kawaguchi, Y., Kohmoto, M., Sakuragi, J., Adachi, A., Fukasawa, M., & Mikami, T. 1992, "Production of feline immunodeficiency virus in feline and non-feline non-lymphoid cell lines by transfection of an infectious molecular clone", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 73, pp. 1543-1546.

Miyazawa, T. & Mikami, T. 1993, "Biological nature of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science.*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 519-526.

Moraillon, A., Barré-Sinoussi, F., Parodi, A. L., Moraillon, R., & Dauguet, C. 1992, "In vitro properties and experimental pathogenic effect of three strains of feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) isolated from cats with terminal disease", Veterinary Microbiology, vol. 31, pp. 41-54.

Morikawa, S., Lutz, H., Aubert, A., & Bishop, D. H. 1991, "Identification of conserved and variable regions in the envelope glycoprotein sequences of two FIV viruses isolated in Zurich, Switzerland", *Virus Research*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 53-63.

Murdoch, C. 2000, "CXCR4: chemokine extraordinaire", *Immunological Reviews*, vol. 177, pp. 175-184.

Nishimura, Y., Goto, Y., Yoneda, K., Endo, Y., Mizuno, T., Hamachi, M., Maruyama, H., Kinoshita, H., Koga, S., Komori, M., Fushuku, S., Ushinohama, K., Akuzawa, M., Watari, T., Hasegawa, A., & Tsujomoto, H. 1999, "Interspecies transmission of feline immunodeficiency virus from the domestic cat to the Tsushima cat (*Felis bengalensis euptilura*) in the wild", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 73, no. 9, pp. 7916-7921.

Norimine, J., Miyazawa, T., Kawaguchi, Y., Tomanaga, K., Shin, Y., Toyosaki, T., Kohmoto, M., Niikura, M., Tohya, Y., & Mikami, T. 1993, "Feline CD4 molecules expressed on feline non-lymphoid cell lines are not enough for productive infection of highly lymphotropic feline immunodeficiency isolates", *Archives of Virology*, vol. 130, no. 1-2, pp. 171-178.

Novotney, C., English, R. V., Housman, J., Davidson, M. G., Nassie, M. P., Jeng, C. R., & Tompkins, M. B. 1990, "Lymphocyte population changes in cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus", *AIDS*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 1213-1218.

O'Brien, W., Koyanagi, Y., Namazie, A., Zhao, J.-Q., Diagne, A., Idler, K., Zack, J. A., & Chen, S. Y. 1990, "HIV-1 tropism for mononuclear phagocytes can be determined by regions of gp120 outside the CD4-binding domain", *Nature*, vol. 348, pp. 69-73.

Oberlin, E., Amara, A., Bachelerie, F., Bessia, C., Virelizier, J.-L., Arezana-Seisdedos, F., Schwartz, O., Heard, J.-M., Clark-Lewis, I., Legler, D. F., Loetscher, M., Baggiolini, M., & Moser, B. 1996, "The CXC chemokine SDF-1 is the ligand for LESTR/fusin and prevents infection by T-cell line adapted HIV-1", *Nature*, vol. 382, pp. 833-835.

Odelberg, S. J., Weiss, R. B., Hata, A., & White, R. 1995, "Template-switching during DNA synthesis by Thermus aquaticus DNA polmerase I", *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 2049-2057.

Olmsted, R. A., Barnes, A. K., Yamamoto, J. K., Hirsch, V. M., Purcell, R. H., & Johnson, P. R. 1989a, "Molecular cloning of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.*, vol. 86, pp. 2448-2452.

Olmsted, R. A., Hirsch, V. M., Purcell, R. H., & Johnson, P. R. 1989b, "Nucleotide sequence analysis of feline immunodeficiency virus: genome organisation and relationship to other lentiviruses", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.*, vol. 86, pp. 8088-8092.

Olmsted, R. A., Langley, R., Roelke, M. E., Goeken, R. M., Adger-Johnson, D., Goff, J. P., Albert, J., Packer, C., Laurenson, M. K., Caro, T. M., Schcepers, L., Wildt, D. E., Bush, M., Martenson, J. S., & O'Brien, S. J. 1992, "Worlwide prevalence of lentivirus infection in wild feline species: epidemiologic and phylogenetic aspects", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 66, no. 15, pp. 6008-6018.

Orandle, M. S., Crawford, P. C., Levy, J. K., Udoji, R., Papadi, G. P., Ciccarone, T., Mergia, A., & Johnson, C. M. 2000, "CD8⁺ thymic lymphocytes express reduced levels of CD8 β and increased levels of interferon γ in cats perinatally infected with the JSY3 molecular clone of feline immunodeficiency virus", *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*, vol. 16, pp. 1559-1571.

Pancino, G., Castelot, S., & Sonigo, P. 1995, "Differences in feline immunodeficiency virus host cell ranges correlate with envelope fusogenic properties", *Virology*, vol. 206, pp. 796-806.

Pancino, G., Chappey, C., Saurin, W., & Sonigo, P. 1993a, "B epitopes and selection pressures in feline immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoproteins", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 67, no. 2, pp. 664-672.

Pancino, G., Fossati, I., Chappey, C., Castelot, S., Hurtrel, B., Moraillon, A., Klatzmann, D., & Sonigo, P. 1993b, "Structure and variations of feline immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoproteins", *Virology*, vol. 192, pp. 659-662.

Parodi, A. L., Femenia, F., Moraillon, A., Crespeau, F., & Fontaine, J. J. 1994, "Histopathological changes in lymph nodes of cats experimentally infected with the feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV)", *Journal of Comparative Pathology*, vol. 111, pp. 165-174.

Pecoraro, M. R., Tomanaga, K., Miyazawa, T., Kawaguchi, Y., Sugita, S., Tohya, Y., Kai, C., Etcheverrigaray, M. E., & Mikami, T. 1996, "Genetic diversity of Argentine isolates of feline immunodefiency virus", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 77, pp. 2031-2035.

Pedersen, N. C. 1993, "The Feline Immunodeficiency Virus," in *The Retroviridae*, first cdn, vol. 2 J. A. Levy, ed., Plenum Press, New Yory, pp. 181-228.

Pedersen, N. C., Ho, E. W., Brown, M. L., & Yamamoto, J. K. 1987, "Isolation of a T-lymphotropic virus from domestic cats with an immunodeficiency-like syndrome", *Science*, vol. 235, pp. 790-793.

Phillips, T. R., Lamont, C., Konings, D. A. M., Shacklett, B. L., Hamson, C. A., Luciw, P. A., & Elder, J. H. 1992, "Identification of the Rev transactivation and *rev*-responsive elements of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 66, no. 9, pp. 5464-5471.

Phillips, T. R., Lamont, R. L., Muir, S., Lovelace, K., & Elder, J. H. 1990, "Comparison of two host cell range variants of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 64, no. 10, pp. 4605-4613.

Pistello, M., Cammarota, G., Nicoletti, E., Matteucci, D., Curcio, M., del Mauro, D., & Bendinelli, M. 1997, "Analysis of the genetic diversity and phylogenetic relationship of Italian isolates of feline immunodeficiency virus indicates a high prevalence and heterogeneity of subtype B", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 78, pp. 2247-2257.

Poeschla, E. M., Wong-Staal, F., & Looney, D. J. 1998, "Efficient transduction of nondividing cells by feline immunodeficiency virus lentiviral vectors", *Nature Medicine*, vol. 4, pp. 354-357.

Poli, A., Abramo, F., Baldonitti, F., Pistello, M., Da Prato, L., & Bendinelli, M. 1994, "Malignant lymphoma associated with experimentally induced feline immunodeficiency virus infection", *Journal of Comparative Pathology*, vol. 110, pp. 319-328.

Pu, R., Coleman, M. O., Arai, M., Hohdatsu, T., Huang, C., Tanabe, T., & Yamamoto, J. K. 2001, "Dual-subtype FIV vaccine protects cats against *in vivo* swarms of both homologous and heterologous subtype FIV isolates", *AIDS*, vol. 15, pp. 1225-1237.

Reed, L. J. & Muench, H. 1937, "A simple method of estimating fifty percent endpoints", *The American Journal of Hygiene.*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 493-497.

Reimann, K. A., Watson, A., Dailey, P. J., Lin, W., Lord, C. I., Steenbeke, T. D., Parker, R. A., Axthelm, M. K., & Karlsson, G. B. 1999, "Viral burden and disease progression in Rhesus monkeys infected with chimaeric Simian-Human immunodeficiency viruses", *Virology*, vol. 256, pp. 15-21.

Richardson, J., Moraillon, A., Baud, S., Cuisinier, A. M., Sonigo, P., & Pancino, G. 1997, "Enhancement of feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) infection after vaccination with the FIV envelope", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 71, no. 12, pp. 9640-9649. Richardson, J., Pancino, G., Merat, G., Leste-Lasserre, T., Moraillon, A., Schnieder-Mergener, J., Alizon, M., Sonigo, P., & Hevcker, N. 1999, "Shared usage of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 by primary and laboratory-adapted strains of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. 3661-3671.

Rigby, M. A., Hosie, M. J., Mackay, N., McDonald, M., Cannon, C., Dunsford, T., Jarrett, O., & Neil, J. C. 1997, "Comparative efficiency of feline immunodeficiency virus infection by DNA inoculation", *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 405-412.

Rimmelzwaan, G. F., Siebelink, K. H. J., Broos, H., Drost, G. A., Weijer, K., van Herwijnen, R., & Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. 1994, "gag- and env-specific serum antibodies in cats after natural and experimental infection with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Veterinary Microbiology*, vol. 39, pp. 153-165.

Rizzuto, C. D., Wyatt, R., Hernandez-Ramos, N., Sun, Y., Kwong, P. D., Hendrickson, W. A., & Sodroski, J. 1998, "A conserved HIV gp120 glycoprotein structure involved in chemokine receptor binding", *Science*, vol. 280, pp. 1949-1953.

Roos, M. T. L., Lange, J. M., de Goede, R. E. Y., Coutinho, R., Schellekens, P. T. A., Miedema, F., & Tersmette, M. 1992, "Viral phenotype and immune response in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection", *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 165, pp. 427-432.

Rosenberg, M. P., Hohenhaus, A. E., & Matus, R. E. 1991, "Monoclonal gammopathy and lymphoma in a cat infected with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association*, vol. 27, pp. 335-337.

Rosenblum, B. B., Lee, L. G., Spurgeon, S. L., Khan, S. H., Menchen, S. M., Heiner, C. R., & Chen, S. M. 1997, "New dye-labelled terminators for improved DNA sequencing patterns", *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 25, no. 22, pp. 4500-4504.

Russell, R. R., Bowmer, M. I., Nguyen, C., & Grant, M. D. 2001, "HIV-1 DNA burden in peripheral blood CD4⁺ cells influences disease progression, antiretroviral efficacy, and CD4⁺ T-cell restoration", *Viral Immunolgy*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 379-389.

Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E. F., & Maniatis, T. 1969, in *Molecular Cloning*, 2nd edn, C. Nolan, ed., Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, p. 5.

Sanchez, G., Xu, X., Chermann, J.-C., & Hirsch, I. 1997, "Accumulation of defective viral genomes in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected individuals", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 2233-2240.

Sanger, F., Nicklen, S., & Coulson, A. R. 1977, "DNA sequencing with chain terminator inhibitors", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.*, vol. 74, pp. 5463-5467.

Schellekens, P. T. A., Tersmette, M., Roos, M. T. L., Keet, R. P., de Wolf, F., & Coutinho, R. 1992, "Biphasic rate of CD4⁺ cell decline during progression to AIDS correlates with HIV-1 phenotype", *AIDS*, vol. 6, pp. 665-669.

Schmitz, J. E., Forman, M. A., Lifton, M. A., Concepcion, O., Reimann, K. A., Crumpacker, C. S., Daley, J. F., Gelman, R. S., & Letvin, N. L. 1998, "Expression of the CD8 $\alpha\beta$ -heterodimer on CD8⁺ T lymphocytes in peripheral blood lymphocytes of human immunodeficiency virus⁻ and human immunodeficiency virus⁺ individuals", *Blood*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 198-206.

Schuitemaker, H., Kootstra, N., Dercksen, M. W., Goede, R. E. Y., Steenwijk, R. P., Lange, J. M., Schattenkerk, J. K. M., Miedema, F., & Tersmette, M. 1992, "Biological phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus Type 1 clones at different stages of infection: progression of disease is associated with a shift from monocytoptropic to T-cell tropic virus populations", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 1354-1360.

Shelton, G. H., Grant, C. K., Cotter, S. M., Gardner, M. B., Hardy, W. D., & di Giacomo, R. F. 1990a, "Feline immunodeficiency virus and feline leukaemia virus infections and their relationships to lymphoid malignancies in cats: a retrospective study (1968-1988)", *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, vol. 3, pp. 623-630.

Shelton, G. H., Linenberger, M. L., Grant, C. K., & Abkowitz, J. L. 1990b, "Haematological manifestations of feline immunodeficiency virus infection", *Blood*, vol. 76, no. 6, pp. 1104-1109.

Shimojima, M., Miyazawa, T., Ikeda, Y., McMonagle, E. L., Haining.H, Akashi, H., Takeuchi, Y., Hosie, M. J., & Willett, B. J. 2004, "Utilisation of CD134 as a primary receptor by the feline immunodeficiency virus", *Science*, vol. 303, no. 5661, pp. 1192-1195.

Shimojima, M., Miyazawa, T., Kohmoto, M., Ikeda, Y., Nishimura, Y., Maeda, K., Tohya, Y., & Mikami, T. 1998a, "Expansion of $CD8\alpha\beta^{-}$ cells in cats with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 79, pp. 91-94.

Shimojima, M., Pecoraro, M. R., Maeda, K., Tohya, Y., Miyazawa, T., & Mikami, T. 1998b, "Characterisation of anti-feline CD8 monoclonal antibodies", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 61, pp. 17-23.

Shioda, T., Levy, J. A., & Cheng-Mayer, C. 1991, "Macrophage and T cell-line tropisms of HIV-1 are determined by specific regions of the envelope gp120 gene", *Nature*, vol. 349, pp. 167-169.

Shioda, T., Levy, J. A., & Cheng-Mayer, C. 1992, "Small amino acid change in the V3 hypervariable region of gp120 can affect the T cell line and macrophage tropism of human immunodeficiency virus type 1", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.*, vol. 89, pp. 9434-9438.

Shioda, T., Oka, S., Nokihara, K., Toriyoshi, H., Mori, S., Takebe, Y., Kinura, S., Shimada, K., & Nagai, Y. 1994, "A naturally occuring single basic amino acid substitution in the V3 region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Env protein alters the cellular host range and antigenic structure of the virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 68, no. 12, pp. 7689-7696.

Siebelink, K. H. J., Chu, H., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., Weijer, K., van Herwijnen, R., Knell, P., Egberink, H. F., Bosch, M. L., & Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. 1990, "Feline immunodeficiency

virus (FIV) infection in the cat as a model for HIV infection in man: FIV induced impairment of immune function", *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*, vol. 6, pp. 1373-1378.

Siebelink, K. H. J., Huisman, W., Karlas, J. A., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., Bosch, M. L., & Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. 1995a, "Neutralisation of feline immunodeficiency virus by polyclonal feline antibody: simultaneous involvement of hypervariable regions 4 and 5 of the surface glycoprotein", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 69, no. 8, pp. 5124-5127.

Siebelink, K. H. J., Karlas, J. A., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E., & Bosch, M. L. 1995b, "A determinant of feline immunodeficiency virus involved in Crandell feline kidney cell tropism", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 46, pp. 61-69.

Siebelink, K. H. J., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., Bosch, M. L., & Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. 1993, "A single amino acid substitution in hypervariable region 5 of the envelope protein of feline immnuodeficiency virus allows escape from virus neutralisation", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 67, pp. 2202-2208.

Siebelink, K. H. J., Tijhaar, E., Huisman, R. C., Huisman, W., de Ronde, A., Darby, I. H., Francis, M. J., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., & Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. 1995c, "Enhancement of feline immunodeficiency virus after immunisation with envelope glycoprotein subunit vaccines", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 69, pp. 3704-3711.

Smith, T. F. & Waterman, M. S. 1981, "Comparison of biosequences", Advances in Applied Mathematics, vol. 2, pp. 482-489.

Sodora, D. L., Shpear, E. G., Kitchell, B. E., Dow, S. W., Hoover, E. A., & Mullins, J. I. 1994, "Identification of three feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) *env* gene subtypes and comparison of the FIV and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 evolutionary patterns", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 68, no. 4, pp. 2230-2238.

Song, W., Collisson, E. W., Billingsley, P. M., & Brown, W. C. 1992, "Induction of feline immunodeficiency virus-specific cytolytic T cell responses from experimentally infected cats", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 66, pp. 5409-5417.

Song, W., Collisson, E. W., Li, J., Wolf, A. M., Elder, J. H., Grant, C. K., & Brown, W. C. 1995, "Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes from chronically infected cats are induced *in vitro* by retroviral vector-transduced feline T cells expressing the FIV capsid protein", *Virology*, vol. 209, pp. 390-399.

Sparger, E., Shacklett, B. L., Renshaw-Gegg, L., Barry, P. A., Pedersen, N. C., Elder, J. H., & Luciw, P. A. 1992, "Regulation of gene expression directed by the long terminal repeat of the feline immunodeficiency virus", *Virology*, vol. 187, pp. 165-175.

Spencer, J. A., van Dijk, A. A., Horzinek, M. C., Egberink, H. F., Bengis, R. G., Keet, D. F., Morikawa, S., & Bishop, D. H. L. 1992, "Incidence of feline immunodeficiency virus reactive antibodies in free-ranging lions of the Kruger National Park and the Etosha National Park in southern africa detected by recombinant FIV p24 antigen", *Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research*, vol. 59, pp. 315-322.

Starcich, B. R., Hahn, B. H., Shaw, G. M., McNeeley, P. D., Modrow, S., Wolf, H., Parks, E. S., Parks, W. P., Josephs, S. F., & Gallo, R. C. 1986, "Identification and characterisation

of conserved and variable regions in the envelope gene of HTLVIII/LAV, the retrovirus of AIDS", *Cell*, vol. 45, pp. 637-648.

Stephens, E. B., Monck, E., Reppas, K., & Butfiloski, E. J. 1991, "Processing of the glycoprotein of feline immunodeficiency virus: effect of inhibitors of glycosylation", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 1114-1123.

Stokes, C. R., Finerty, S., Gruffyd-Jones, T. J., Sturgess, C. P., & Harbour, D. A. 1999, "Mucosal infection and vaccination against feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Biotechnology*, vol. 73, pp. 213-221.

Talbott, R. L., Sparger, E. E., Lovelace, K. M., Fitch, W. M., Pedersen, N. C., Luciw, P. A., & Elder, J. H. 1989, "Nucleotide sequence and genomic organisation of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.*, vol. 86, pp. 5743-5747.

Tersmette, M., de Goede, R. E. Y., Bert, J. M. A. L., Winkel, I. N., Gruters, R. A., Cuypers, H. T., Huisman, H. G., & Miedema, F. 1988, "Differential syncytium-inducing capacity of human immunodeficiency virus isolates: frequent detection of syncytium-inducing isolates in patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and AIDS-related complex", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 62, no. 6, pp. 2026-2032.

Tersmette, M., Gruters, R. A., de Wolf, F., de Goede, R. E. Y., Lange, J. M. A., Schellekens, P. T. A., Goudsmit, J., Huisman, H. G., & Miedema, F. 1989a, "Evidence for a role of virulent human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) variants in the pathogenesis of acquired immunodeficiency synydrome: studies on sequential isolates", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 63, pp. 2118-2125.

Tersmette, M., Lange, J. M. A., de Goede, R. E. Y., de Wolf, F., Schattenkerk, J. K. M., Schellekens, P. T. A., Coutinho, R., Huisman, H. G., Goudsmit, J., & Miedema, F. 1989b, "Association between biological properties of human immunodeficiency virus variants and risk for AIDS and AIDS mortality", *Lancet*, vol. i, pp. 983-985.

Tetali, S., Bakshi, S., Than, S., Pahwa, S., Abrams, E., Romano, J., & Pahwa, S. J. 1999, "Plasma virus load evaluation in relation to disease progression in HIV-infected children", *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*, vol. 14, no. 7, pp. 571-577.

Tochikura, T. S., Hayes, K. A., Cheney, C. M., Tanabe-Tochikura, A., Rojko, J. L., Mathes, L. E., & Olsen, R. J. 1990, "*In vitro* replication and cytopathogenicity of the feline immunodeficiency virus in feline T4 thymic lymphoma 3201 cells", *Virology*, vol. 179, no. 1, pp. 492-497.

Tomanaga, K., Normine, J., Shin, Y., Fukasawa, M., Miyazawa, Y., Adacji, A., Toyosaki, T., Kawaguchi, Y., Kai, C., & Mikami, T. 1992, "Identification of a feline immunodeficiency virus gene which is essential for cell-free virus infectivity", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 66, no. 10, pp. 6181-6185.

Torten, M., Franchini, M., Barlough, J. E., George, J. W., Mozes, E., Lutz, H., & Pedersen, N. C. 1991, "Progressive immune dysfunction in cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 65, no. 5, pp. 2225-2230.

Vahlenkamp, T. W., de Ronde, A., Schurmann N.N.M.P., van Vliet, A. L. W., van Drunnen, J., Horzinek, M. C., & Egberink, H. F. 1999, "Envelope gene sequences encoding variable regoins 3 and 4 are involved in macrophage tropism of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 80, no. 10, pp. 2639-2646.

Vahlenkamp, T. W., Verschoor, E. J., Schurmann N.N.M.P., van Vliet, A. L. W., Horzinek, M. C., Egberink, H. F., & de Ronde, A. 1997, "A single amino acid substitution in the transmembrane envelope glycoprotein of feline immunodeficiency virus alters cellular tropism", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 71, no. 9, pp. 7132-7135.

Vandewoude, S., O'Brien, J., & Hoover, E. A. 1997, "Infectivity of lion and puma lentiviruses for domestic cats", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 78, pp. 795-800.

Verschoor, E. J., Boven, L. A., Blaak, H., van Vliet, A. L. W., Horzinek, M. C., & de Ronde, A. 1995, "A single mutation within the V3 envelope neutralisation domain of feline immunodeficiency virus determines its tropism for CrFK cells", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 69, pp. 4752-4757.

Verschoor, E. J., Hulskotte, E. G., Ederveen, J., Koolen, M., Horzinek, M. C., & Rottier, P. J. M. 1993, "Post-translational processing of the feline immunodeficiency virus envelope precursor protein", *Virology*, vol. 193, pp. 433-438.

Vogelstein, B. & Gillespie, D. 1979, "Preparative and analytical purification of DNA from agarose", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.*, vol. 76, pp. 615-619.

Von Gegerfelt, A., Albert, J., Morfeldt Manson, L., Broliden, K., & Fenyö, E. M. 1991, "Isolate-specific neutralising antibodies in patients with progressive IIIV-1 related disease", *Virology*, vol. 185, pp. 162-168.

Walker, C., Canfield, P. J., & Love, D. N. 1994, "Analysis of leucocytes and lymphocyte subsets for different clinical stages of naturally acquired feline immunodeficiency virus infection", *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 44, pp. 1-12.

Walker, C., Canfield, P. J., Love, D. N., & McNeil, D. R. 1996, "A longitudinal study of lymphocyte subsets in a cohort of cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Australian Veterinary Journal*, vol. 73, pp. 218-224.

Waters, A. K., Lerner, D. L., Niel, J. C., Thompson, F. J., & Elder, J. H. 1996, "Influence of ORF2 on host cell tropism of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Virology*, vol. 215, pp. 10-16.

Westervelt, P., Trowbridge, D. B., Epstein, L. G., Blumberg, B. M., Li, Y., Hahn, B. H., Shaw, G. M., Price, R. W., & Ratner, L. 1992, "Macrophage tropism determinants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 *in vivo*", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 2577-2582.

Willett, B. J., Adema, K., Heveker, N., Brelot, A., Picard, L., Alizon, M., Turner, J. D., Hoxie, J. A., Peiper, S. C., Neil, J. C., & Hosie, M. J. 1998, "The second extracellular loop of CXCR4 determines its function as a receptor for feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 72, no. 8, pp. 6475-6481. Willett, B. J. & Hosie, M. J. 1999, "The role of chemokine receptor CXCR4 in infection with feline immunodeficiency virus", *Molecular Membrane Biology*, vol. 16, pp. 67-72.

Willett, B. J., Hosie, M. J., Callanan, J. J., Neil, J. C., & Jarrett, O. 1993, "Infection with feline immunodeficiency virus is followed by the rapid expansion of a CD8⁺ lymphocyte subset", *Immunology*, vol. 78, pp. 1-6.

Willett, B. J., Hosie, M. J., Neil, J. C., Turner, J. D., & Hoxie, J. A. 1997a, "Common mechanism of infection by lentiviruses", *Nature*, vol. 385, p. 587.

Willett, B. J., Hosie, M. J., Shaw, A., & Neil, J. C. 1997b, "Inhibition of feline immunodeficiency virus infection by CD9 antibody operates after virus entry and is independent of virus tropism", *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 78, pp. 611-618.

Willett, B. J., Picard, L., Hosie, M. J., Turner, J. D., Adema, K., & Clapham, P. R. 1997c, "Shared usage of the Chemokine receptor CXCR4 by the feline and human immunodeficiency viruses", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 71, no. 9, pp. 6407-6415.

Yamaguchi-Kabata, Y. & Gojobori, T. 2000, "Re-evaluation of amino acid variability of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 envelope glycoprotein and prediction of new discontinuous epitopes", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 74, no. 9, pp. 4335-4350.

Yamamoto, J. K. 1999, "Feline immunodeficiency virus (Retroviridae)," in *Encyclopedia* of Virology, Second edn, vol. 1 A. Granoff & R. G. Webster, eds., Academic Press Ltd., San Diego, pp. 535-541.

Yamamoto, J. K., Hansen, H., Ho, E. W., Morishita, T. Y., Okuda, T., Sawa, T. R., Nakamura, R. M., & Pedersen, N. C. 1989, "Epidemiologic and clinical aspects of feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats from the continental United States and Canada and possible mode of transmission", *Journal of The Veterinary Medical Association*, vol. 194, no. 2, pp. 213-220.

Yamamoto, J. K., Hohdatsu, T., Olmsted, R. A., Ruiyu, P., Louie, H., Zocklinski, H., Acevedo, V., Johnson, H. M., Soulds, G. A., & Gardner, M. B. 1993, "Experimental vaccine protection against homologous and heterologous strains of feline immunodeficiency virus", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 601-605.

Yamamoto, J. K., Okuda, T., Ackley, C. D., Louie, H., Pembroke, E., Zocklinski, H., Munn, R. J., & Gardener, M. B. 1991, "Experimental vaccine protection against feline immunodeficiency virus", *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*, vol. 7, no. 11, pp. 911-922.

Yamamoto, J. K., Sparger, E., Ho, E. W., Andersen, P. R., O'Connor, T. P., Mandell, C. P., Lowenstine, L., Munn, R., & Pedersen, N. C. 1988, "Pathogenesis of experimentally induced feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats", *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, vol. 49, no. 8, pp. 1246-1258.

Zhang, Y.-J. & Moore, J. P. 1999, "Will multiple coreceptors need to be targeted by inhibitors of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 entry?", *Journal of Virology*, vol. 73, no. 4, pp. 3443-3448.

Zhu, T., Mo, H., Wang, N., Nam, D. S., Cao, Y., Koup, R. A., & Ho, D. D. 1993, "Genotypic and phenotypic characterisation of HIV-1 in patients with primary infection", *Science*, vol. 261, pp. 1179-1181.

Zou, Y. R., Kottman, A. H., Kuroda, M., Taniuchi, I., & Littman, D. R. 1998, "Function of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 in haematopoiesis and in cerebellar development", *Nature*, vol. 393, pp. 595-599.